PARENT COMPANY ACCOUNTS

FOR PRITISH AIRWAYS
ASSOCIATED (CMPANIES HMITLD,
CCMPANY NUMBER 005G 00%2
-Pugt Gl

British Airways Plc

Annual Report and Accounts
Year ended 31 December 2019

Company registration number; 1777777

I

A0S 01/10/2020 #167
COMPANIES HOUSE

b=
<
(]
2]
o
|
I
[t




Contents

Officers and professional advisers

Strategic and Directors' reports
Strategic report
Management review and outlook
Financial review
Principal risks and uncertainties
Section 172 statement
Directors’ report

Diractors’ responsibilities statement in relation to the financial statements

Independent auditor's report

Group financial statements

Group consolidated income statement

Group consolidated statement of ather comprehensive income
Balance sheets

Cash flow statements

Statements of changes in equity

Notes to the financial statements

Subsidiary undertakings and other investments
Operating and financial statistics

Fleet table

Glassary




Officers and professional advisers

Directors
Alex Cruz (Chairman & CEQ)
Alison Reed (Deputy Chairman)

Rebecca Napier (Chief Financial Officer)
Gavin Patterson

Julia Simpsen

Lynne Embleton

Secretary
Andrew Fleming

Registered office
Waterside

PO Box 365
Harmondsworth
UB7 0GB

Parent company

International Consolidated Airlines Group S.A. (1AG")
E! Caserfo, Iberia Zona Industrial n® 2 (La Mufioza)
Camino de La Mufioza, s/n,

28042 Madrid

Spain

Independent auditor
Ernst & Young LLP

{ More Londan Place
Londan

SE1 2AF



Strategic report
The Directors present their strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2019,

British Airways Pkc {British Airways', 'BA’, 'the airline’ or "the Group} is the UK's largest international scheduled airline and one of the
world’s [eading glohal airlines. On 25 August 2019 British Airways celebrated its centenary. The Group's prindpal place of business is
London with significant presence at Heathrow, Gatwick and London City airports. As part of IAG, and together with joint business,
codeshare and franchise partners, British Airways operates one of the most extensive international scheduted airline networks. British
Airways is 2 founding member of the oneworld alliance, whase member airlines serve more than 1,000 destinations in over 150
countries.

During the year the Group operated more than 300 aircraft, carrying about 48 million customers to over 200 destinations across the
world. British Airways employs an average of 42 thousand people across the world.

The strategic report is presented in the following four sections:
»  Management review and outiook;
¢  Financial review;
a  Principal risks and uncertainties; and
«  Section 172 statement,

Management review and outlook

Overview
s  Total revenue: £13,290 million, up 2.5 % (2018: £12,965 million?)
+  Operating profit before exceptional items: £1,921 million, down 1.6 % (2018: £1,952 miillion)
+  Passengers; 47.7 million, up 1.7 % (2018: 46.9 mitlion)
«  Punctuality; 76 % (2018: 76 %)
«  Fuel efficiency (grammes CO;x per passenger kilometre): 86.3 (2018: 7.2}

The Group delivered solid financial results, despite the disruption through the summer caused by industrial action from British Airline
Pilots Association (RALPA) pilots, threatened strikes by Heathrow Airport employees, adverse weather and air traffic controller strikes
in Europe.

Revenue increased 2.5 per cent to £13,290 million. Passenger revenue increased by £335 million, or 2.9 per cent. Available capacity
(ASKs) Increased by 0.9 per cent. Average hedged fuel costs in 2019 were higher than 2018, Group expenditure exduding fuel before
exceptional items increased to £8,132 million (2018; £8,086 million) principally driven by higher handling and catering costs and selling
costs, A focus on cost discipline, the full year effect of the closure of fegacy pension schemes to future accrual and benefits of the
implementation of a major restructuring programme which was completed in 2018 have contributed to a pre-exceptional operating
profit of £1,921 million (2018; £1,952 million) for the year,

British Airways continues to invest in improving customer experience, environmental sustainabifity, cost competitiveness, safe and
refiable operations, capital efficency and employee development.

Investing and innovating where customers vajue jt most

Passenger numbers increased 1.7 per cent ta 47.7 million in 2019, British Airways remains committed to improving customer experience
and in 2018 announced more than £6.5 billion to be invested over a five-year period to achieve this goal. Capital expenditure in 2019
was £1,571 miltion (2018: £1,218 miliion). During 2019, 14 new aircraft (excluding wet leases) were delivered, including four A350s, three
A320neos and seven A321Ineos. Customers continue to respond positively to the newer aircraft models being introduced to the fleet
and the refreshed interiors of the Boeing 777s, The delivery of the A350 aircraft saw the introduction of the new Club World suite. The
suite has direct aisle access, gate-to-gate entertainment, increased storage, connectivity and greater privacy. The Club World suite will
be on all new long-haul aircraft and is being retrofitted to the majority of the existing long-haul fleet by 2025. During the year the Group
placed an order for 18 Boeing 777-9 aircraft, plus 24 options, to replace 14 Boeing 747-400s and four Boeing 777-200s between 2022
and 2025.

In June 2019, IAG, British Airways' parent company signed a letter of intent {LOI) with Boeing for 200 B737 aircraft to join its fleet. The
LOl is subject to formal agreement. The mix of 737-8 and 737-10 aircraft would be delivered between 2023 and 2027 and would be
powered by CFM Leap engines, It is anticipated that the aircraft would be used by a number of the IAG Group airlines including British
Airways at London Gatwick airport.

The alrline continues to enhance on-board customer experience. During 2019, the Group centinued to roll out inflight WiFi across the
fleet, recognising that staying connected in the air is becoming an increasingly important factor to customers and drives passenger
loyalty. The roll out of the new inflight dining experience across alf cabins continued in 2019, Along with cabin improvements, First and
World Traveller Plus recelved enhanced catering in the first half of 2019 with the introduction of more food choices, new First cabin
tableware, new amenity kits and bedding made from recycled plastic bottles, A third meal choice was added In the World Traveller Plus
service. A revamped menu was launched on flights from Gatwick in December 2015.

'Rastated for the presentation of compensation payments for filght delays and cancellations as a deduction against revenus as detailed in nate 36(b)
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British Alrways continues to invest in improving the pre-flight customer experience, The airline has over 30 dedicated British Airways
departure founges and more than 100 additional partner lounges woridwide. New partrier lounges were introduced in Thessaloniki,
Paphos, Heraklion, Dalaman, Olbia, Palermo and Split. In 2015, the zirline unvelled a series of refurbished lounges in Johannesburg, San
Francisco, Milan and Geneva.

British Airways will move to Terminal 8 at John F. Kennedy Airport in 2022 and is investing in the new terminal with American Airlines as
part of a significant reinvestment by the Part Aythority of New York and New Jersey. Changes will include additionat aircraft stands,
enhanced baggage systems, new lounges, premium check-in areas and upgraded concessions. The renovation of the First and Club
lounges at the airline’s existing home at New York JFIK Terminal 7 was completed in 2019,

During September, BALPA industrial action scheduled for the 9th, 10th and 27th due to & dispute over pay led to an initial canceliation
of 4,521 flights over a period of seven days. After the strike on the 27th was called off 2,196 flights were reinstated |eaving 2,325
cancellations. British Airways introduced flexible commaercial policies on 4,070 flights not directly affected by the industrial action. This
enabled customers to re-book flights or receive a refund. British Alrways apologised and enlisted the help of hundreds of colleagues
from around the business to assist the Customer Service team in speedily resolving complaints and meeting compensation obligations,
The dispute was brought to a close in December 2019 when members of BALPA reached a pay agreement with British Airways.

Network development: Expanding customer choice

The Group continues to expand its network, operating a dynamic schedule matched to customer demand. The new generation aircraft
provide range and capacity to open new markets, while improving the performance of existing routes, In 2019, new routes from London
Heathrow were launched to eight destinations including Osaka, Islamabad, Fittsburgh and Charleston. New services from London
Gatwick to Milan Bargamo znd Kos and from London City to Split and Munich were also added. The airline now serves 33 destinations in
North America, the most of any European carrier and continues to explore opportunities with joint business partners, such as American
Airlines, to service common routes that have sufficient demand.

In December 2019, British Airways signed a joint business agreement with China Southern Airlines, for travel from 2 January 2020, The
agreement will benefit customers of both airlines by opening more destinations between the UK and China, with a greater choice of
flights. It will allow the aiflines to cooperate on scheduling and pricing, providing customers with more flexible flight optians.

Oparational performance: Sustainable, safe, reliable and responsible

In 2019 British Airways operated more flights than at any time in the last decade, offering customers more choice. Despite the knock-on
effects of Rolls-Royce Trent 1000 engine issues, operational disruption czused by weather and more crowded airspace in Eurape, 76
per cent (2018: 76 per cent) of flights departed punctually {measured as the percentage of flights departing within 15 minutes of
schedule).

The Group is committed to enhancing and streamlining operations to improve the customer experience through technology, induding
introducing self-service and biometric technology for customers to enable them to board flights more quickly and automatic pushback
vehicles. In 2019 British Airways achieved more than 100,000 aircraft pushbacks through its electric, remote-controlled pushback
vehicles, Mototok tugs. Mototok tugs were intraduced for sharthaul aircraft pushback at Heathrow during 2017, All shorthaul gates at
Terminal 5 are serviced by Mototok tugs. The use of Mototok tugs enables the airline to reduce pushback delays, thereby improving
punctuality. The airline also trialled autonomous baggage vehicles at the airport. Both of these initiatives use emissions-free vehicles to
reduce airside emissions forming part of British Airways' wider environmental commitments and long-term plan toa reduce emissions
from all vehicles at Heathrow. The Mototok vehicles and baggage dollies improve air quality and carbon emissions compared to the
traditional tugs they replace.

The airline also continues to explore the use of artificial intelligence in many areas of its business including within its airside operation at
Heathrow Terminal 5 to help colleagues ensure every flight departs safely and on time. The Group is also trialling 3D printing, to
establish whether this is a viable optian to print non-essential airline parts at airports around the world, thereby helping to reduce the
emissions produced by flying new parts in.

The Group has recognised the IT stability issues and cybersecurity challenges faced, and continues to invest in cybersecurity and cloud-
based services, replacing legacy infrastructure. The Group follows the NIST framewark and the UK government’s bozard advice and
guidance which details how to identify, protect, detect, respond and recover from cybersecurity incidents.

The Group is committed t¢ managing its operations responsibly, British Airways is part of the IAG Modem Slavery Working Group.
which monitors any potential high-risk areas and implements preventative measures. Through IAG, British Airways engages with
suppliers on standards of quality, safety, environmental responsibility and human rights. Supplier audit priority is based on annual
expenditure, factories located in high-risk geographies and the strategic importance of the supplier.

As outlined in the Directors' report on page 20, safety and security is a critical component of the British Airways’ vision. Pilots, cabin
crew and engineers receive safety ang security training. Processes are in place that facifitate an open and transparent safety culture,
encouraging employees to report any safety incidents. The Group continues to invest in technology that makes reporting safety and
security issues easier by facilitating reporting issues from a mabile device or web browser anytime and providing real time data,



Strategic report continued

British Airways’ parent company IAG became the first aifline group worldwide to commit to achieving net zero COz emissions by 2050,
and British Alrways will contribute to this strategic goal. Reducing aviation's environmental impact is a multi-faceted problem that
requires a multi-faceted solution and the airline is implementing a variety of sustainable initiatives to achieve net zerc carbon emissions
by 2050.

British Airways is the first airline in Furope to invest in building a plant with renewable fuels company Velocys, which converts organic
household waste into renewable jet fuel, n 2019, a subsidiary of Velocys submitted 2 planning application to develop the site in
Immingham, North East Lincolnshire. The planned plant will initially produce enough fuel to power all British Airways' 787 Dreamliner
operated flights from London to San Jose, California and New Orleans, Louisiana for a whole year, Additionally, in 2019 the Group set
the BA 2119; Future of Fuels chalienge, posing the question of how to power a long-haul flight for at least five hours and produce zero
CO; emissions. This called on British universities to create new pathways in the development of sustainable aviation fuels,

British Airways’ short-haul fleet was ranked in the top five in Heathrow's ‘Fly Quiet and Green' league table, based on envirohmental
performarce. The airline has been improving its position in the league table because of the investment in new, more fuel-efficient
aircraft, consistent adherence to routes designed to reduce noise for local communities and new landing procedures, optimised to
reduce bath noise and emissions. The league table takes into account emissions per seat, the amount of noise generated by a plane,
aircraft age and emissions standards, Boeing 747s and A319s make up about 25 per cent of the airline’s fleet, The Group is leveraging
the fuet efficiency benefits of new generation aircraft and phasing out the ofder less fuel efficient aircraft. Newer planes such as Boeing
7875 and Airbus 350s are among the most fuel efficient and produce lower noise {evels.

From 2020, British Airways plans to offset carbon emissions for all LIK domestic flights. The airline will invest in verified carbon reduction
projects around the world, These projects which will be quality-assured include renewable energy, protection of rainforests and
reforestation programmes. The airiine operates up to 75 flights a day between London and 10 UK cities, including Manchester, Leeds,
Newcastle, Isle of Man, Edinburgh, Glasgow, Aberdeen, Belfast City, Inverness and jersey.

For European and long-haul Fights, passengers can reduce their impact on the environment by using the new British Airways carbon
offsetting tool, The carbon tool enables customers to calculate their emissions and then invest in carbon reduction projects including
forestry and renewable energy projects in Peru, Sudan and Cambodia. In addition, from 2021, British Airways' carbon emissions on
international flights will be capped under the Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation (CORSIA), a worldwide
carbon pricing scheme.

People and communities

Employees are vital to the sustainable success of British Airways. Throughout the centenary year the airline has celebrated people who
represent the values of the airdine of being safe and secure always, passionate about service, confident and trusted advocates of British
Airways. A significant highlight of the centenary celebrations was the visit from Her Majesty the GQueen in May 2019, Hundreds of
employees were invited to the airline’s headquarters to enjoy this experience.

Significant progress has been made in 2019 to define and deliver the British Airways People Strategy. Focused around three pillars of
Transform, Build and Engage, the strategy aims to develop a culture of service that delivers the new BA vision, purpose and
commitmants to "Connect Britain with the World". In addition, "Passionate about Service” training has been delivered 1o custemer facing
colleagues and linked into the roll out of first contact resolution in airports. This will continue in 2020 and beyond so that the unique
British Airways service is cansistently in place across customer facing colleagues and those who suppaort them.

British Airways was awarded Best Airline Staff in Europe by Skytrax World Airline Awards in 2019. Cabin crew and airport colleagues
were praised for their friendly welcome. The airfine also won awards for Most Improved Airine in Europe, Best Airfine Staff in the United
Kingdom and Best Cabin Crew in the United Kingdom.,

To enable front line employees to better respond to customer requirements a First Contact Resolution programme was launched at
Heathrow in 2018, During 2019, the programme has been embedded into Heathrow operaticns. The roll out to the airports at which the
airline operates around the world will continue in 2020. First Contact Resolution empowers airport colleagues to use their expertise,
initiative and judgement to solve customer queries on the spot This allows them to provide instant solutions and peace of mind for
customers and send fewer issues to the remote Customer Relations teams.

The value of positive working refationships and engagement of colfeagues is recognised by both British Airways and tha unions,
Following the industrial action in 2019 both British Airways and BALPA have committed to work collaboratively in order to re-build
effective working relationships, both industrially and across the pilot community.

Pensions

in Qctober 2019 British Alrways reached agreement with the Trustee of its New Airways Pension Scheme (NAPS) on the scheme's
regular triennial valuation. The valuation is based on the scheme's funding position as at 31 March 2018 and reflects the closure of the
scheme to future accrual on that date, Refer to note 30 on page 82 for further details.
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In April 2019, the Trustee Directors of the Airways Pension Scheme (APS) unanimously agreed with British Airways terms for an out-of-
court settlement regarding the inflation measure to be applied for pension increases. On 11 Navember 2019 the High Court appraved
the settlernent agreement. This brought to an end the litigation that commenced in 2013 and which was otherwise due to proceed to
appeal at the Supreme Court. Refer ta note 30 on page 83 for further details,

Government affairs

The airline sector is among the most heavily regulated industries jn the world and British Airways together with JAG continues to
monitor the development of national, regional and globally applied regulatory developments including the implementation of
environmental regulations,

Brexit

The vpdated Withdrawal Agreement between the UK and the EU, reached in September, was ratified by both the UK Parliament
(following the Conservative Party victory in the Geperal Election in December) and by the European Parliament in January 2020,
Accordingly, the UK left the EU on 31 january 2020 and entered a transition period that preservas the averall status quo unti] the end of
December 2020. There is, therefore, no change to the status of air services between the EU and the UK until the end of the transition
pericd. Attention now turns towards a future air services agreement to be put in place between the UK and EU relationship, including on
air services and which will take place from March 2020.

During 201$ IAG continued to engage with regulaters and policy makers to ensure that the needs of customers after Brexit are
understoad and in particular that policymakers recognise the impartance of uninterrupted air services between the EU and the UK. This
importance was reflected in the preparations for a potential “no-deal” scenaric when both sides put in place separate plans to allow
flights to continue and the way the preparations were made — the EU passed two Regulations, one on connectivity and one on aviation
safety, with unprecedented speed — and both sides also activated procedures to the necessary operating permits. The nature and

" rapidity of these processes give the Group confidence that, should the anticipated EU-UK air services agreement not be ready by the

end of the transition pericd, similar contingency plans would be put in place. in 2019 all tha relevant national authorities (Austria, France,
Ireland and Spainj confirmed that IAG’s individual airlines complied with the refevant £U ownership rufes if the refevant remediai pfans
are implemented. BA's assessment remains that, even in the event of no-deal after the transition periad, Brexit will have no significant
fong-term impact on its business,

Non-financiaf information statement
Pursiant to Companies Act 2006 s.414CA (7), British Airways is not required to include a non-financial information statement as a

consolidated management report containing non-financial information has been included in IAG's Annual Repuit and Accounts for the
year ended 31 December 2019,
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Financial review

The financial review provides a summary of the Group's financial results for the year ended 31 December 2019, The Group has adopted
the new accounting standard IFRS 16 'Leases’ from 1 January 2019, and has used the modified retrospective transition approach,
therefore the prior year comparatives have not been restated for IFRS 16. The results for 2018 have been restated for the presentation
of compensation payments for Fight delays and cancellations as a deduction against revenue following the clarification issued by the
Interpretations Committee in September 2019 as detailed in note 36 (b).

Summary financial performance

£ million 2019 Rest:t?:ds' Better/{worse)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Total revenue 13,290 12965 2.5%
Total expenditure on operations before exceptional items (11,369) (11,013) (3.2%)
Operating profit before exceptional items 1,921 1,952 {1.6%)
Exceptional items (583) 394 nm
Operating profit after exceptional items 1,338 2,345 {43.0%)
Non-operating items ‘ 121 1o nm
Prafit before tax 1,459 2,456 (40.6%)
Tax (350) (365) 4.1%
Profit after tax 1,109 2,091 {47.0%)
2019 Restf::'da' Better/(worse)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Available seat kilometres (ASK) {m} 186,170 184,547 0.9%
Revenue passenger kiltometres (RPK) (m) 155,580 132,177 22%
Passenger load factor (%) 836 825 11%
Passenger revenue per ASK (p)' 6.39 6.27 20%
Passenger revenue per RPK (p)' 765 760 0.6%
Non-fuel costs per ASK at canstant currency* (p)’ 4.35 440 11%

! Restated for the presentation of compensation payments for flight delays and canceliations as a deduction against revenue
*Stated before exceptional ltems
nm = not meaningful; m = millions; p = pence

Revenue

£ million 2018 Rest::::' Better/(worse)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Passenger revenue 14,899 11,564 29%
Cargo revenue m 769 {7.5%)
Total traffic revenue 12,610 12,333 2.2%
Other revenue 680 632 7.6%
Total revenue 13,290 12,965 2.5%

1 Restated for the presentation of compensation payments for flight delays and cancellations as a deduction against revenue

Total revenue for the year was £13,290 million, up £325 million or 25 per cent compared to the previous year, despite ongoing
competitive pressures and reduced capacity due to Trent engine issues. Passenger revenue increased by £335 million, or 2.9 per cent.
Available capacity {ASKSs) increased by 0.9 per cent, mainly a result of the seat densification programme. In addition, the number of
passengers carried increased 1.7 per cent to 47.7 million. The increase in revenue was driven by an improvement in load factors which
saw passenger revenue per ASK increase by 2.0 per cent and also aided by the US dollar strengthening against Sterling during 2019. The
Group's revenues depend on discretionary spending which is reliant on the strength of the global economy. The passenger revenue
result has been impacted by the effect of the strike action by BALPA pilots.
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Revenue continued
A Global downturn in the cargo industry has resulted in a 7.5 per cent reduction in cargo revenue. The increase in other revenue by 76

per cent includes higher BA Holidays revenue following continued promoticnal activity.

QOperating costs

£ million 2019 Rest:tO::' Better/(worse)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Employee costs 2529 2535 0.2%
Depreciation, amaortisation and impairment 1,106 786 (40.7%)
Aircraft operating lease costs - 233 100.0%
Fuel, oil costs and amission charges 3237 2,927 (10.6%)
Engineering and other aircraft costs 15 719 0.6%
Landing fees and en route charges 919 927 0.9%
Handling, catering and other operating costs 1,878 1,734 (8.3%)
Selling costs ’ 516 509 (1.4%)
Currency differences 9 44 nm
Property, IT and other costs 478 599 202%
Tatal Group expenditure on aperations bafore exceptional items 11,369 11,013 {3.2%)
Total Group expenditure excluding fuel befare exceptional items 8,132 8,086 (0.6%)

of p ger EC261 tlon costs in as datalled In nota 2

¢ Prior year restatemant relates to tha p

Fuel costs increased by £310 million, or 10.6 per cent, to £3,237 million compared to £2,927 million in the prior year. Average
commodity fuel prices for the twelve months were {ower than in the same period last year, an average of $687 per metric ton in 2018 to
$628 per metric ton in 2019, However, effective fuel prices were higher than in 2018, due to the average price of the hedges being
higher in 2019 compared to 2018, The strengthening of the US dollar also contributed to higher prices in Sterling. British Airways
continues to benefit from the performance of next generation aircraft which are more fuel efficient

The Group's focus on cost discipline, the benefits from the recent major restructuring programme, replacement of the NAPS and BARP
post-employment benefit plans with a market-competitive flexible defined contribution scheme from 31 March 2018, and the decision
not to pay bonuses to employees following the industrial action which had a significant impact on customers, resulted in a reduction in
employee costs despite pay increases. The average number of employees has remained relatively constant, decreasing by only 0.1 per
cent as shown in note 8,

Depreciation costs increased by £320 million or 40.7 per cent and this was partially offset by a decrease in aircraft operating lease costs
of £233 million as a result of the adoption of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ from 1 January 2019. The decrease in property, IT and other costs was
driven by the removal of property leasing costs following the implementation of IFRS 16 'Leases’. This reduction was partially offset by
the Group's continued investment in its IT infrastructure. In 2018, leasing payments on property were recorded as a property operating
expense. The financial reporting impact of IFRS 16 *Leases’ is detailed in note 36.

Engineering and other aircraft costs decreased 06 per cent despite adverse foreign exchange effects. Compensation for Rolls-Royce
Trent 1000 engine issues has offset increased wet leasing costs to compensate for the associated reduced capacity, The decrease in
engineering costs is also due to lower contractual price rises following contract negotiations during 2019, Selling costs increased in line
with the increase in revenue and adverse effect of foreign exchange over the twelve month period.

Handling, catering and other operating costs rose 8.3 per cent. The increase includes 2.8 per cent due to higher volumes from BA
Holidays, 1.0 per cent due to additional investment in improving the in-flight catering and service delivery and at lounges, 1.4 per cent
from disruption costs related to the BALPA pilot strike and 2.0 per cent from growth in passenger numbers as well as adverse exchange
rates,

Exceptional items

The exceptional expense of E583 million related to the APS settlement agreement. This was a non-cash past service cost arising from
the increase in the IAS 19 defined benefit obligation of APS fallowing the settlement agreement between the Trustee Directors of the
Airways Penslon Scheme and British Airways, which was approved by the High Court in November 2019. The higher pensions in
payment growth assumptions following the settlement agreement resulted in a non-cash increase to the 1AS 19 defined benefit liability.
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Exceptional items continved

In 2018, the exceptional gain of £394 miilion included the one-off reduction of the NAPS IAS 19 defined benefit liability of £770 miilion
following the closure of NAPS to future accrual in March 2018, This was offset by other cash costs of £172 million linked to the closure
of the NAPS and BARP schemes. The remaining 2018 exceptional cost related to the transformation programme, £421 miilion as detailed
in note 5 and an £83 million cost of equalising for the effects of Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (GMP), as detailed in note 5 and note
30,

Non-operating items

Non-operating items increased by £11 million to a credit of £121 million. The year on year increase includes a £101 milfion net credit from
the retranslation of long term borrowings, including IFRS 16 lease liabilities and associated hedging instruments. This was offset by an
increase in finance costs of £103 million primarily due to the additionat finance charge on lease liabilities following the implementation of
IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019, Further information on the effect of adopting IFRS 16 'Leases’ is detailed in note 36. The share of the
Group’s post tax profits in assaciates, accounted for using the equity method, increased by £5 million to £170 million.

Taxation

The tax charge on continuing operations for 2019 was £350 million (2018: £365 million), with no tax charge (2018: £28 million credit)
relating to exceptional jtems. The Group profit before tax was £1,459 million (2018: £2,456 million) including a £170 million (2018: £165
million) post-tax share of associate’s profits. After adjusting for this item the Group's effective tax rate was 18.7 per cent {2018: 159 per
cent), compared to the UK corporation tax rate of 19.0 per cent (2018: 19.0 per cent).

During the year, the net deferred tax liability increased by £88 million to £423 million, driven primarily by the decrease in the fair value
losses recognised on cash flow hedges.

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure in the year amounted to £1,571 million (2018; £1,218 million). This included £1,354 million {2018: £989 million) of
fleet-related expendityre {aircraft, aircraft progress payments, spares, modifications and refurbishments). During the year the Group took
delivery of three Airbus A320neos, seven Airbus A321neos and four Airbus A350-1000s.

Liquidity

The Group's liquidity position remains strong with £2.6 billion of cash, cash equivalents and other interest-bearing deposits (2018: £2.5
billion). At the end of the year, net debt excluding the effect of the adoption of IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019 was £1.6 billion (2018: £1.9
billion).

In addition, the Group had undrawn long-term committed aircraft financing facilities totalling £0.5 billion (2018: £0.9 billion) and further
committed general facilities of £1.0 billion {2018: £0.8 billion).

During the year, British Airways successfully launched a $806 million Enhanced Equipment Trust Certificates (EETC) bond issue to fund
aircraft deliveries, The bonds are combined with Japanese Operating Leases with Call Options of $314 million, bringing the total raised to
$1,120 million. The transaction includes Class AA certificates with an annual coupon of 3.30 per cent and maturity of 13.4 years and Class
A Certificates with an annual coupeon of 3.35 per cent and a maturity of 9.9 years, supported by a collateral pool of Airbus A320 NEO
and Airbus A350-1000 aircraft.

Pensions

The Group operates two significant defined benefit pension schemes, the Airways Pension Scheme {APS) and the New Airways Pension
Scheme (NAPS), both of which are in the UK and are closed to new members, British Airways closed NAPS to future accrual from 31
March 2018. The main defined contribution scheme is the British Airways Pension Plan (BAPF).

In April 2019, the Trustee Directors of the Airways Pension Scheme (APS) unanimously agreed with British Airways terms for an out-
of-court settlement as detailed in note 30 on page 83. On 11 November 2015 the High Court approved the settlement agreement.
This brought to an end the litigation that commeniced in 2013 and which was atherwise due ta proceed to appeal at the Supreme
Court. Linder the terms of the proposed settlement, the Trustee of APS will be permitted, subject to some affordability tests, to award
discretionary increases so that APS pensions are increased up to the annual change in the Retall Prices Index (RPI) from 2021 with
interim catch-up increases tending towards RP| prior to 2021, British Airways will cease paying further deficit recovery contributions,
including cash sweep payments. British Airways has provided a £40 million indemnity, payable in full or part as appropriate following
the triennial valuatian of the scheme as at 31 March 2027 if that valuation shows that the scheme Is not able to pay pension increases
at RPI for the remaining life of the scheme.
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Pensions continued

The valuation of NAPS based on the scheme's funding position as at 31 March 2018 was agreed with the Trustee in October 2019, The
main terms of the agreement were a technical deficit of £2.4 billion compared to £2.8 bilion at 31 March 2015, which was the basis for
the previous deficit recovery pian. British Airways will make fixed deficit contributions of £450 miflion per year until March 2023 from
April 2020 compared with the previous arrangement of £300 million per year fixed deficit contributions and up to £150 million per year
variable contributions (‘'cash sweep') based on British Alrways' cash position. The fixed deficit contributions will be made until March
2023 compared with March 2027 under the previous recovery plan.

Consistent with the previous arrangements, following the approval of the APS settlement agreement British Airways paid a one-off
contingency payment of £250 million in 2019 to NAPS. A new overpayment protection mechanism has been agreed, whereby deficit
contributions would be suspended if the technical deficit is removed. British Airways has increased its flexibility to make dividend
paymants to IAG of up to 50 per cent of pre-exceptional profit after tax compared to 35 per cent of post-exceptional profit after tax
previously. British Airways can pay a higher dividend than 50 per cent of pre-exceptional profit after tax in return for an agreed
mechanism to either accelerate contributions to the scheme or provide a guarantee,



Strategic report continued

Principal risks and uncertainties

The highly regulated and commercially competitive environment, together with the businesses’ operational complexity, exposeas the
Group to a number of risks. The Group remains focused on mitigating these risks at all levels in the business although many remain
outside our control, for example, changes in the political and economic environment, government regulation, external events causing
operational disruption, fuel price and forelgn exchange volatility and changes in the competitive landscape. The risks and uncertainties
described below are the ones that are expected to have the most significant impact on the Group. The Group carries out detailed risk
management reviews under the 1AG risk management framework. Risks are maintained in a risk heatmap, which is reviewed semi-
annually by the BA Board, As part of the risk management framework, potential emerging risks and longer term threats are considered
to identify new trends, regulations or business disruptors that could impact our business strategy and plans. These emerging risks are
monitored within the overall risk framework until they are re-assessed to be no longer a potential threat to the business or where an
assessment of the risk impact can be made, and apprapriate mitigations can be put In place. The list presented is not intended to be

exhaustive,

Strategic

Risk description

[ Mitigation

Airports, infrastructure and critical third parties

BA is dependent on the timely entry of new aircraft and the
engine performance of the aircraft to improve operational
efficiency and resilience and support the delivery of the
sustainability programme.,

BA is dependent on the timely, on budget delivery of
infrastructure changes particularly at key airports.

BA is dependent on resilience within the operations of the Air
Traffic Control {ATC) services to ensure that its flight operations
are delivered as scheduled,

BA is dependent on the performance and cost of critical third
party suppliers that provide services to customers such as airport
operators, border control and caterers.

The Group mitigates engine and fleet performance risks to
the extent possible by working closely with the engine and
fleet manufacturers, as well as retaining flexibility with existing
aircraft return requirements.

The Group engages in regulatory reviews of supplier pricing, such
as the UK Civil Aviation Authority's periodic review of charges at
London Heathrow and London Gatwick airports. BA is therefore
particularly sensitive to Heathrow and Gatwick charges and how
infrastructure developments are prioritised at these airports,

London Heathrow has no spare runway capacity. In October 2016,
the UK government confirmmed a third runway expansion proposal
at Heathrow and IAG continues to promote an efficient, cost
effective, ready to use and fit for purpose third runway solution.

The Group participates in the stot trading market, including at
London airports.

IAG is active at an EU policy level and in consuliations with
airports covered by the ELI Airpart Changes Directive.

Brand reputation

There js active supplier management including contingency plans.

BA's brand has significant commaercial value. Erosion of the brand,
through either a single event or series of events, may adversely
impact the Group's leadership position with customers and could
ultimately affect future revenue and profitability.

If the airline is unable to meet the expectations of customers and
does not engage effectively to maintain their emotional
attachment to the brand, then the brand will be eroded and
market share lost.

Brand initiatives have been identified and are aligned to the
Strategic Business Plan. The Group continues to deliver the
customer investment programme of more than £6.5 billion
announced in 2018 to enhance the customer experience and
support the brand proposition as detailed in the strategic report
onpages 2 to 5.

The Group continues to track and report internally on Net
FPromoter Score (NPS) to measura customer satisfaction.

The Group launched new functionality on bacom to help
customers when their journeys are disrupted. Customer
engagement through disruption and recovery processes have been
a key area of focus for management, particularly the speed with
which complaints are deaft with. Additional resource has been
dedicated to reducing the number of outstanding complaints to
record low lavels,

The Group's strategic business plans focus on the allocation of
resources to safety, operational integrity and new aircraft to
maintain brand leadership position,

The Group's global layalty strategy builds and maintains customer
loyalty.
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Strategic report continued

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Strategic continued

Risk Description

| Mitigation

Compatition, consolidation and government regulation

BA operates in highly competitive markets, Compatitor capacity
growth in excess of demand growth could materially impact
margins. Any failure of a joint business or a joint business partner
could adversely affect business operations and financial
performance.

Regulation of the airline industry covers many of the Group's
activities including route flying rights, airport landing rights,
departure taxes, security and environmental controls, Excessive
taxes or increases in regulation may impact operational and
financial performance. The ability to comply with and influence
changes to regulations is key to maintaining operational and
financial performance.

The Group has strong glabal market pasitioning, leadership in
strategic markets, alilances and a diverse customer base,

The Management Committee regularly reviews the commercial
performance of joint business agreements,

The airlines revenue management departments and systems
optimise market share and vyield through pricing and inventory
manageiment activity.

The Group maintains rigorous cost control and targeted
investment to remain competitive.

The Group has the fexibility to react to market opportunities
arising from competitors, leading to opportunities to capture
market share and expand the Group.

The Group has fleet flexibility to allow capacity to be deployed as
needed.

|AG's government affairs department monitors government
initatives, represents the Group's interest and forecasts likely
changes to laws and regulations.

Digital distuption

Technology disruptors may use tools to position themselves
between the airline’s brands and its customers,

The Group continues to develop platforms such as the New
Distribution Capability, changing distribution arrangements and
moving frorn indirect to direct channels.

As part of IAG, BA benefits from the Hangar 51 programme which
continues to create early engagement and leverages hew
opportunities with start-ups and technology disruptors.

Sustainable aviation

Increasing globat concern about climate change and the impact of
carbon affect parformance as customers seek alternative methods
of transport or reduce their levels of travel.

New taxes and increasing price of carbon costs impact on demand
for air travel. Customers may choose to reduce the amount they
fly.

IAG has announced a Ciimate Change strategy to meet target of
net zero carbon emissions by 2050 and is implementing plans to
meet this goal as detailed in the strategic report on pages 2 to 5
including investment in sustainable fuels and participation in
CORSIA.

From 1 January 2020 BA has implemented a carbon offsetting
scheme as detailed on page 4 of the strategic report.

The Group is exploring the use of sustainable fuels to pawer
aircraft as detaited on page 4 of the strategic report.

As outlined in the strategic report on page 4, the Group's fleet
replacement plan introduces more carbon efficient alrcraft into
the fleet.

The Group continues to support and influence effective market-
based policy measures, directly and through industry collaboration
such as the UK Sustainable Aviation Group and Airines for
Furope.

1




Strategic report continued

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Business and operational

Risk Description

| Mitigations

Cyberattack and data security

The Group could face financial loss, disruption or damage to brand
reputation arising from an attack on the Group's systems by
criminals, foreign governments or hacktivists.

If the Group does not adequately protect customer and employee
data, it could breach regulation and face penalties and loss of
Customer trust.

The fast moving nature of this risk means that the Group will
always retain a level of vulnerability.

In relation to the theft of customer data in 2018, on 4 July 2019,
the UK Information Commissioner's Office (ICO) notified British
Ajirways that it proposed to impose a penalty. British Airways
continues to make representations and as at the date of this
report, the ICO had not issued a final penalty notice. See note 3t
of financial statements.

IAG has a Cyber Strategy that drives investment and operational
planning that is approved by the |IAG Board.

There is oversight of critical systems and suppliers to ensure that
the Group understands the data it holds, that it is secure and
regulations are adhered to.

A cyber risk management framework reviews the risk across the
business and the Cyber Governance Board assesses the portfolio
of cyber projects.

Threat Intelligence is used to analyse cyber risks to the Group.
BA has a Data Protection Officer in place.

BA is subject to the requirements of the National Information
Security Directive (NISD).

Event causing significant network disruption

An event causing significant network disruption may result in lost
revenue and additional costs if customers or employees are
unable to travel.

The Group has business continuity plans to mitigate this risk to the
extent feasible although many remain outside of the Group's
control e.g. war; civil unrest; terrorism; adverse weather conditions
or pandemic.

Response plans to minimise the impact of ATC airspace
restrictions and strike action on the Group's customers and
operations are in place,

The Group manages flight operations in such a way as to maintain
resilience of the network schedule.

IT systems and IT infrastructure

The failure of a critical system may cause significant disruption to
the operation and lost revenue.

IAG Tech works with the Group to deliver digital and IT change
initiatives to enhance security and stability.

The BA IT Board reviews delivery timelines for T systems and
infrastructure provided by IAG Tech to the Group.

Reversion plans are developed for migrations on critical IT
infrastructure,

System controls, disaster recovery and business continuity
arrangements exist 1o mitigate the risk of a critical system failure.

Safety and security incident

The safety and security of customers and emmployees are
fundamental values for BA. A failure to prevent or respond
effectively to a major safety or security incident may adversely
{mpact the Group's brand, operations and financial performance.

The Board's Safety Review Committee satisfies itself that the
Group has the appropriate resources and procedures which
include compliance with Air Operator Certificate requirements.

The Crisis Management Centre responds in a structured way in the
event of a safety or security incident. Employees and key third
parties take part in crisis management exercises,

The Group has a2 Safety Board that meets regularty, ensuring
lessons from incidents are fed into daity aperations and operations
are structured around the safety palicies of the Group.




Strategic report continued

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Business and operatlonal continued

Risk Description

[ Mitigations

People, culture and employee relations

Any breakdowns in the bargaining process with the unionised
workforces may result in subsequent strike action which may
disrupt operations and adversely affect business performance

Employees are vital to the sustainable success of BA, The Group
may fail to attract, motivate or develop employees to deliver
service and brand excellence,

Coliective bargaining takes place on a regular basis led by human
resources specialists with a strong skillset in industrial relations.

As described on page 22 of the Directors’ report, the BA people
strategy focuses around the pillars to develop a culture of service
that delivers the new BA vision to “Connect Britain with the
World".

Management and leadership development, talent strategy and
facus on how we can create a talent pipeline of future leaders and
emerging talent, attract more wornen and those from more
socially diverse backgrounds into flying and engineering. This
includes our Flying Futures, apprenticeship and work experience
programmaes,

BA and BALPA have put in place a new working group to focus on
both ways of working and the delivery of a 'Pilot Charter. The
Company is also rolling out a direct engagement programime with
pilots,

A 360 degree feedback programme through pulse surveys is in
place. The results of these surveys are used to define action plans
targeted to address those issues most important to our colleagues.

Extensive work has been done to deliver a broad diversity and
inclusion strategy. BA has signed the Time to Change Pledge and
launched "Unmind” a mobile tool to provide personal support for
thase experiencing mental health challenges.

Political and economic enviranment

Deterioration in either a domestic market or the global economy
may have a material impact on the Group's financial position, while
foreign exchange and interest rate movements create volatility.

Uncertainty or failure to plan and respond to economic change or
downturn impacts the operations of the Group, including Brexit.

The BA Board and Management Committee reviews the financial
outlook and business performance of the Group through the
financial planning process and regular reforecasts.

Reviews are used to drive the Group's financial performance
through the management of capacity, together with the
management of cost control, including management of capital
expenditure,

External aconomic outlock, fuel prices and exchange rates are
carefully considered when developing strategy and plans and are
regularly reviewed as part of the business performance monitoring.

IAG has an established Brexit Working Group which includes BA,
to understand, plan and mitigate risk that could impact operations,
including mechanisms to permit flights between the UK and the
EU and recognition of each other's safety certification, approvais
and security regimes.

Financial

Dabt funding

The Group carries debt and needs to finance ongoing operations,
committed aircraft orders and future fleet growth plans.

The Group's activities to mitigate debt funding risks are detailed in
Note 25 Financial risk management objectives and policies on
age 68,




Strategic report continued

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Financial continued

Risk Description

| Mitigations

Financial risk

The Group’s financial position and performance is affected by
volatility in the price of oil and petroleum products and fareign
exchange risk on revenue, purchases and borrowings or currency
devaluation risk of cash held in foreign currencies,

As detailed in Nate 25 Financial risk management olyjectives and
policies on page 68 fuel price currency risk is partially hedged with
over the counter derivatives in line with the IAG hedging policy
with IAG Group Treasury oversight.

BA's commercial policy is to review routes when there are delays
in the repattiation of cash as well as the risk of devaluation.

Penslons

The Group has two significant employer funded defined benefit
schemas, APS and NAPS. Negative movements in pension asset
values and financial returns from these assets may adversely affect
the funding level of the scheme. The Group is exposed to the risks
of operating underfunded defined benefit schemes. The deficit in
NAPS is also highly sensitive to small changes in bond yields.

Management regularly reviews the funding status of the pension
schemes and is in regular dialogue with the schemes’ Trustees on
funding and investment decisions. As outlined in the strategic
report on page 5, the Group reached agreement on the technical
valuations of APS and NAPS in 2015.

Noncompliance with key regulation and laws

The Group is exposed to the risk of individual employees' or
groups of employees’ inappropriate and/or unethical behaviour
resulting in reputational damage, fines or losses to the Group.

The Group has clear frameworks in place including comprehensive
policies designed to ensure compliance,

There are mandatory training programmes in place to educate
employees in these matters,

Compliance professionals specialising in competition law and anti-
bribery legislation support and advise the business.

IAG has a Code of Conduct framework and training that BA
follows.

A Dazta Protection Officer is in place.
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Strategic report continued

Section 172 statement

During 2019, the Board and designated subcommittees acted in a way, they consider, in good faith, would most likely promote the
success of British Airways for the benefit of its members as a whole based on information available to them at the time. The following
disclosure describes how the Directors have had regard to the matters set out in section 172(1) (a} to (f) and forms the Directors’
statement required under section 414CZA of the Companies Act 2006.

matters to them?

Customers
why it is Important to | If the airline is unable to meet the expectations of customers and does not engage effectively to maintain their
engage and what | emotional attachment to the brand, then the brand will be eroded and market share lost,

British Airways provides a loyalty scheme to customers through the acquisition of points from Avios Group
{AGL) Limited which are then issued to Executive Club members as part of the ticket, Customers value the Tier
benefits assaciated with the loyalty scheme, for example access to lounges and the ease of redeeming the
points.

Customers continue to value safety, reliabifity, value for money and a seamless and unique customer
experience throughout their journey from booking to arrival at their destination. There is a growing trend in
ethical and sustainability concerns being a factor in consumer choices.

How management
and/or Directors
engaged and what
was the impact of the

The Board and Management Committee receive regular updates regarding customer relationships,
development and engagement, including results of customer feedback surveys, net promoter score and
complaints data, Investment in refining and Improving customer experience is a key consideration of the
Group's strategy. Financial plans reviewed by the Management Committes and approved by the Board include

matters to them?

engagement? spend and income directly related to the Executive Club loyalty scheme including making the programme mare
flexible and giving more choice to customers.
The airline remains committed to improving customer experience and announced in 2018 an investment
programme of more than £6.5 billion over a five-year period te achieve this goal.
The strategic report on pages 2 to 5 describes the investment in customer experience that the Group has
continued to dejiver during 2018,
During 2019 the Group launched improvements to the service provided to customers with hidden or visible
disabifities including the launch of a dedicated customer care team to assist more than half a miilian travellers
with additional needs who fly with the airline each year.

Suppliers

Why it is important to | The Group's suppliers are fundamental to ensuring that the airline meets the high standards of conduct that

engage and what | customers and other key stakeholders expect. Suppliers are an extension of the aifline, sometimes

representing the brand and enabling the Group to run uninterripted operations. Key suppliers include aircraft
manufacturers, fuel suppliers and worldwide airports,

Suppliers value operational stability ensuring predictable demand, transparency and integrity at all times in ali
business dealings and timely settlement avoiding liquidity challenges.

How management
and/or Directors
engaged and what
was the impact of the
engagement?

There is active supplier management including contingency planning. IAG GBS provides a centralised
procurement function for the LAG Group and manages supplier engagement, The IAG Group Supplier Code of
Conduct sets out the standards to which suppliers engaging with BA must apply.

The Board receives updates regarding material devalopments in key supplier relationships, including updates
through internal audit and risk management.

The Board receives regular operational updates including updates on operational performance at Heathrow
and the impact of the proposed Heathrow expansion plans.

During 2019, the Board reviewed and approved the supply of fuel by rail to London Heathrow. The rail fuel
supply requires close integration between British Airways, the fuel supplier, logistics supplier providing wagons
to transport the fuel, Freightliner to provide mative power and Network Rail,
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Section 172 statement continued

Workforce

Why it is important to
engage and what
matters to them?

The Group's long-term success is predicated on the commitment of the workForce to the airline’s purpose and
demonstrating British Airways’ values on a daily basis. To maintain a competitive advantage and meet the
growing demands of the commercial aviation environment, the workforce needs to be adaptive and have a
constantly evolving skill base,

Engagement with the workforce is essential to ensure the Group fosters an environment that the workforce is
motivated to work in and that best supports their welibeing.

Colleagues are concerned with opportunities for personal development and career progression, a cufture of
inclusion and diversity, compensation and benefits, and the ability to make a difference within British Airways.

Mow  management
and/or

Directors engaged
and what was the
impact of the
engagement?

The people and communities section of the strategic report on page 4 and the People section of the Directors’
repart on page 22 explain how the Company engages with the workforce, The Group invests in the workforce
maintaining low turnover rates.

During the year, the Executive Directors visited areas across the business to meet with colleagues and gain
insight into the challenges faced by operational colleagues on a day to day basis.

Colleagues are provided information that is of concern to them, including business and financial performance
updates which are provided in person by the CEQ and/or CFO at financial results forums, on the Company
intranet and via email. Colleagues are encouraged to share their views on all matters with senior management.

A pay deal of 11.5 per cent over three years, which Is above the UK's current rate of inflation, was accepted by
the members of the Unite and GMB trade unions in July 2018, which represent nearly 80 per cent of all British
Alirways colleagues including engineers, cabin crew and ground staff, In December 2019, members of the pilot's
union BALPA formally accepted the pay deal bringing the dispute to a close.

In response to the results of the latest pulse survey, the Board endorsed the launch of the updated people
strategy designed to drive an improvement in colleague engagement across all areas of the business, An
“Above and Beyond” recognition programme was also launched during the year in response to feedback from
colleagues. In addition in response to survey results a new Leadership and Management Academy was
launched in 2019.

Investors

Why it is important to
engage and what
matters to them?

Continued access to capital is of vital importance to the long-term success of British Alrways, The key
investors of British Airways are the shareholders such as the parent company, IAG, and lenders that finance the
acquisition of aircraft.

Lenders value meeting coupon and repayment commitments on time.

For IAG, return on invested capital {(RolC), operating margins and free cash generated are important as value is
created by generating strong and sustainable results that translate into dividends and share price appreciation,
In addition to these financial measures, operating within the Group's policies and maintaining and enhancing
brand and reputation are also important.

How management
and/or Directors
engaged and what
was the impact of the
engagement?

The CEQ is a member of the IAG Management Committee and attends weekly meetings for regular
engagement with |AG management as well as the monthly IAG Management Committee meetings where the
Group's operational and financial performance, strategic plans, risks and opportunities are reviewed. Challenges
are raised and addressed by management ahead of approval,

The British Airways Management Committee provides to IAG regular operational and financial performance
communications such as quarterly trading results,

The CFO attends monthly IAG aperating company CFO meetings with the IAG Group CFO and CFQOs from the
other operating companies within the IAG Group.

The CFO attends regular meetings with credit ratings agencies. As noted on page 8, during the year the Group
launched a successful EETC bond issue to fund aircraft acquisitions.
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Strategic report continued

Section 172 statement continued

Communities and environment

Why it is important to
engage and what
matkers to them?

The communities in which the aitline operates require British Airways to operate in a socially responsible
manner and protect the environment.

Sustainability is crucial, and communities expect the Group to provide means to minimise the effect of flying
on the environment from reduced noise levels, waste management and reducing or offsetting carbon
emissions, Communities expect the airline to minimise the negative effects of globalisation, for example
employing ethically responsible supply chains and preventing illegat global trafficking.

How management
and/or Directors
engaged and what
was the impact of the

engagement?

The Group continues ta support charitable giving, through Flying Start and working closely with non-profit
organisations delivering change. During 2019, BA partnered with The Diana Award as part of its commitment
to making a positive impact in local communities, with a particular focus on supporting children and young
people living challenging lives in the UK and overseas.

The Group's culture and commitrment to corporate responsibility continues to grow, Tackling the effect of
aviation on the climate requires 3 multi-faceted response and British Airways js committed to this,
Sustainability is embedded into the Group's business plans that are reviewed and approved by the Board and
JAG, The Board Corporate Rasponsibility Committee meets at least twice a year to set and approve BA's
corporate responsibility strategy and monitor progress on key initiatives.

British Airways is contributing to 1AG's commitment to achieving net zero CO; emissions by 2050 and, during
2013, bacame the first LK airline to announce it would offset carbon emissions on domestic flights from 2020
as described on page 4 of the strategic report.

The Group continues ta invest in new generation aircraft which tend to have at least 20 per cent lower carbon
emissions and SO per cent lower noise fevels than the aircraft they replace.

The Board, Management Committee and Capital Investment Comimittee reviewed prograss of the Group's
investment activities in sustainable aviation fuels. The Group is working with Velocys, which has now submitted
a planning application to develop Europe’s first plant to transform waste into sustainable fuels,

As part of a long-term commitment to end ‘exploitative tourism’ that sees wild animals kept in captivity, British
Airways Holidays announced a partnership with international wildlife charity Born Free which promotes animal
welfare.

The Board Corporate Responsibility Committee approved initiatives to save on waste from single use plastics.
Head office catering changes have saved around one million single use plastic cups, bowls and cutlery.

Pension Trustees

Why it is important to
engage and what
matters to them?

As described in note 30 of the annual report and accounts the Group has two main funded pension schemes,
APS and NAPS which a significant number of current and former employees are members of. The Pension
Trustees are concerned with the Group's covenant and the funding levels and deficit recavery plans of the
defined benefit schemes, ta ensure the schemes are able to meet their obligations in the future and the
financial stability of the Group,

How management
and/or Directors
engaged and what
was the impact of the

engagemem?

Senior management form part of the Trustee board. Additional management representatives attend Trustee
investment strategy meetings. Senior management met with the Trustee board during the year to discuss the
Group's financial performance and updated forecasts.

The Board considers the Group's ability to fund the defined benefit pension schemes and funding
commitments when passing resolutions to pay dividends.

The Board received regular updates of the APS litigation which had been ongoing since 2013 and approved the
sattlement of the litigation and the valuation. Details of the settlement reached in 2019 are included on page 8.

The Board reviewed and approved the NAPS 31 March 2018 triennfal valuation and funding agreement reached
in 2019, Details of the valuation settlement are described on pages 8 and 9.
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Section 172 statement continued

Principal decisions

Principal decisions are those that are material to the Group and significant to any of the key stakeholder groups. In making the principal
decisions outlined in the section 172 statement, the Board considered the outcome from its stakeholder engagement as well as the need
to maintain a reputation for high standards of business conduct and the need to act fairly between the members of the Company,
Principal dedisions taken during the year include:

Pay deal

As described in the "Workforce’ section on page 16, a pay deal of 11.5 per cent over three years, which is above the UK's current rate of
inflation, was accepted by the members of the Unite and GMB trade unions in July 2019, which represent nearly 90 per cent of ali British
Airways colleagues including engineers, cabin crew and ground staff, In December 2013, members of the pilot's union BALPA formally
accepted the pay deal bringing the dispute to a close. As described on page 22 a new working group has been established to develop a
structured framework and governance process to rebuild effective working relationships across the pilot community.

Investment in technrology

The Board recognises the importance of investment in [T to the long-term success of the business and, accordingly, approved increased
expenditure during 2019, This focus is further recognised by the decision to appoint the new role of Chief Information and Digital
Officer to the Company's Management, Committee, effective March 2020.

Acquisition of Boeing 777-3 aircraft

As outlined on page 2, during 2019 the Group placed an order for 18 Boeing 777-9 aircraft, plus 24 options, to replace 14 Boeing 747-
400s and four Boeing 777-200s between 2022 and 2025. In making its decision, the Baard had particular regard to the environmental
improvements offered by the new fleet, This included fuel burn and noise, together with improvements in customer experience including
a wider cabin enabling comfortable ten abreast seating In Economy and more width for premium cabins. The Boeing 777-9 aircraft were
chosen for their enhanced cabin features such as larger and higher windows, improved lighting and electronics including connectivity and
high definition inflight entertainment and a more comfortable cabin environment with lower cabin altitude, improved temperature
control and lower cabin noise. The fuel efficiency benefits contribute to IAG’s commitment to achieve net zero CO; emissions by 2050,

HR transformation

With a focus on increased employee engagement, it is important that the people strategy is supported by robust, resitient and efficient
systems. The Board approved investment in a transformation programme to replace outdated systems with a simplified cloud-based
solution providing colleagues with a mobile, modern user-friendly colleague experience which will enable direct and tailored
communication between British Airways and its employees to drive engagement.

APS settiement
Details of this principal decision are included in the Pensions section of the strategic report on pages 8 to 9,

The strategic report is approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

=
Alex Cruz Rebecca Napier
Chairman and CEQ Chief Financial Officer
27 February 2020 27 February 2020
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Directors' report
The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015,

Business review
A review of the Group’s business, future developments and principal risks is detailed further on pagas 2 to 18 of the strategic report.

The Group flies to a number of destinations around the world. In addition to the overseas branches established in many of these
countries, there are also branches in countries to which BA does not fly. A fill list of destinations can be found on the website
www,ba.com,

Results and dividends
The pre-exceptional operating profit for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to £1,921 million (2018 £1,952 miilicn). The
operating profit for the year ended 31 December 2019 was £1,338 miltion (2018; £2,346 million),

The Campany paid a total dividend of £585 million as follows;
First interim dividend of £130 mifiion paid in March 2019
Second interim dividend of £130 million paid in May 2019
Third interim dividend of £100 million paid in September 2019
Fourth interim dividend of £225 million paid in December 2019

The Board has decided not to recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 {2018 £nil).

Going concern

The Directors have considered the Group's business activities (as set out on page 2), principal risks and uncertainties (as set out on
pages 10 to 14) and the Group's financial position, including cash flows, liquidity position and available committed facilities (as set out on
pages 6 to 9). Further information is provided in note 25 of the financial statements.

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to
continue operating for the foreseeable future, For this reason, the going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial
statements.

Events after the balance sheet date
No significant events have taken place post the balance sheet date.

Directors
The Directors who served during the year and since the year end are as follows:

Alex Cruz

Alison Reed

Steve Gunning (resigned 20 June 2019)
Rebecca Napier (appointed 20 June 2019)
Gavin Patterson

Julia Simpson

Lynne Embleton

Company Secretary
Andrew Fleming

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance and indemnities
IAG purchases insurance against Directors' and Officers' liability covering the I1AG Group, as permitted by the Companias Act 20086, for
the benefit of the Diractors and Officers.

The Company has granted rolfing indemnities to the Directors and the Secretary, uncapped in amount but subject to applicabie law, in
relation to certain iosses and fiabilities which they may incur in the course of acting as Officers of campanies within the Group. These
indemnities also set out the terms on which the Company may, in tts discreticn, advance defence costs. The indemnities were in force
during the whole of the financial year or from the date of appointment in respect of Officers who joined during 2019 and remain in force,

The Company has granted qualifying pension scheme indemnities in the form permitted by the Companies Act 2006 to the Directors of
four companies, British Airways Pension Trustees Limited, British Airways Pension Trustees (No 2) Limited, Airways Pension Scheme
Trustee Limited and New Airways Pension Scheme Trustee Limited, that act as trustees of the Company’s LK pension schemes. These
indemnities were in force throughout the last financial year or from the date of appointment in respect of Officars who joined during
2019 and remain in force.
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Directors’ report continued

Corporate Governance

Effective corporate governance is a key requirement for the Group, For the year ended 31 December 2019, under The Companies
{Miscellaneocus Reporting) Regulations 2018, British Airways has applied the Wates Corporate Govemance Principles for Large Private
Companies (the "Wates Principles”) as its framework for disclosure regarding its corporate governance arrangements,

Principle 1 — Purpose and Leadership
BA's purpose is to connect Britain to the world, and the world to Britain. This is supported by the Company's business plan, which is
refreshed and reviewed annually by the Board,

BA has four commitments to drive behaviours to achieve the Company's vision; to be the best airfine in the world:
s« Be safe and secure, always
«  Be passionate about service
s Be confident
+  Be trusted advocates of BA

BA's purpose is underpinned by three strategic anchors:
+  Customer Experience — delighting customers at every step of their journey;
s Network - grawing our netwaork profitably; and
«  Efficiency — using all our resources to the best effect.

Further detail on the activity during the year tc meet these objectives is included in the management review section on pages 2 to 5 of
the strategic report.

During the year JIAG launched a new Group Code of Conduct which applies to ali employees and Directors of BA and the other
aperating companies within |AG, This Code outlines the key behaviours expected of all employees and provides guidance on how to
identify and report concerns. The Code outlines the FAG commitment to placing integrity at the core of all our business activities. The
Code has been promoted to all employees by the Chairman & CEQ of British Airways Ple.

Principle 2 ~ Board Composition

The Board comprises of four Non-Executive Directors and two Executive Directors (the Chairman & CEO and the CFO). Two of the
Non-Executive Directors have ather executive roles within [AG and two are external to |AG. The roles of Chairman and CEO have not
been separated as it is considered that the two external Non-Executive Directors {one of whom is appeinted as Deputy Chair) provide
appropriate challenge and scrutiny to the Board's decision making process. In addition, significant financial decisions must be approved
by IAG Management Committee and the |AG Board. In accordance with the Articles of Association, the Chairman & CEO is appointed
by the shareholders, Four Directors are female and there is a diverse range of experience and skills to enable the Board to effectively
fulfil its responsibilities. In accordance with the obligations for appointments and succession set out in the Articles of Assaciation, the
majority of members of the Board are tnited Kingdom nationals. The Directors have equa! vating rights.

The Board is collectively responsible for the management and effective oversight of the Company's business, The Chairman leads the
Board and is responsible for ensuring the overall effectiveness of the Board and to ensure that Directors have access to information in
order to inform Board decision making. Some of the duties of the Board are executed partially through committees of the Board. There
are three Board Committees; the Board Safety Review Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Responsibility
Committee. Membership of each committee is drawn from both the Non-Executive Directors and Executive Directors and includes
non-Director attendees.

In order to inform the Board of the operations and performance of the business, the Board has access to members of senior
management who attend Board meetings. All Directors have access to professional advice and services of the Company Secretary.
Directors update their skills, knowledge and familiarity of the business by meeting with employees and by attending appropriate external
seminars and training courses. There is an induction programme for all new Directors which provides access to all parts of the business,
including IAG. :

Principle 3 - Director Responsibilities

Whilst the Board maintains effective oversight of the Company's business and has ultimate responsibility for major policy and financial
expenditure issues, some key decisions are made by members of the Board, committees and senior management with the apprapriate
knowledge and experience. Company policies on governance, decision making and delegation ensure that every decision is taken with
the right safeguards in place and is underpinned by appropriate considerations and pracesses, At the |AG level further oversight and
directicn is provided by the IAG Board, IAG Management Committee and the IAG Audit and Compliance Committee. IAG carries out
detailed risk management reviews under thea tAG risk management framework,

The Board delegates authority for day-to-day management of the Company to the Management Committee which meets weekly and is
chaired by the CEO and whose membership includes the CFO and leaders of each business area. The Management Committee is
responsible for considering and recommending to the Board the BA Group's business plans, financial plans, strategic matters, major
projects and prograrmmes {including acquisitions, disposals, joint ventures), other capital investment or divestment decisions and other
significant matters affecting the Company. The Board retains responsibility for reviewing the recommendations of the Management
Committee and exercises an oversight role, constructively challenging recommendations and the decisions. Where financial approval is
also required, this must also be obtained via the Capital Investment Committee approval process.
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Directors’ report continued

Corporate Goavernance continued

The Board aims to meet eight times per year. During 2019, there were nine Board meetings {of which, three meetings were primarily to
facilitate approval of business cases). Board meetings were well attended during 2019 with all in-person meetings attended by every
Director. Apologies for absence were accepted from one Director for each of the business case approval meetings, however,
documentation was circulated in advance of each meeting and any comments were addressed at the meeting ahead of appraval.

The Board receives regular and timely information on all key aspects of the business, including business risks and opportunities, the
financial performance of the business, strategy, operational matters, safety, market conditions and sustainability supported by Key
Performance Indicators. Key financial information is collated from the Group’s accounting systems and the finance function is
appropriately qualified to ensure the integrity of this information. Financial information is currently externally audited by Ernst & Young
LLP on an annual basis, and financial contrals are reviewed by the Group's internal audit function.

The Board agrees on how conflicts of interest should be identified and managed by the Company Secretary, with the conflicts register
being reviewed regularly and interests authorised at each meeting of the Board.

Principle 4 — Opportunity and Risk

Opportunities

Long term strategic opportunities are identified through the business planning process which includes input from all areas of the
business, The three-year busingss plan is presented to the Board for approval each year,

lnternal control framework

IAG complies with the Spanish corporate governance requirement regarding reporting on internal controls. The Group has an internal
control framework to ensure it maintains a strong and effective internal control environment. This is independently assessed by the
Group's Internal Audit function on an annual basis with results reported to the IAG Audit Committee. The Board is responsible for
ensuring findings are remediated and the effectiveness of the framework was regularly reviewed by the Management Committee during
the year.

Business controls are reviewed on an ongoing basis by the |AG internal audit function through a programme based on risk assessment.
Professionally qualified personnel manage the department with experience gained from both inside and outside the industry. A risk-
based audit plan, which provides assurance aver key business processes and commarcial and financial risks facing the Group, is approved
by the IAG Audit Committee half-yearly.

The Board considers significant control matters raised by management and both the internal and external auditors. Where weaknesses
are identified, the BA Board ensures that management takes appropriate action,

Risk management

IAG has an Enterprise Risk Management policy which sets out a framework for a comprehensive risk management process and
methodology. ensuring a robust assessment of the risks, including emerging risks. BA manages its risks within the IAG framework,
supported by risk management professionals in IAG. Risk awners are responsible for identifying risks in their area of responsibility. All
risks are assessed for likelihood and impact against the Group business plan and strategy and are plotted on a risk heatmap. Key controls
and mitigations are documented including appropriate response plans, Every risk has appropriata Management Committee oversight,
Internal control and risk management systems in refation to the Group's financial reporting process and the process for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements are in place, The Group implemented a new finandial reporting system in July 2019. There were no
other changes in risk management and internal contro} systems over financial reporting that have occurred during the year that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Group's financial reporting.

The risk heatmap is reviewed every six manths by the BA Management Committee and the |AG Head of Enterprise Risk Management to
ensure that risks are appropriately evaluated and any further actions identified, This is then reported to the BA Board to assist in the
management of risk. This comprehensive risk management process and methodology has been in place throughout the reporting perfod
to which these statements apply and up to their date of approval. The principal risks and uncertainties that are reviewed by the Board
are detailed further on pages 10 ta 15 of the strategic report.

Principle 5 - Remuneration

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for setting remuneration for the Management Committee (excluding the Chairman & CEO
and the Chief financial Officer which are set by IAG). Remuneration is afigned to individual performance and behaviours, as well as
achievement of BA's purpose, value and strategies and is set at a market competitive level to ensure that BA can attract and retain
quality senior management.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by a Non-Executive Director and has clearly defined terms of reference. Further information
relating to remuneration is set cut in the People section on page 22.

Principle 6 - Stakeholder Relationships and Engagement

Information related ta the Board's engagement with key stakeholders is set out in the Section 172 statement on pages 15 to 18 and in
the People section below. The Group has an independent whistleblowing hotline through which stakeholders are encouraged to repart
any concerns for investigation by senior management.
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Directors’ report continued

People

The Group's employment policies aim to balance the rights of colleagues along with the responsibilities of the Group in order to drive
the business forward, The policies are regularly reviewed and updated with input from colleagues that represent different areas of the
business. The overall aim is to have policies that are fair, legally compliant and cost effective as well as empowering line managers.

British Airways continues to drive genuine and effective engagement with colleagues, putting the customer at the forefront of
everything it does and maintaining 2 high performing organisation. The Group's people strategy is outlined on page 4. Every manager in
British Airways has been trained in how to bring this purpose to life with their teams and over 75% of the colleagues have gone through
this engagement process with more planned in 2020, There is a framework in place for consultation with colleagues, through direct
engagement as well as collective bargaining. Regular briefings (including updates on financial and economic factors affecting the
performance of the Group) are held across the aifine. Other communication channels include five online forums, a personalised intranet,
mehile SMS and video messages and a range of Group-wide and local newsletters, To assess levels of employee engagement regular
pulse surveys are conducted. The results of these surveys are used to define action plans targeted to address those issues most
important to our colleagues.

Following the industrial action in 2013, a new working group has been established to put in place 2 structured framework and governance
to rebuild effective working relationships across the pilot community, with the support of an independent facilitator. This will focus on
both ways of working and the delivery of a 'Pilot Charter’. The Pilot Charter provides an oppartunity for British Airways and BALPA to
work collaboratively together and will focus en delivering specific initiatives for pilots to build trust and engagement with the airline.

British Afrways is committed to remuneration packages that reward colleagues for their performance and contribution to the business
and allow the Group to attract, retain and grow existing and future talent. This includes an employee bonus scheme, the IAG
performance share pian for eligible employees and a recognition programme that was launched during the year.

British Airways aims to promote diversity In employment regardless of gender, ethnicity, sexual orientation, disability, religion or age. The
Group's diversity and inclusion policy covers British Airways' employees in all parts of the business. Employees complete mandatory
training on diversity and inclusion ta foster dignity and respect in the workplace. Additional information and support for managers,
including an online diversity and inclusion toolkit is also available on the intranet. British Airways is accredited at level 2 of the Disability
Confident Scheme as recognition both of commitment to encourage job applications from disabled people and to support disabled
colleagues,

As part of the Group's diversity and inclusion strategy, the Group is committed to increasing the gender balance in engineering and pilot
communities through working with schools and calleges to promate opportunities in science, technology, engineering and mathematics
(STEM) related careers. The airline Yaunched a series of 'Future of Flying" events at which pilots, including female pilots, talk about a
career as a pilot and inspire local young people to join the aviation industry, British Airways works in partnership with industry networks,
including Women in Science and Engineering (WISE), to promote the recruitment, retention and development of women in STEM related
roles.

The Group's workforce consists of 46 per cent (2018: 46 per cent) wornen, with 32 per cent (2018: 31 per cent) of senior leadership
positions held by women. Females make up 66 per cent (2018: 50 per cent) of the Board and 37 per cent (2018: 25 per cent) of the
British Airways Management Committeg,

The Group's latest gender pay figures were released in March 2019. The median hourly pay difference batween men and women has
increased from 10 per cent in 2017 to 13 per cent in 2018, compared to the national averaga of 17.9 per cent. The increase in the pay gap
reported this year was due to the launch of a new flexible benefits scheme in April 2018, which gave colleagues an opportunity to elther
spend their allowance on a variety of benefits or increase their take home pay.

Political donations
The Group does not make political donations or incur political expenditure and has no intention of doing so.

Auditors
In accardance with Section 489 of the Companies Act 2006, resolutions concerning the re-appointment of the auditor, Ernst & Young
LLP and authorising the Directors to set their remuneration will be proposed at the next Annual General Meeting,

Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information to the auditor
The Directors who are members of the Board at the time of approving the Directors’ report and business review are listed above. Having
made enquiries of fellow Directors and of the Group’s auditor, each of these Directors confirms that:

*  To the best of each Director's knowledge and belief there is no information relevant to the preparation of the auditor's report of
which the Group's auditor is unaware; and

«  Each Director has taken all the steps a Director might reasonably be expected to have taken to make himself or herself aware of
relevant audit infarmation and to establish that the Group's auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418(2) of the Companies Act 20086,
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Directors’ report continued

Directors' responsibilities statement it relation to the financial statements

The Directors as fisted are responsible for preparing the strategic report, Directors' report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable UK law and those International Financial Reporting Standards {'IFRSs") as adopted by the European Union.

The Directors are required to prepare finandal statements for each financial period, which present fairly the financial position of the
Company and of the Group and the financial performance and cash flows of the Company and of the Group for that period. In preparing
those financial statements, the Directors are required to:

»  Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

»  Present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information;

= Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users to understand
the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's financial position and financial performance; and

*  State that the Group has complied with IFRS, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements.

The Directors as listed are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records, which disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time,
the financial positian of the Company and of the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the |AS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. In addition, the Directors are responsible
for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included in the Company's website. Legisfation in the UK
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ responsibility statement pursuant to DTR 4

The Directors as listed confirm that, to the best of each person's knowledge:

=  The Group financial statements in this report, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European
Uinion, IFRIC interpretations and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under [FRS, give a true
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group as a whole; and

»  The management report cantained in this report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and
the position of the Group as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

Approved Ry the Board and signed on its behalf by

Andrew Fleming

Company Secretary

27 February 2020

Company registration number - 1777777

23



Independent auditor’s report to the members of British Airways Pic

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of British Airways Plc ('the Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group') for the year
ended 31 December 2015 which comprise the Group consolidated income statement, the Group statement of other comprehensive
income, the Group and Parent Company balance sheet, the Group and Parent Company cash flow statements, the Group and Parent
Company statement of changes in equity and the related notes 1 to 36, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and Intemational Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the Parent Company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion:

®  the financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group's and of the Parent Company's affairs as at 3t December 2018 and of
the Group's profit for the year then ended;

. the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Linion;

L4 the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union in accordance with the provisions of the Cornpanies Act 2006; and :

L4 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in sccordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs {LIK)} and applicable law. Our responsibiiities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report
below, We are independent of the Group and Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirernents.

We believe that the audit avidenca we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (LK) require us to report to you where:
L4 the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparaticn of the financial statements is not appropriate; or

®  the Directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
about the Group's or the Parent Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at
least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor's
treport thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon,

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are
required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other
information, If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other informaticn, we
are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinichs on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit.

. the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

. the Strategic report and Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of British Airways Plc continued

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic report or Directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you
if, in our opinion;

®  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

bt the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
. certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

®  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit,

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 23, the Directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and For being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
Of efror,

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the Parent Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Auditor's rasponsibilities for the audit of the financial statemants

Our objectives are to obtzin reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK} will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description ot our responsibilities tor the audit ot the hnancial statements is located on the

Financial Repotting Council's website at https://www.frc.orguk/auditorsresponsibilities. This dascription forms part of our auditor's
report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, 2s a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006,
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state ta the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by faw, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Lot m Wl o
Kathryn Barrow (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behaif of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor

Lonrdon
27 February 2020

MNotes;
t. The maintenance and integrity of the British Airways Plc web site is the responsibility of the Directors; the work carried out by the

auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibifity for any changes
that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initlally presented on the web site,

2. Legisiation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.
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Group consolidated income statement

Far the year ended 31 December Graup
. Bafore ™0 otianal Bafore excepinal Exceptional  Totl restated
£ millian Note exceptiona) ftems  TOW2019 fems m""m’; items 2018'
ltems 2019 2018
Passenger ravenue 11,899 11,899 1564 11564
Cargo revenue M kil 769 769
Traffic revenue 12,610 12,610 {2333 12333
Other revenue 580 680 632 632
Total ravenue 4 13,280 13,290 12955 12965
Employee costs B 2,529 583 3,182 2535 {06} 2129
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment & 1106 1,106 786 785
Arcraft operating lease costs [} - - 233 233
Fuel, ail costs and emission charges 3,237 3,237 2927 2927
Engineering and other aircraft costs 715 715 719 719
Landing fees and en route charges 919 919 827 927
Handling, catering and other operating costs 1,878 1,878 734 1734
Selling costs 516 5e 509 S09
Currency differences {9 [£)] 44 44
Property, IT and ather costs 478 478 599 12 &N
Total expenditure on operations 11,369 583 11,952 1013 {394) 0619
Cperating prafit & 1,921 {583} 1338 L2852 324 2345
finance costs 9 (219) 19) (16} (1s)
Finance income 9 36 36 33 33
Share of post-tax profits in Isgociates accounted for using the equity method i7 7 176 155 65
Net financing credit relating 1o pensions 30b 23 x| 24 24
Nat currency ratranslation credits 101 101 ! i
Other non operating credits a 1Q 10 3 £
Tatal net non-operating casts Fil 121 1o Ho
Profit befara tax 2,042 (583) 1,458 2062 394 Z456
Tax 10 {350) {350) {365) (365)
Profit after tax 1,692 (583) 1,109 1697 394 2091
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 1,692 1,109 1686 2080
Notr-controlfing interast - - 1] 1
1,662 1109 {697 208/

Please refer to note 36 for further details on the effect of restatement.

In 2019 the Group has presented the income statement using a three column approach to show the results of the business on a pre and post exceptional basis to enable
users to better understand the performance of the Group, The 2018 comparative has atso been re-presented.
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Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December Group
£ miliion Nole 2019 2018
Profit after tax for the year 1,109 2081
Other comprehensive income;
Items that will not be reclassified 1o net profit
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit obligations 30c {787) (740)
Fair value mavements on cash flow hedges that will subsequently be transferred to the balance sheet 292 3 39
Equity investrments - fair value movements in equity 283 (6) )
Income taxes 10 144 25
(686) 1580)
Items that may be recfassified to net profit
Currency translation differences 293 22) &
Fair value movements on cash flow hedges 29a 448 (387
Fair value of cash flow hedges recassified to net profit 293 106 (315)
Other movements in comprehensive income of associates 17 [ 29
Income taxes 10 {102) 113
436 612
Total other comprehensive joss {250) 1192)
Total comprehensive Incoma for the year (net of tax) 859 899
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 859 588
Nan-controlfing interest 2% - 1
859 899

The statemnent of total other comprehensive income does not include any other income or expense in relation to the discontinued operations,
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Balance sheets

As at 3y December Group Company
£ miffion Note 2019 2018 2019 2018
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment‘:
Fleet 12 8,838 ALl 8,636 6,915
Praperty 12 1,406 B0 1,364 777|
Equipment 12 244 213 231 207
10,488 8134 16,231 7859
Intangibles:
Goodwill 15 40 40 - -
Landing rights 15 693 693 693 693
Emissions allowances 15 36 34 36 34
Software 15 325 IO 312 289,
1,094 1067 1,041 Lore
Investments in subsidiaries 17 - - 4,278 1278
Investments in assoctates 17 1,838 1701 1,563 1563
Equity investments 18 49 56 40 40
Employee benefit assets 30a 443 1016 443 1016
Derivative financial instruments 26 59 120 60 120
Other non-current assets 19 191 F00 190 Joo
Total non-current assets 14,162 12394 14,846 13232
Current assets and receivables
Inventories 156 175 152 7r
Trade receivables 13 1,202 204 1,186 885
Other current assets 19 683 E44 ?1& 274
Derivative financial instruments 26 9N 65 96 65
Other current interest-bearing deposits 20 1,330 175 1,330 1175)
Cash and cash equivatents 20 1,258 1327 1,158 1242
2,588 2502 2,488 2424
Total currant assets and recelvables 4,720 4287 4,638 4152
Total assats 18,882 16,681 19,484 17,425
Sharaholders' equity
Issued share capital 27 290 290 290 280
Share premium 27 1.512 (512 §,512 1512
Other reserves’ 29 4,005 3865 4,416 4485
Total shareholders’ equity 5,807 5667 6,218 5,288
Total equity 5,807 5667 6,218 85288
Nan-current Habilitles
Interest-bearing long-term borrowings 23 5.378 3953 5,360 3953
Employee benefit abligations 30a 276 258 248 232
Deferred tax liabifities 10 423 335 344 243
Provisions 24 423 380 415 345
Derivative financial instrurments 26 156 210 157 27
Other non-current liabilities 22 29 40 18 26
Total non-current liabilitles 6,685 5176 6,542 5012
Current liabilitles
Current portion of long-term horewings 23 932 473 913 +76
Trade and other payables 21 2,104 1893 2,445 2180
Deferred revenue on ticket sales 2t 2,934 2807 2,969 2824
Daerivative financial instruments 26 105 341 107 347
Current tax payable 10 142 144 146 e
Provisions 24 173 780 139 169
Total current liabilities 6,390 5838 6,724 6,125
Total equity and liabilities 18,882 15,68¢ 19,484 17,425

Please refer to note 36 for further details on the effect of the transttion to IFRS 16.
2The profit for the year for the Company was E870 million (2018: E1,835 million).

Approved by thg Board and signed on its behalf by

Alex Criff Rebecca Napier
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
27 February 2020 27 February 2020

29



Cash flow statements

For the year ended 31 Dacember Group Company
£ million Note 2019 2018 2019 2018
Cash flow from operaling activities
Operating profit from continuing operations after exceptianal items 1,338 2346 1,252 2253
Exceptional items 583 {394) 583 (394)
Operating profit before exceptional items from continuing operations 1,921 1952 1,835 (859
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 1,106 786 1,059 760
Employer contributions to defined benefit pension schemas net of service cost 30d (754) (583) (745) (579)
Movement in working capital and other non-cash movements (9) H 85 120
Increase in trade and other receivables, prepayments, inventories and current assets (414) {234) 443) {254)
Increase in trade and other payables, deferred revenuve on ticket sales and current liabilities 405 235 528 374
Payments related to restructuring 24 {52) (82 (52) (82
Payments related to NAPS closure m {161 (1} (51
Interest paid (194) 87) (194) {100)
Interest received 34 26 34 26
Tax paid (195) {137) (195) {137}
Net cash generated from operating activities 1,856 1715 1,826 1706
Cash flow from Invasting activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (1,571) (4.218) {1,550) (4208}
Sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 475 149 475 149
Dividends received 17 26 5 3 H
Loan repaid by fellow group undertaking 180 89 180 89
Loan repaid by/{paid to) parent company 9 (15 9 {1s)
Other investing movements 3 5 2 4
{Increase)/Decrease in other current interest-bearing deposits (155} 865 (155) 665
Disposal of Openskies - {17} - -
Net cash used In investing activities (1.033) (427) {1,036) (415)
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 406 636 406 636
Repayments of bomrowings (48) {167} (44) (413)
Repayment of asset financed liabilities )] - {3 -
Repayment of lease liabilities (2018: repayment of finance leases) {669) {558) (661) (585)
Dividends paid 11 - (585) {575} (S85) (575)
Distributions made to holders of perpetual securities - 279 - -
Net cash flow used in financing activities {899) 943) (B87) (937)
{Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash equivalents (76) 345 (97) 354
Net foreign exchange differences 7 2 6 g
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 )anuary 1,327 973 1,249 886
Cash and cash eguivalents as at 31 December 1,258 1327 1,158 1249
Interest-bearing depasits maturing after more than three months 1,330 1175 1,330 {175
Cash, cash equivalents and other interest-bearing deposits at 31 December 2,588 2502 2,488 2424
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Statements of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 Decembaer 2019 Group
Issued Other Total  Nom-tontrafling
share Share reserves shareholders’ interest Total
£ miltion capital premium {note 29) equity {note 29) aquity
Balance at { January 2019 250 1512 348565 5,667 - 5667
IFRS 16 transition adjustment - - (124 {124) - {124)
Balance at 1 January 2019 Including IFRS 16 230 1,512 3741 5,543 - 5543
Profit For the year - - 1,109 1,109 - 1,109
Othar comprehensive loss for the year - - (250) {250) - (250)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 859 859 - 859
Dividends - - (585) (585) - (585)
Cash flow hedges transferred to the balance sheet (net of tax) - - {9) {9) - (9)
Cost of share-based payment {net of tax) - - [¢] N - m
As at 3 December 2019 280 1,512 4,005 5,807 - 5.807
For the year ended 31 December 2018 Group
Jssued Other Tota!  Non-comirolling
share Share reserves sharehoiders’ interest Toual
£ million capital premivm frote 29) aquity {rote 29) Quity
Balance at 1 January 2018 290 1512 362f 5423 200 5623
Profit for the year - - 2080 2080 I 209¢
Othar comprehensivs loss for the year - - (4192} {1i92) - fLiez)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 888 883 " a9
Dividends - - (575) £575) - (575)
Cash flow hedges transferred Lo the balance sheel (net of tax) - - w i - Ii{/]
Distributions made o holders of perpetual sacurities - - - - oHy fil]
Realised foreign axchange loss on rademptian of perpetual securities - - 168} 8 - 58}
Redemption of perpetual securities - - - - {200) 204)
As at 31 December 2012 290 1512 3865 5667 - 5667
For tha year anded 31 December 2019 Company
Issued share Share Other reserves Tocal
£ miflion capital premium {note 29) equity
Balance at 1 January 2019 290 1,512 4,486 6,238
IFRS 16 transition adjustment - - (125) {125)
Balance at | January 2019 including IFRS 16 250 1,512 4361 6,163
Profit for the year - - 870 470
Other comprehensive income for the year -~ - {220) (220)
Total comprehensive Income for the year - - £50 650
Dividends - - {585) {585)
Cash flow hedges transferred to the balance sheet {net of tax) - - 9 9}
Caost of share-based payment {het of tax} - - (3] n
As at 3] Decembar 2019 290 1,512 4,416 6,218
Far the year ended 31 December 2018 Company
Bsued share Share  Other reserves Tawl
£ million capital PREmim {rote 29) equity
Balance at | Janvary 2018 290 1512 4394 8196
Profit for the year - - 1835 1835
Other comprehensive loss for the year - - {L157) {4167}
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 558 568
Dividends - - {575) (575
Cash Row hedges transferred to the balanca sheet (nat of tax) - - W [
As at 31 December 2013 290 1512 4486 5,288
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1 Authorisation of financial statements and compliance with IFRSs

The Group's and Company's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 ware authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27
February 2020 and the balance sheets were signed on the Board's behaif by Alex Cruz and Rebecca Napier. British Airways Plc is a public limited
company limited by shares incorporated, registered and domiciled in England. The Company’s registered office is Waterside, PO Box 365,
Harmondsworth, UB7 DGB.

The Group has prepared the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financiat Reporting Standards (IFRSs’) as endorsed
by the European Linion (IFRSs as endorsed by the EU). The principal accaunting policies adopted by the Group and by the Company are set outin
note 2,

The Company has taken advantage of the exermption provided under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to publish the individual
income statement and related notes,

2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The basis of preparation and accounting policies set out in this Annual Report and Accounts have been prepared in accordance with the
recognition and measurement criteria of IFRSs, which aiso include International Accounting Standards {|ASs?, as issued by the IASB and with
those of the Standing Interpretations issued by the Intarnational Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee {IFRIC) of the IASB,

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost convention except for certain financial assets and liabilities, including derivative
financial instruments and equity investments that are measured at fair value.

The Group's and Company's financial statements are presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest million pounds
(£ million), except where indicated otherwise.

The Directors have considered the Group's business activities (as set out on page 2), principal risks and uncertainties (as set out on pages 10 to 14)
and the Group's financial position, including cash flows, liquidity position and available committed facilities (as set out on pages 7 to 9), Further
information is provided in note 25 of the financial statements.

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue
operating for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements.

Change in accounting policy

The Group has applied IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ and IFRIC 23 'Uncertainty over tax treatments’ for the first time for the year ended 31 December 2019,
There has been no impact arising from the application of IFRIC 23. Further details on the impact of these standards on the Group accounting
policies and financial position and performance are provided in note 36,

There are no other standards, amendments or interpretations in issue but not yet adopted that the Directors anticipate will have a material effect
on the reported income or net assets of the Group.

In September 2019, the IFRS Interpretations Committee clarified that under IFRS 15 compensation payments for flight delays and cancellations
form compensation for passenger losses and accordingly should be recognised as variable compensation and deducted from revenue. This
clarification had led the Group to change its accounting pelicy, which previously classified this compensation as an operating expense. Accordingly,
the Group has restated the comparative period for 2018 to reffect £56 milfion of compensation costs as a deduction from Fassenger revenue and
a corresponding reduction within Handling, catering and ather operating costs. The revenue companent of segmental reporting has accordingly
been restated. Further details are given in hote 36,

Presentation of results
The Group has presented results in the income statement to separately identify exceptional items in order to provide readers with a clear and
consistent presentation of the underlying operating performance of the Group's ongoing business; see note 5, page 42.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include thase of the Company and its subsidiaries, each made up to 31 December, together with the
attributable share of results and reserves of associates, adjusted where appropriate to conform with the Group's accounting policies. Subsidiaries
are all entities (including structured entities) controtled by the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, varlable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity, Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration paid is the fair value of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in
subsidiaries that are not held by the Group and are presented separately within equity in the consolidated balance sheet. Acquisition-related costs
are expensed as incurred.

Gaodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the fair value of non-controlling interest over the
net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

All intra-group account balances, including intra-group profits, have been eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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2 Significant accounting policies continued

Interests in associates
An associate is an undertaking {n which the Group has a long-term equity interest and over which it has the power to exercise significant influence,
Where the Group cannot exercise control over an entity in which it has a shareholding greater than 51 per cent, the equity interest is treated as an
associated undertaking.

Investments in asseciates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, and initially recognised at cost. The Group's interest in the
net assets of associates and joint ventures is included in investments accounted for using the equity method in the balance sheet and its interest in
their results is included in the income statement, below the operating result. The attributable results of those companies acquired or disposed of
during the year are included for the periods of ownership,

In the Company balance sheet, investments in associates are recognised at cost subject to any impairment.

Revenue fram contracts with customers

The Group's revenue primarily derives from transportation services for both passengers and cargo. Revenue is recognised when the transportation
service has been provided. Passenger tickets are generally paid for in advance of transpontation and are recognised, net of discounts, as deferred
revenue on ticket sales in current liabilities until the customer has flown, Unused tickets are recognised as revenue after the contracted date of
departure using estimates regarding the timing of recognition based on the terms and conditions of the ticket and statistical analysis of historical
trends. Revenue is stated net of compensation for flight delays and cancellations, taking into consideration the leve! of expected claims.

The Group considers whether it is an agent or a principal in relation to transportation services by considering whether it has a performance
obligation to provide services to the customer or whether the obligation is to arrange for the services to be provided by a third party. The Group
acts as an agent where {j} it collects various taxes and fees assessed on the sale of tickets to passengers and remits these to the relevant taxing
authoritées; and (i) where it provides interline services to airline partners outside of the Group.

Other revenue including maintenance; handling; hotel and holiday and commissions is recognised as the related performance obligations are
satisfied (over time), being where the control of the goods or services are transferred to the customer.

Revenue recognition — customer loyalty programmes

BA provides a foyalty scheme to customers through the acquisition of points from Avios Group {(AGL) Limited which are then issued to Executive
Club members as part of the ticket, The revenue recognised when the transportation service is provided is reduced by the price of the loyalty
points issued.

The Group alsa operates other smaller loyalty programmes. In accordance with IFRS 15 'Revenue from contracts with customers’, the standalone
selling price attributed to the awarded loyalty points is deferred as a liability and recognised as revenue on redemption of the points and provision
of service to the participants to whom the points were issued. The stand-alone selling price of the loyalty points is based on the value of the
awards for which the points could be redeemed. The Group also recognises revenue associated with the proportion of award credits which are not
expected to be redeemed, based on the results of statistical modelling,

Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, wha is responsible for resource allocation and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as
the Management Committee. The Management Committee is made up of the Executive Directors and other key management personnel and is
respansible for the day-to-day running of the Group and discharging managerial responsibility.

Intangible assets
Intangibie assets are held at cost and are either amortised on a straight-tine basis over their economic life, or they are deemed to have an
indefinite economic life and are nat amortised, but tested annuatly for impaimment.

a  Goodwill

Goodwill arises an the acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures and represents the excess of the consideration paid over the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree. Whare the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree is in
excass of the consideration paid, a gain on bargain purchase is recognised immediately in the income statement, For the purposes of assessing
impairment, goodwill is grouped st the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually and whenever indicators exist that the carrying value may not be recoverable,

b Landing rights

Landing rights acquired from ather airlines are capitalised at cost on acquisition {or fair value when acquired through a business combination).
Capitalised landing rights based outside the EU are amortised on a straight-line basis over a period not exceeding 20 years. Capitalised landing
rights based within the ELl are not amortised, as regulations provide that these landing rights are perpetual.

¢ Software

The cost to purchase or develop computer software that is separable from an item of related hardware is capitalised separstely and amortised on
a straight-line basis generally over a period not exceeding five years, with certain specific software developments amortised over a pericd of up to
ten years.

d  Emissions allowances

Furchased emissions allowances are recognised at cost. Emissions allowances are not revalued or amortised but are tested for impairment
whenever indicators exist that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
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2 Significant accounting policies continued

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is held at cost. The Group has a policy of not revaluing property, plant and equipment. Depreciation is calculated to
write off the cost less estimated residual value on a straight-line basis, over the economic life of the asset Residual values, where applicable, are
reviewed annually against prevailing market values for equivalently aged assets and depreciation rates are adjusted accordingly on a prospective
basis,

a  Capitalisation of interast on progress payments
interest attributed to progress payments made on account of aircraft and aother qualifying assets under construction are capitalised and added to
the cost of the asset concerned, All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the year in which they are incurred,

b Fleet

All aircraft are stated at the fair value of the consideration given after taking account of manufacturers' credits. Fleet assets owned, or right of use
assets, are disaggregated into separate components and depreciated at rates calculated to write down the cost of each component to the
estimated residual value at the end of their planned operational lives {(which is the shorter of their useful life or lease term) on a straight-fine basis.
Depreciation rates are specific to aircraft type, based on the Group's fleet plans, with usefu! economic lives of 11 and 29 years, For engines
maintained under ‘pay-as-you-go’ contracts, the depreciation lives and residual values are the same as the aircraft to which the engines relate. For
all other engines, the engine core is depreciated to its residual value over the average remaining life of the related fleet. Right of use assets are
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the aforementioned deprecation rate.

Cabin interior modifications, including those required for brand changes and relaunches, are depreciated over the lower of five years and the
remaining economic life of the aircraft.

Aircraft and engine spares acquired an the introduction or expansion of a fleet, as well as rotable spares purchased separately, are carried as
property, plant and equipment and generafly depreciated ir line with the fleet to which they relate.

Major averhaul expenditure, including replacement spares and labour costs, is capitalised and amortised over the average expected life between
major overhauls. All other replacement spares and other costs relating to maintenance of fleet assets {including maintenance provided under 'pay-
as~you-go' contracts) are charged to the income statement on consumption or as incurred respectively.

¢ Other property, plant and equipment

Provision is made for the depreciation of all property and equipment. Property, with the exception of freehold land, is depreciated over jts
expected useful life over periods not exceeding 50 years, or in the case of leasehold properties, over the expected duration of the lease if shorter,
on a straight-line basis. Equipment is depreciated over periods ranging frorm 4 to 20 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever avents or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the value by which the asset's carrying value exceads its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset's fair value less cost to sell and value-in-use. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that were subject to an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

a Praperty, plant and equipment
The carrying value is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable and
the cumulative impairment losses are shown as a reduction in the carrying value of property, plant and equipment.

b Intangible assets

Indefinite life intangible assets are tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
value may not be recoverable. The cumulative impairment losses are shown as a reduction in the carrying value of intangible assets.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale when their carrying value is to be recovered principally through sale as opposed to continuing use.
The sale must ba considered to be highly prabable and to be achieved within twelve months. Held for sale assets are carried at the lower of
carrying value and fair value less costs to sell. Assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified as held for sale.

inventories
Inventories, including aircraft expendables, are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, determined by the weighted average cost
method, Inventories include mainly aircraft spare parts, repairable aircraft engine parts and fuel,
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2 Significant accounting policies continued

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand and deposits with any qualifying financial institution repayable on demand or maturing within three
months of the date of acquisition and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Employee benefits
Employee benefits, inclhuding pensions and other post-retirement benefits {principally post-retirement healthcare benefits) are presented in these
financial statements in accordance with IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’.

a  Pension obligations

The Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans, A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficlent assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employea service in the current and prior years.

Typically defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one ot
more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

The Group's net abligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for their sarvice in the current and prior years. The benefit is discounted to determine its present
value and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the balance sheet date on AA-rate corporate bonds of
the appropriate currency that have durations approximating those of the Group's obligations. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary
using the projected unit credit method. When the net obligation calculation results in an asset to the Group, the recognition of an asset is fimited
to the present value of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan (‘the asset ceiling)). The fair value of
scheme assets is based on market price information and, in the case of quoted securities, is the published bid price. The fair value of insurance
palicies which exactly match the amount and timing of same or alt benefits payable under the scheme are deemed to be the present value of the
relatad obligations. Longevity swaps are measured at their fair value.

Current service costs are recognised within employee costs in the year in which they arise. Past service costs are recognised in the event of a plan
amendment or curtailment, or when the Group recognises the related restructuring costs or severance obligations. The net interest is calculated
by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or
asset, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability or asset during the period as a result of contributions and benefit
payments. Net interest and other expenses related to the defined benefit plans are recognised in the income statement. Re-measurements,
comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset celling (excluding interest) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), are
recognised immediately in the statement of other comprehensive income. Re-measurements are not redlassified to the income statement in
subsequent periods.

b Severance obligations

Severance obligations are recognised when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises a provision for severance payiieiils when it is demonstrably
committed to either terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without realistic possibility of
withdrawal, or providing severance payments as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.

Other employee benefits are recognised when there is deemed to be a present obligation.

Share-based payments

IAG has a number of equity-settied share-based employee incentive plans in which certain of the Group's employees participate. Prior to the
merger with lberia, the awards were made under schemes operated by the Company and represented rights over its ordinary shares. These awards
rolled over into awards in respect of shares in IAG at the merger. The awards are made under schemes operated by [AG and represent rights over
its ordinary shares. The cost of these awards is recharged from IAG ta the Group and recognised in intercompany payables te IAG.
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2 Significant accounting policies continued

Taxation
Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
and Jaws that are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is recognised on all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and Kabilities and their carrying amounts in
the financial statements, with the following exceptions:

«  Where the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

s Inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries or associates, where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future; and

s  Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related
asset is realised or liability i€ settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Income tax is charged or credited directly to equity if it refates to items that are credited or charged to equity. Otherwise income tax is recognised
in the income statement or ather comprehensive income.

Provisions

Provisions are made when an obligation exists for a present liability in respect of a past event and where the amount of the obligation can be
rediably estimated. Restructuring provisions are made for direct expenditures of 2 business reorganisation where the plans are sufficiently detailed
and well advanced and where appropriate communication to those affected has been undertaken at the balance sheet date. If the effect is
material, expected future cash flows are discounted using a rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the provision. Where
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to unwinding the discount is recognised as a finance cost.

Fareign currency translation

a  Functional and presentational currency of the group

The individual financial statements of each group company are presented in the cuirency of the primary economic environment in which it
operates (jits functional currency). For the purpose of the consalidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each group
company are expressed In sterling, which is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financiat
statements.

b Transactions and bajances

Transactions in forelgn currencies are initially recorded in the Runctional currency, sterling, using the rate of exchange prevailing at the date of the
transaction. Monetary foreign currency balances are translated into sterling at the rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and translations as at balance sheet exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement except where hedge accounting is applied and on the translation of
foreign operations. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising on the retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities classified as non-current on the
balance sheet are recognised within 'net currency retranslation credits’ in the income statement. All other gains and losses arising on the
retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in operating profit.

¢ Group companies

The net assets of foreign operations are translated into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Profits and losses of such
operations are translated into sterling at average rates of exchange during the year. The resulting exchange differences are taken directly to a
separate component of equity until all or part of the interest is sald, when the relevant portion of the cumulative exchange is recognised in the
income statement.

Financial instruments

In accordance with IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, financial instruments are recorded initially at fair value. Subsequent remeasurement of those
instruments at the balance sheet date reflects the designation of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification at initial
recognition.

a  loans and receivablas

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets which are held within the business model to collect contractual cash flows. The
contractual terms of these assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective Interest method. This category of financial assets includes trade
and other receivables,

b  Equity investments

Equity investments are non-derivative financial assets including listed and unlisted investments, excluding interests in associates and joint ventures.
On initial recognition, these equity investments are irrevocably designated as measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. They
are subsequently measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income with no recycling of these gains and
losses to the income statement when the investment is sold. Dividends received on other equity investments are recognised in the income
statement.
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2 Significant accounting policies continued
Financial instruments continued

b  Equity Investments continuad
The fair value of quoted investments is determined by reference to published bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. Where
there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques.

¢ Derivatives financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivative financial instruments, comprising interest rate swap agreements, foreign exchange derivatives and fuel hedging derivatives (including
options, swaps and forwards), are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently measured at
fair value on the Group balance sheet. They are classified as financial instruments through profit and loss. The method of recognising the resulting
gain or loss arising from remeasurement depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item
being hedged (as detailed befow under cash flow hedges), The time value of options {s excluded from the designated hedging instrument and
accounted for as the time value of options. Movements in the time value of options are recognised in ather comprehensive income until the
underlying transaction affects the income statement,

Exchange gains and losses on monetary investments are takep to the income statement unless the item has been designated and is assessed as an
effective hedging instrument. Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary investments are reflected in equity.

d  Long term borrowings
Long-term borrowings are recorded at amortised cost, Certain leases contain interest rate swaps that are closely related to the underlying
financing and as such, are not accounted for as an embedded derivative.

e  Other Interest-hearing deposits
Other interest-bearing deposits, principally comprising funds held with banks and other financial institutions with contractual cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest, are carried at amartised cost using the effective interest methad.

f  Cash flow hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are reported in the income statement, unless the derivative financial instrument has
been designated as a hedge of a highly probable expected future cash flow. Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments designated as cash
flow hedges and assassed as effective, are recorded in equity. Gains and losses recorded in equity are reflected in the income statement when
either the hedged cash flow impacts the income statement or the hedged item is no longer expected to eccur, Ineffectiveness on cash flow
hedges is recognised in the income statement as derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting.

Certain loan repayment instalments denominated in US dollars, eure, Chinese yuan and Japanese yen are designated as cash flow hedges of highly
probable future foreign currency revenues. Exchange differences arising from the translation of these Joan repayment instalments are taken to
equity in accordance with IFRS 9 requirements and subsequently recorded in the income statement when either the future revenue impacts
income or Its occurrence is no longer expected to oceur.

g Impairment of financial assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group recognises provisions for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at amortised cost, based on
12-month or lifetime losses depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recogpnition. The simplified
approach, based on the calculation and recognition of lifetime expected credit losses, is applied to contracts that have a maturity of one year or
less, including trade recaivables.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
A financial asset or liability is generally derecognised when the contract that gives rise to it has been settled, scld, cancelled or has expired.

Where an existing financial Hability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing Jiability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of 2 new
liability, such that the difference in the respective carrying amounts are recognised in the income statement.

Exceptional items

Exceptional iterns (disclosed in note 5} are those that in management's view need to be disclosed separately by virtue of their size or incidence.
The exceptional items recorded in the income statement include items such as significant restructuring and one off past service costs and gains
arising from defined benefit plan amendments,

Leases
The Group leases various aircraft, properties and equipment. The lease terms of these assets are consistent with the determined useful economic
life of similar assets within property, plant and equipment,

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the maodified retrospective approach and therefore the comparative information has not been restated and
continues to be reported under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The details of accounting policies under {AS 17 and IFRIC 4 are disclosed separately if they are
different from those under IFRS 16 and the impact of changes Is discussed in note 36,

Policy applicable from I January 2019

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract [s, or contains, a lease. A contract is, o contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange far consideration,

Leases are recognised as a right of use (ROLU) asset and a corresponding lease liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.
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2 Significant accounting policies continued
Leases continued

Right of use (ROU) assets

At the lease commencement date a ROUl asset is measured at cost comprising the following: the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability; any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; any initial direct costs, and restaration
costs to return the asset ta its original condition.

The ROU asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful fife and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If ownership of the ROLI asset
transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease fiabilities

Lease liabilities are initiatly measured at their present value, which includes the following lease payments: fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable; variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate; amounts expected to be
payable by the Group under residual value guarantees; the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that option; and payments to be made
under reasonably certain extension options.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the Group's incremental
borrowing rate is used.

Each lease payment is allocated between the principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period
50 as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability for each period. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made.

The Group has elected not to recognise ROU assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
those leases of low-value assets. Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight line basis
as an expense in the income statement. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or fess that do not. contain a purchase option.
Low=value assets comprise IT-equipment and small items of office furniture.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not induded in the lease
liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and
adjusted against the ROLJ asset. Extension options are incuded in a number of alrcraft, property and equipment leases across the Group and are
reflected in the lease payments where the Group is reasonably certain that it will exercise the option.

The Group regularly uses sale and leaseback transactions to finance the acquisition of aircraft. Each transaction is assessed as to whether it meets
the criteria within IFRS 15 *Revenue from contracts with customers for a sale to have occurred. If a sale has occurred, then the associated asset is
de-recognised and 3 ROU asset and Jease liability is recognised, The ROLUl asset recognised is based on propaorticn of the previous carrying
amount of the asset that relates to the right of use retained by the seller-lessee. Any gains or losses are restricted to the amount that relates to
the rights that have been transferred to the counter party to the transaction. Where a sale has not occurred, the asset is retained an the bafance
sheet within property, plant and equipment, and an asset financed liability recognised equal to the financing proceeds.

Under the transitional requirements of IFRS 16 applying the modified retrospective method, the assets and liabilities on afl finance leases prior to
1 January 2019 were transferred into ROU assets and associated lease liabilities, From 1 January 2019 onwards, those new financing arrangements
with the following features that do not meet the recognition criteria as a sale under IFRS 15 are therefore not eligible for recognition under IFRS
16: the lassor has legal ownership retention as security against repayment and interest obligations; the Group initially acquired the aircraft or took a
major share in the acquisition process from the manufacture and in the view of the contractual conditions, it is virtually certain that the aircraft will
be purchased at the end of the lease term. Where new financing arrangements do not meet these recognition criteria due to the fact they are ‘in
substance purchases' and not leases, the related liability is recognised as an asset financed liability and the asset as an owned asset within property,
plant and equipment.

Policy applicable before [ january 2019

Where assets are financed through finance leases, under which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the Group,
the assets are treated as if they had been purchased outright. The amount included in the cost of property, plant and equipment represents the
ageregate of the capital elements payable during the lease term. The corresponding obligation, reduced by the appropriate proportion of lease
payments made, Is included in borrowings. The amount included in the cost of praperty, plant and equipment is depreciated on the basis described
in the preceding paragraphs on fleet and the interest element of lease payments made is included as an interest expense in the income statement.

Total minimum payments, measured at inception, under all other lease arrangements, known as operating leases, are charged to the income
statement in equal annual amounts over the period of the lease. In respect of aircraft, certain operating lease arrangements allow the Group to
terminate the leases after a limited initial periad, without further material financial obligations. In certain cases, the Group is entitled to extend the
initial lease period on predetermined terms; such leases are described as extendable operating leases.

In determining the appropriate classification, the substance of the transaction rather than the legal form is considered. Factors considered include
but are not limited to the following: whether the lease transfers ownership of the asset to the lassee by the end of the lease term; the lessee has
the option to purchase the asset at the price that is sufficiently lower than the fair value on exercise date; the lease term is for the major part of
the economic life of the asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments amounts to at least substantially all of the fair value of the
leased asset.
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2 Significant accounting policies continued
Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. These judgements, estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results in the future may differ from
judgements and estimates upon which financial information has been prepared. These underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if these are also affected.

Estimates
The estimates and assumptions that affect the current year or have a significant risk of causing a material adjustrnent within the next financial year
are as follows.

a  Impairment of non-financial assets
At 31 December 2019 the Group recognised £769 million {(2018: £767 million) in respect of intangible assets with an indefinite life, including
goodwill. Further infarmation on these assets is included in notes 15 and 16.

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting date. Goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite economic lives are tested for impairment annually and at other times when such indicators exist. The recoverable amount of
cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates as disclosed in
note 16.

Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there ate indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

b Employee benefit obligations, empioyee leaving indemnities, other employee related restructuring
At 31 December 2019 the Group recognised £443 million in respect of employee benefit assets (2018: £1,106 million) and £276 million In respect
of employee banefit obligations (2018: £258 million}. Further information on employee benefit obligations is disclosed in note 30.

The cost of employee benefit obligations, employee leaving indemnities and other employee related provisions is determined using actuarial
valuations. Actuarial valuations involve making assumptions about discount rates, expeacted rates of return on assets, future salary increases,
mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the long-term nature of these schemes, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.
The assumptions relating to these schemes are disclosed in note 30. The Group determines the assumptions to be adopted in discussion with
qualified actuaries. Any difference between these assumptions and the actual outcome will impact future net assets and COCI, The sensitivity to
changes in pension increase assumptions is disdosed in note 30.

Under Airways Pension Scheme (APS) and New Airwaye Pension Scheme (NAPS} Increases to pensions are based on the annual Government
Pension Increase (Review) Orders, which since 2011 have been based on the Consumer Prices Index (CPI). Additionally, in APS there is provision
for the Trustee to pay increases up to the level of the Retail Prices Index {RPl}, subject to certain affordability tests. Historically market
expectations for RP} could be derived by comparing the prices of UK government fixed-interest and index-linked gilts, with CPl assessed by
considering the Bank of England's inflation target and comparison of the construction of the two inflation indfces.

In February 2019, following the UK House of Lords Economic Affairs Committee repart on measuring inflation, the National Statistician concluded
that the existing methodology was unsatisfactory and proposed a number of options to the UK Statistics Authority {UKSA). In March 2019, the
LIKSA recommended to the UK Chancellor of the Exchequer that the publication of the RP| cease at a point to be determined in the future and in
the intervening period, the RPl be addressed by bringing in the methods of the CPIH (a propased variant to CPI). In September 2019, the UK
Chancellor of the Exchequer announced his intention to consult with the Bank of England and the UKSA on whether to implement these proposed
changes to RPI in the period of 2025 to 2030. On 13 January 2020, it was confirmed that the period of consultation will commence on 11 March
2020 for a period of six weeks.

Foliowing the aforementioned announcement in September 2018, market-implied break-even RPI inflation forward rates for periods after 2030
have reduced in the investmant market. Therefore, in assessing RPF and CPl from investment market data, allowatce has been made for partial
alignment between RPi and CPl from 2030 onwards.

On 26 October 2018 the High Court of jJustice of England and Wales issued a judgment in a claim between Lloyds Banking Group Pension Trustees
Limited as claimant and Lloyds Banking Group pic and athers as defendants (collectively referred to as the ‘Lioyds Bank case’) regarding the rights
of fermale members of certain pension schemes to equality of treatment in relation to pension benefits. The judgment in the Lloyd's Bank case
confirmed that pension schemes are required to equalise, with immediate application, for the effects of unequal Guaranteed Minimum Pension
(GMP) benefits accrued over the period since 17 May 1390 (“GMP equalisation”). As at 31 December 2018, piven the limited timescale from the
High Court judgment, the Group undertook a simplified approach to estimating the impact of the GMP. The APS and NAPS estimated DBO as at
31 December 2019 includes allowance for the estimated effect of GMP equalisation based on the assessments made by the respective APS and
NAPS Scheme Actuaries.
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2 Significant accounting policies continued
Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions continued
Estimates continued

¢ Passenger revenue recognition
At 31 Decembear 2019 the Group recognised £2,934 million in respect of deferred revenue an ticket sales (2018: £2,807 million) of which £43

million (2018: £61 million) related to customer loyalty programmes, as disclosed in note 21.

Passenger revenue is recognised when the transportaticn service is provided. Ticket sales that are nat expected to be used for transportation
(unused tickets'y are recognised as revenue using estimates regarding the timing of recognition based on the terms and conditions of the ticket
and historical trends.

d  Income taxes
At 31 December 2019 the Group recognised £423 million (2018: £335 million) in respect of deferred tax liabilities. Further information on current

and deferred tax liabilities is disclosed in note 10.

The Group recognises defarred income tax assets only to the extent that it is probable that the taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax losses can be utilised. Management considers the cperating performance in
the current year and the future projections of performance laid out in the approved business plan in order to assess the probability of
recoverability. The business plan relies on the use of assumptians, estimates and judgements in respect of future performance and economics.

e  Residual values and useful lives of assets
At 31 December 2019 the Group recognised £10,488 million (2018 £8,134 milfion) in respect of property, plant and equipment. Further
information on these assets s included in note 12,

The Group estimates useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment, including fleet assets, Useful lives and residual values are
reassessed annually taking into consideration the latest fleet plans and other business plan information. The assets are depreciated to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives.

Judgements

a Investment in associates
At 31 December 2019 the Group recognised £1,838 million {2018: £1,701 million) in respect of investments in associates. Further information on
these assets is Included in note 17.

The Group owns 13.55 per cent of the equity of IB Opco Holding S.L. {'Iberia’) and 86.26 per cent of the equity of Avios Group (AGL) Limited
(‘AGL’). The Group uses the equity method of accounting for its investments in these entities because under IFRS it is considered to have
significant influence but not control. Significant influence is defined as the power ta participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee but is not contral or joint control. The Group has significant influence over fberia, even though it holds [ess than 20 per cent of the
voting power of Iberia, due to its representation on the IAG Management Committee, the management committee of Iberia’s ultimate parent
company. The Group has significant influence over AGL due to representation on the AGL board as provided for by the gavernance agreement,
but not control as it does not have the power to direct the activities of AGL even though it holds more than 50 per cent of the voting power of
AGL.

b  Engineering 2nd other aircraft costs
At 31 December 2013, the Group recognised £445 million provisions (2018: £369 millicn) in respect of maintenance, restoration and handback,

Movements on the provisions are disclosed in note 24,

The Group has a number of contracts with service providers to replace or repair engine parts and for other maintenance checks. These
agreements are complex and generally cover a number of years. The Group exercises judgement in determining the assumptions used to match
the consumption of replacement spares and other costs assaciated with fleet maintenance with the appropriate income statement charge. Aircraft
maintenance obligations are based on aircraft utilisation, expected maintenance intervals, future maintenance costs and the aircraft’s condition.

¢ Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options

The Group determines the Jease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periads covered by an option to extend the
lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be
exercised. The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate
the lease. Such judgernent includes consideration of fleet plans which underpin approved business plans, and historic experience regarding the
extension of leases. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances
and affects the Groups ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate. Further information is given in note 13,



3 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
a New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effactive

The IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards, amendments and interpretations with an effective date after the year end of these
financial statements which management believe could impact the Group in future perieds. Unless otherwise stated, the Group plans to adopt the
following standards, interpretations and amendments on the date they become mandatary:

Amendments to references to conceptual framework in IFRS standards, effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020;
Definition of a business (amendments to IFRS 3), effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020;

Definition of material (amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8), effective for periods beginning an or after 1 January 2020; and

IFRS 17 insurance contracts, effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

* s 2w

In September 2019, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9, |AS 39 and IFRS 7, effective 1 January 2020, which concludes phase one of its work to
respond to the effects of Interbank Offered Rates (IBOR) reform on financial reporting. There is no current scheduled timescale for adoption by
the EU, The Group is currently assessing the impact of these amendments,
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4  Segment information

a Business segments

The Group's network passenger and cargo operations are managed as a single business unit. The Management Committee makes resource
allocation decisions based on route profitability, which considers aircraft type and route economics, based primarily by reference to passenger
economics with limited reference to cargo demand. The objective in mzking resource allocation decisions is to optimise consolidated financial
results. While the operations of certain subsidiaries are considered to be separate operating businesses, their activities are considered to be
sufficiently similar in nature to aggregate all segments. The primary financial information reviewed by the Management Committee is based on the
consolidated results of the Group. Based on the way the Group manages its operating business, and the manner in which resource altocation
decisions are made, the Group has only one reportable segment for financial reporting purposes, being the consolidated resuits of the Group's
airline operations.

b Geographical analysis - by area of original sale
Group
restated
£ milllion 2019 2018’
UK 6,575 6269
USA 2,73 2627
Rest of the world 3,984 4069
Revenue 13,290 12965

Please refer to note 36 for further detaits on the effect of restatement
The total of non-current assets excluding equity investments, employee benefit assets, other non-current assets and derivative financial

instruments located in the UK is £13,012 million (2018: £10,649 million), USA is £174 million (2018 £30 millicn) and the total of these non-currant
assets located in other countries is £234 million (2018: £223 million).

5 Exceptional items

Exceptional items are those that in management's view need to be disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence. The following items are deemed
to be exceptional:

Group
£ million 2013 2018
APS litigation settlement past service cast (583) -
Restructuring costs - 2
Net gain relating to dosure of pension schemes - 598
Guaranteed minimum pension past service cost - 83
Exceptional items (583) 394
The exceptional items hoted above relate to the following consolidated income statement categories:

Group
£ million 2019 2018
Employee costs (583) £06
Property, IT and other costs - {i2)
Exceptional items (583) 394

The exceptional expense of £583 million relates to the past service cost of the APS settlament agreement described in note 30 on page 83. This
amount arose from the increase In the IAS {9 defined benefit liability of APS following the settlement agreement between the Frustee Directors
of APS which was approved by the High Court in November 2019, The settlement agreement established higher pensions in payment growth
assumptions in future years, resulting in a non-cash increase to the IAS 19 defined benefit liability.

In 2018, the exceptional gain of £394 million included the one-off reduction of the NAPS IAS 19 defined benefit liability of £770 million following
the closure of NAPS to future accrual in March 2018. This was offset by other cash casts of £172 million linked to the closure of the NAPS and
BARP schemas. The remaining 2018 exceptional cost related to the transformation programme costs of £121 million and an £83 million cost of
equalising for the effects of Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (GMP). On 26 October 2018 the High Court of justice of England and Wales issued a
judgment n a claim by | loyds Banking Group Pension Trustees Limited as claimant to Lloyds Bank plc and others as defendants regarding the
rights of female members of certain pension schemes to equality of treatment in relation to pension benefits. The judgment concluded that the
claimant is under a duty to amend the schemes in order to equalise benefits for men and women in relation to Guaranteed Minimum Pension
(GMP) benefits,
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6  Expenses by nature

Operating profit is arrived at after charging/{crediting}:

Depreciaticn, amortisation and impairmeant of non-current assets:

Group
£ million 2019 2018
Owned assets 523 516
Right of use assets (2018 Finance leased aircraft)’ 488 184
Other jeasehold interests A0 28
Amortisation of intangible assets 55 58
Depreciation, amortisation and fmpafrment 1,106 786
Operating leases costs*
Group
£ million 2019 2018
Minimum lease rentals - aircralt - 233
- property and equipment - 130
Property and aquipment sub-lease rentals received - 4
Operating leasa costs - 359
T All finance leased assets were transferred into right of use assets on 1 January 2019 on transition to IFRS 16. See note 13 for details.
2These are not applicable for 2019 following tranisition to IFRS16 on 1 January 2019. See note 13 for amounts recognised in the consofidated income statemment.
Cost of inventories:
Group
£ million 2019 2018
Cast of invantories recagnised as ar; axpense, mainly fuel 2,138 1850
7  Aauditot's remuneration
Group
£°'000 2019 2018
Fees payable to the Group's auditor for the audit of the Group's accounts 1,486 1434
Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates for other services:
Audit of the Group's subsidiaries pursuant to legislation - UK 181 169
Audit of the Group's subsidiaries pursuant to legislation - Worldwide 2 29
Other services pursuzant to legislation 163 150
Other assurance services 438 318
Services relating to corporate finance transactions 139 80
2,436 2180

Fees payable to the Group's auditor for the audit of the Group's pension schemes total £50,000 (2018: £39,000).

Remuneration receivable by the Company's auditor for the supply of services to associates of the 1AG Group to support the apinion on the Group
accaunts have not been included as these are included within the Group audit fee disclosure of the Parent Company, international Consclidated

Alrlines Group S.A.
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8 Employee costs and numbers

a Employee costs

The average number of persons employed during the year was as follows:

Group Company

Number 2019 2018 2019 2018
UK 38,562 38539 36,273 36,240
Overseas 3,760 3845 2,515 2634
42,322 42384 38,788 3B 874

£ millicn 2019 2018 2019 2018
Wages and salaries 1,657 667 1,551 1566
Soclal security costs 206 200 196 189
Costs related to pension schame benefits {(note 30b) 162 184 161 176
Other employee casts 504 484 483 463
Tatal employea costs 2,529 2535 2,391 2394

Included in ‘other employee costs' is a total expense for share-based payments of £7 million (2018: £6 million) that arises from transactions
accounted for as equity-settled share-based payments (see note 28). Other employee costs include allowances and accommodation for crew.

Note 5 shows an exceptional charge of £583 million relating to the APS litigation settiement past service cost. Including this exceptional item
results in total employee costs of £3,112 million. In 2018, including the exceptional items that related to NAPS scheme closure as described in note

5 resulted in total employee costs of £2,129 million.

b Directors’ emoluments
Group
£ mitlion 2019 2018
2 2

Dlrectors' remuneration

During the year, five Directors {2018: four) of the Company were employed and remunerated by IAG and three (2018: two) were recharged to the
Company accordingly.

The aggregate emoluments for the highest paid Director were borne by 1AG. The highest paid Director's aggregate emoluments for the year
amounted to £996,000 (2018; £1,287,000).

During the year no Directors (2018; none) accrued benefits under 2 defined benefit pension scheme and one Director {2018 none) accrued
benefits under a defined contribution pension scheme. There were pension contributions of £27,000 made during the year (2018: £nil).

Five Directors (2018: four) participated in AG's Long Term Incentive Schemes and five exercised awards during the year (2018: four).

c Remuneration of key management personnel

Compensation of key management personnel (which includes the Directors and Management Committee of the Group):

Group and Company

£ miflion 2019 2018
Short-term employee benefits 6 6
Share-based payments 2 2
8 8

At 31 Dacember
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9 Finance costs and income

a Finance costs
Group
£ million 2019 2018
Interest expenses an;
Bank borrowings 8) Hoo
Asset financing liabilities (3] -
Lease liabilities (2018: finance lease obligations)' {220) [108)
Provisions unwinding of discaunt (U] I
Other borrowings {3) 9
Capitalised interest on progress payments” 15 173
Finance costs {219) (116}
! Associated with IFRS 16 which became effective as at 1 January 2019,
2 |nterest costs on progress payments were capitalised at a rate based on the Landon Interbank Offered Rate (L.IBOR) plus the rate spacific to the borrowings.
b Finance income
Group
£ millfion 2019 2018
Interest on other investments and interest-bearing deposits (financial assets not at fair valve through income statement) 36 25
Other finance income - 7
Finance income 36 32
c Other non-operating credits/{charges}
Group
£ million 2019 2018
Gain/(loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment and investments 3 )
Credir relating to equity investments i 5
Realised gains on derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting 4 10
Unreatised gains/({losses) on derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting - o
Finance income 10 3
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10 Tax

a Tax on ordinary activities

Tax charge in the income statement, other comprehensive income and Statement of changes in equity

E million 2019 2018

Income comprehgi?\z su;?;:r; ?r: Total Income commehg?:; Stact::‘n:;?: Total
statement Income equity statement incame equity

Currant tax

Mavement in respect of prior years 12 @ - 5 7 - - 7

Movement in respect of current year (341) 141 - (200) (299) 120 - (171)

Total current tax (329) 134 - {195) (284) 120 - (164)

Deferrad tax

Mavement in respect of prior years {7 - - N 7 - - 7

Movernent in respect of current year {16) (94) 1) (11) (91) 130 - 39

Rate change 2 2 - 4 3 {12) - 9

Tatal defarred tax (21) (92) {1 {114} (81) 18 - a7

Total tax {350) 42 W (309) (365) 238 - (127)

The tax charge on continuing operations for 2019 includes £nil tax charge in relation to exceptional items {see note 5, 2018 £28 million tax

charge). Current tax in other comprehensive income relates to employee benefit plans.

b Current tax (liability)

£ million 2019 2018
Balance at 1January (144) {16}
Income statement (329) (284)
Other comprehensive income 134 120
Cash 195 137
Exchange movements and other 2 [t;
Balance at 31 December (142) 144)
Current tax liability (142) 144}
Balance at 31 December (142) (44
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10 Tax continued

C Deferred tax

Dieferced tax asset/{liabllity)

Deferred tax Employes

ot ML ictonon ooy | i Fevbnitl T anpay ool
wransition others schemes differences
Balznce at 1 fanuary 2019 (568} - - A 32 78 3 0} 335)
Adjustments arising on adoption of IFRS 16 35 {235) 25 - - - - - 26
income statement B (16} (5] {9} i - - ] {21)
Other comprehensive income - - - - 2 {94) - - {92
Statemant of changes in equity - - - - - - m - U]
Exchange movements and other 1 - - 2 ] - 1 1 -
Balance at 31 December 2019 {324} {@51) 20 1o 34 84 3 1 {423)
Batance at 1 January 2018 (581) - - 12 114 58 4 2 @7
Incame statement 13 - - 9 @1 1 m (e24] [CD]
Other comprehensive income - - - - )] 19 - - 1138
Balance at 31 Dacamber 2018 (568) - - 21 32 178 3 [(}} {335)

Within tax in Other comprehensive income is a tax charge of £102 milion (2018: tax credit of £113 million) that may be reclassified to the income
statement and a tax credit of £144 million {2018: tax credit of £125 million) that may not.

d Reconciliation of the total tax charge in the income statement
In accordance with bilateral tax treaties the Group's profits are maiply taxed in the UK. Therefore, the tax charge is calculated at the standard rate

of UK corporation tax. The tax charge on the profit for the year to 31 December 2019 is higher {2018: lower} than the expected tax charge at the
UK rate. The Group's effective tax rate js 24.0% (2018: 14.9%) and the differences to the UK rate are explained below:

£ million 2018 2018
Accounting profit before tax 1,459 2456

Tax calculated at the standard rate of corporation tax in the Ul of 19.00%

(2018: 19.00%) (277} {467
Effect of tax rate changes 2 3
Employee benefit plans accounted for net of withholding tax - non-recurring (H1) 46
Employee benefit plans accounted for net of withholding tax - recurring 5 2
Euro preferred securities accounted for as non-controlling interests - 2
Investment credit - 4
Movemnent in respect of prior years 5 14
Non-deductible expenses - recurring items ) f#/}
Other items 1 2
Tax on associates’ profits 32 31
Tax charge in the income statement {350) {365)
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10 Tax continued

e  Other taxes

The Group was also subject to other taxes and charges paid are as follows:

£ million 2019 2018
Payroll related taxes 206 200
UK Air Passenger Duty 783 720
989 920

f  Factors that may affect future tax charges

Linrecagnised temporary differances - losses

£ million 2019 2018
UK capital losses 284 284

Unrecognised temporary differences - investment in subsidiaries and associates

No deferred tax liability has been recognised in respect of £993 million {2018: £855 million} of temporary differences relating to subsidiaries and
associates. The Group either controls the reversal of these temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable

future or no tax consequences wauld arise from their reversal.

Tax rate changes

Reductions in the UK corparation tax rate to 19% (effective from 1 April 2017) and ta 18% (effective 1 April 2020} were substantively enacted on
26 October 2015 and an additional reduction to 17% (effective 1 April 2020) was substantively enacted on 6 September 2016. This will reduce the
Group's future current tax charge accordingly. The deferred tax on temporary differences as at 31 December 2019 has been calculated at the rate

applicable to the year in which the temporary differances are expected to reverse,

g  Tax contingent liabilities

The Group has certain contingent tax liabilities which at 31 December 2018 amounted to £69 million {31 December 2018: €54 million). The Group
files income and other tax returns in many jurisdictions throughout the world. Tax returns contain matters that are subject to differing
interpretations of tax laws and regulations, which may give rise to queries from and disputes with tax authorities. The resclution of these queries
and disputes can take several years but the Group does not currently expect any material impact on the Group's finandial position or results of
operations to arise from such resolution. The extent to which there are open queries and disputes depends upon the jurisdiction and the issue.

11  Dividends

Company

£ miflion 2018 2018
First interim dividend;
Al Ordinary shares: £113,64 per share (2018 £109.27) 102 98
A2 Ordinary shares: £113.64 per share (2018: £109.27) 1" i
C Ordinary shares: £113.64 per share {2018: £109.27) 17 16
Second interim dividend:
Al Ordinary shares: £113.64 per share (2018: £109.27) 102 95
A2 Ordinary shares: £113.64 per share (2018; £109.27) 11 1
C Ordinary shares: £113.64 per share (2018: £109.27) 7 16
Third interim dividend;
Al Ordinary shares; £87.41 per share (2018; £218.54) 78 196
A2 Ordinary shares: £87.41 per share (2018; £218.54) 9 22
C Ordinary shares: £87.41 per share (2018; £218.54) 1 32
Fourth interim dividend:
Al Ordinary shares; £196,568 per share (2018. E65.56) 176 59
A2 Ordinary shares: £196.68 per share (2018: E65.56) 20 6
C Ordinary shares: E196.68 par share (2018: £65.56) 29 10

585 575
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12  Property, plant and equipment

a Group
Group
£ miflion Fleet Property Equipment Total
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2018 74829 1637 223 17389
Additions 200 64 37 1085
Disposals {(B53) - 37 (690)
Balance as at 31 December 2018 15166 170! 917 17,784
Adoption of IFRS 16" 2,152 583 25 2,760
Balance at { January 2018 17,318 2284 942 20,544
Additians 1772 54 52 1,878
Modification of leases a7 82 - 179
Disposals {825) {31 {10) (B66)
As at 31 December 2019 18,362 2,389 984 21,735
Depreciation and impalrment
Balance at 1 January 2018 7894 852 705 9451
Charge for the yaar 654 F9 75 728
Disposals {493) - (36) (529)
Balance as at 31 Decamber 2018 80585 F7 704 QE50
Adoption of IFRS 16 958 - 2 960
Balance at { january 2019 9013 a1 706 10,610
Charge for the year as4 124 43 1,051
Dispasals (373; (32} &1 (414)
As at 31 December 2019 9,524 983 740 1,247
Net book amaunts
31 December 2019 8,838 1,406 244 10,488
31 December 2018 FALH 810 213 8134
Analysis as at 31 December 2019
Owned 2716 718 172 3,606
Right of use assets'? 43912 594 28 5534
Asset financed 402 - - 402
Progress payments 808 94 44 946
8838 1406 244 10,488
Analysis as at 31 December 2018
Qwned 2836 704 159 3863
Finance leases” 3731 - 8 2739
Progress payments ) f44 106 35 586
1 810 213 8,134
Group
£ million 2019 2018
The nat book amount of property comprisas!
Freehold 325 223
Right of use assets' 594 -
Lang-leasehald improvements 272 297
Short-leasehold improvements® 215 290
As at 31 Decernber 1,406 810

I Refer to note 13 for right of use assets and Note 36 for transition as on 1 January 2019
2 All finance leases were transferred into right of use on 1 january 2019 on transition to IFRS 16. See note 13 for details.
3 Shart-leasehold impravements relate ta leasehold interests with a duration of less than 50 years.

At 31 December 2019, bank and other loans of the Group are secured on fleet assets with a net book amount of £275 million (2018: £311 millicn).
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12 Property, plant and equipment continued

b Company
Company
£ million Fleat Property Equipment Total
Cost
Balance at 1jJanuary 2018 14,298 1552 200 18,7571
Additions 986 64 29 Lo79
Disposals {572} - (37) {609)
Balance as at 31 December 2018 14712 11174 832 17,221
Adoption of IFRS 16" 1,994 579 24 2,597
Balance at 1 Januvary 2019 15,706 2,196 916 19818
Additions 1,756 48 43 1,847
Meodification of leases 97 82 - 179
Disposals (820) 1) (10) (861)
As at 31 December 2019 17,739 2,295 949 20,983
Depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1January 2018 7585 802 688 8075
Charge for the year 634 38 34 706
Disposals (422) - (37) 459
Balance as at 31 December 2018 747 840 685 2322
Adapticn of IFRS 16} 828 - 2 830
Balance 2t 1 January 2019 8,625 840 637 10,152
Charge for the year 849 21 41 1,011
Disposals {371) (30) {10} (411)
As at 31 December 2019 9,103 931 718 10,752
Net book amounts
31 December 2019 8,636 1,364 231 10,231
31 December 2018 5915 /4 207 7859
Analysis as at 31 December 2018
Qwned 2,538 685 158 3,381
Right af use agsets*? 4889 585 27 5501
Asset financed 402 - - 402
Progress payments 807 94 46 947
8536 1,364 231 10,231
Analysis as at 31 December 2048
Owned 2740 671 63 3574
Finance leases? I 731 - 8 3739
Progress payments 444 106 36 586
6915 777 207 7899
Company
£ million 2018 2018
The net boak amount of property comprises:
Freehold 292 Iso
Right of use agsecs’ 585 -
Long-teasehold improvements 272 257
Short{easehold improvements® 215 290
As at 31 December 1,364 777

'Refer to note 13 for right of use assets and Note 36 for transition on 1 January 2019
2 Al finance leases were transferred into right of use on 1 fanuary 2018 on transition to IFRS 16. See nate {3 for details,
3 Shore-leasehold improvements relate to leasehold interasts with a duration of less than 50 years.

At 31 December 2019, bank and other loans of the Company are secured on fleet assets with a net book amaunt of £275 million (2018: £288 million).
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13 Leases
a Group
{iy Amounts recognised in the halance sheet

Group
£ million Fleet Property Equipment Tatal
Cost
Balance as at | January 2019 205¢ 583 42 7683
Additions 384 7 6 397
Modification of leases 97 82 - 179
Disposals (4} - - 4}
Reclassifications (201) - - (200
Ags at 31 December 2019 13371 672 55 8,054
Depreciation
Balance as at 1 January 2019! 2126 - 8 2144
Charge for the year 40/ 78 9 488
Disposals 4) - - “)
Reclassifications (108} - - {108)
As at 31 December 2013 2415 78 27 2,520
Net book value
1 fanuary 2019 4525 583 31 5539
31 December 2019 4,912 594 28 5,534

"The net book value of ROU assets recognised at 1 January 2019 includes £3.7 billion in respect of assets previously financed through finance leases before the adoption
of IFRS 16 {split between E4.9 billion at cost and E1.2 billian of accumulated depreciation). In 2018 the Group only recognised lease assets and labilities in relation to leases
that were classified as finance leases under IAS 17 Leases. The assets were presented in property, plant and equipment and the lease liabifities in long term borrowings.

Interest-bearing long-term borrowings includes the following amounts relating to lease liabilities:

Group
£ million Total
Fimance lease Fabilities 31 December 2018 4108
IFRS 16 liability 1 January 2019 1,891
Additions 378
Modification of leases 145
Repayments {850)
interest expense 220
Exchange movemnents (246)
Leasa liabilities 31 Decembar 2019 5,647
Current 869
Nan-current 4778

'See note 36 for impact on transition.
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13 Leases continued
a Group continued
(i} Amounts recognised in the consclidated income statement

Group

£ million 2019
Variable lease payments 4
Short-term leases 36
Interest on lease liabilities 220
Gains arising from sale and leaseback transactions 3
488

Depreciation

(i) Amounts recognised in the Group consolidated cash flow statements

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of £669 million in 2019.

The Group is exposed to future cash outflows {on an undiscounted basis) as at 31 December 2019, far which no amount has been recognised, in
relation to leases not yet commenced to which the Group is committed of £448 million.

(iv)  Maturity profile of the Jease liabilities

The maturity profile of the lease liabilities is disclosed in note 25.

(v) Operating |ease commitments

From 1 january 2019, the Group has recognised ROU assets and lease liabilities for the leases it has entered into (except for short-term and low-value
lease) and accordingly, no longer presents operating lease commitments. Having applied the medifiad retrospective approach to the implementation

of IFRS 16, the Group has continued to present the comparative financial information for the aggregate payments, for which there were commitments
under operating leases as fallows as at 31 December 2018;

2018

Property, plant
£ million Flest and equiprment Toral
Within ane year 241 106 347
Between one and five years 665 237 902
Over five years 400 1,690 2,090
Total 1,306 2,033 3,339
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13 Leases continued
a Group continued

{vi)  Obligations under finance leases

On implementation of IFRS 16, those leases previously recognised as finance leases were reclassified to ROU assets and lease liabilities and are
included in section (i} of this note. Accordingly, the Group no fonger presents obligations under finance Jeases. Having applied the modified
retrospective approach to the implementation of IFRS 18, the Group has continued to present the comparative financial information for the aggregate
payments, for which there were future minimum [ease payments as follows:

£ million 2018
Future minimum payments due:
Within ane year 543
After more than one year but within five years 2261
in five years or more 1895
4,703
Less: finance charges 595
Present value of minimum Jease payments 4,108

The present value of minimum lease payments is analysed as follows:

Within one year 425
After more than one year but within five years 1911
In five years or more 1,772
As at 31 December 2018 4,108

(vii) Extensions

The Group has certain leases which contain extension options axercisable by the Group prior to the non-cancellable contract period. Where
practicable, the Group seeks to include extension options in new leases to provide operational flexibility. The Group assesses at lease cormmencement
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options.

The Group is exposed ta future cash outflows {on an undiscounted basis) as at 31 December 2019, for which no amount hias been recognised, for
potential extension options of £635 miliion due to it not being reasonably certain that these leases will be extended.
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13 Leases
b Company
@) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

Company
£ million Fleet Property Equipment Total
Cost
Balance as at 1 January 2019 6893 579 48 7520
Additions 373 1 5 380
Modification of leases 97 82 - 179
Disposals (4} - - (4
Redlassifications (201) - - {209
As at 31 Decembyr 2019 7,158 662 54 7,874
Depreciation
Balance asat 1 January 2019 1,996 - 18 2,014
Charge for the year 385 v 9 471
Disposals 4) - - 4
Reclassifications (108) - - (108)
As at 31 December 2018 2,269 77 27 2,373
Net bock valua
i January 2019 4,897 579 30 5506
31 Dacember 2018 4,889 585 27 5,501

The net book value of ROU assets recognised at | January 2019 includes £3.7 billion in respect of assets previously financed through finance leases before the adoption of
IFRS 16 (split between £4.9 billion at cost and 1,2 billion of accumulated depreciation). In 2018 the Company only recognised lease assets and liabilities in relation to leases
that were classifiad as finance leases under IAS 17 Leases. The assets were presented in property, plant and equipment and the lease fiabllities n the Company's leng term

borrowings.

interest-bearing long-term borrowings includes the following amounts refating to lease liabilities:

Company
£ milllon Total
Finance lease liabilities 31 December 2018 415
IFRS 16 liability | January 20191 1,860
Additions 361
Modification of leases 146
Repayments {842)
Interest expense 219
Exchange movemants (244)
Lease liabilitiac 31 Dacamber 2019 5615
Current B55
Nan-curreat 4,760

'See note 36 for impact on transition.
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13 Leases continued
b Company continued
()] Amounts recognised in the income statement

Company
£ million 2019
Short-term leases 28
Interest on lease labilities 219
Gains arising from sale and leaseback transactions 3
Depreciation 471

(iii)  Amounts recognised in the company cash flow statements

The Company had total cash outflows for leases of £661 million in 2019,

The Company is exposed £ future cash outflows (on an undiscounted basis} as at 31 December 2018, for which no amount has been recognised, in
relation to leases not yet commenced to which the Company is committed of £423 million.

(iv) Maturity profile of the lease liabilities

The maturity profile of the lease ¥iabliities are disclosed in note 25.

(v) Operating lease commitments

From 1 January 2019, the Company has recognised ROU assets and lease liabilities for the leases it has entered into {except for shori-term and low-
value lease) and accordingly, no longer presents operating lease commitments. Having applied the modified retrospective approach to the

impfementation of (FRS 16, the Company has continued to present the comparative financial information for the aggregate payments, for which there
were commitments under aperating teases as follows as at 31 December 2018:

2018
Property, plaat
£ million Heet __and equipment Total
Within one year 228 160 228
Between one and five years &51 227 878
Over five years 400 1,689 2,089
Tatal 1,278 2,016 3,205

{vi) Obligations under finance leases

On implementation of IFRS 16, those leases previously recognised as finance leases were reclassified to ROU assets and lease liabilities and are
included In section (i} of this note. Accordingly, the Company no longer presents obligations under finance leases, Having applied the modified
retrospective approach to the implementation of IFRS 16, the Company has continued to present the comparative financial information for the
aggregate payments, for which there were future minimum lease payments as follows:p

£ million 2018
Future minimum payments due:
Within one year 550
After more than one year but within five years 2261
in five years or more 1,899
47710
Less: finance charges 505
Present value of minimum lease payments 4,115

The present value of minlmum lease payments Is analysed as follows:

Within one year 432
After more than one year but within five years 1917
In five years or more L772
As at 31 Decembar 2018 4115
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13 Leases continued

b Company continued
(vii)  Extensions

The Company has certain leases which contain extension options exercisable by the Company prior to the non-cancellable contract period. Where
practicable, the Company seeks to include extension options in new leases to provide operational flexibility. The Company assesses at lease
commencement whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options.

The Company is exposed to future cash outflows {on an undiscounted basis) as at 31 December 2018, for which no amount has been recagnised, for
potential extension options of £635 million due ta it not being reasonably certain that these leases will be extended.

14 Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure authorised and contracted for but not provided for in the accounts amounts to £6,497 miflion for the Group {2018: £4,889 million)
and £6,484 million for the Company (2018: £4,881 million). The majority of capital expenditure commitrents are denominated in US dollars and as
such the commitments are subject to exchange movements.

The outstanding commitments include £6,369 million for the acquisition of 17 Airbus A320s and A321 neos (from 2020 to 2022), 14 Airbus A350s
{from 2020 to 2022}, 12 Boeing B787s {from 2020 to 2023) and 18 Baeing B777s (from 2020 to 2025).

15 Intangible assets

a Group
Group
£ million Goodwill Landing rights Emissions Software Total

altowances
Cost
Balance at | January 2018 40 593 5 583 13232
Additions - 49 28 68 145
Disposals - - 0 “) {4
Balance as at 31 Decernber 2018 40 742 34 647 1463
Additions - - 36 80 16
Disposals - - 34 4 (38)
As at 31 December 2019 40 742 36 73 1.54
Amortisation
Balance at 1 January 2018 - 49 - 292 341
Charge far the year - - - 58 38
Dispasals - - - 3 {3)
Balance as at 31 December 2018 - 49 - 347 396
Charge far the year - - - 55 55
Dispasals - - - (4) {4)
As at 31 Dacember 2019 - 49 - 398 447
Net book amounts

31 December 2019 40 693 36 325 1,094
31 December 2018 40 693 34 300 1067
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15 Intangible assets continued

b Company
Company
£ millian Landing rights Emissions Software Total
allowances

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2018 693 i6 559 1268
Additions 49 28 63 140
Disposals - (o) Ic)] (14}
Balance as at 31 December 2018 742 34 618 (394
Additions - 36 74 10
Disposals - (34) ) (38
As at 31 December 2019 742 35 6838 1,466
Amartisation

Balance at 1 January 2018 49 -~ 278 37
Charge for the year - - 55 55
Dispasals - - {4 )
Balance as at 31 December 2018 49 - 329 378
Charge for the year - - 51 51
Disposals - - (4} (4}
As at 31 December 2013 49 - 376 425
Nat book amounts

31 December 2019 693 36 312 1,041
31 December 2018 653 34 289 1076

16 Impairment of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets

An annual impairment review is conducted on all intangible assets that have an indefinite economic life. Goodwill and landing rights based within the EU
are considered to have an indehnite economic life. The irmpairment review is carried out at the level of a ‘cash-generating unit’ (CGL), defined as the
smallest identifiable group of assats, lfabilities and associated intangible assets that generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash flows
from other assets or groups of assets. On this basis, an impairment review has been conducted on one (2018: one) CGU. An impaitment review was
performed on the network airline operations CGU, including passenger and cargo operations out of all operated airports, as well as alf related ancillary
operations as it contains both goodwill and landing rights within the EUL

An impairment review involves the comparison af the carrying value of the CGU to the recoverable amount. An impairment charge is recognised to the
extent that the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount.

a Natwork airline operations
2019 2018
Emissions Landing Emissions Landing
£ million allowances rights Goodwill Total allowances rights Goodwill Toral
Network airline operations 36 693 40 769 34 693 40 767

The recoverable amount of the network airline operations has been measured based on the value-in-use, using a discounted cash flow model. Cash
flow projections are based on the business plan approved by the Board covering a three-year pericd. Cash flaw projections are prepared for a five year
period for the purposes of impairment review. This is projected to increase in line with the long-term growth rate of the main economies in which BA
operates. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is derived from the Group's post-tax weighted average cost of capital, adjusted
for the risks spedific to the assats.

No impafrment charge has arisen as a result of the review performed on the network airline operations. No reascnable possible change in the key

assumptions for the network aitine operation would cause the carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite economic life to
exceed the recoversble amount.
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16 Impairment of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets continued

a Network airline operations continued

Key assumptions

2019

Pre-tax discount rate (derived from the Jong-term weighted average cost of capital)
Long-term growth rate

8.0%
22%

The operating margins are based on the estimated effects of planned business efficiency and business change programmes, approved and enacted at
the balance sheet date. The trading environment is subject to both regulatory and competitive pressures that can have a material effect on the

operating performance of the business.

b Impairment of fleet

During the year ended 31 December 2019 no impairment charge was recognised,

17 Investments

a Group

A summary of the Group's investments in associates accounted for using the equity methed is shown below:

£ million 2018
Balance at | January 1,701
Exchange differences (13)
Share of attributable results 170
Share of movements in comprehensive income of associates 6
Dividends received' (26)
As at 31 Decembar 1,838

The Group received dividends, net of withholding tax, of £26 million (2018: £15 million) from Iberia and Dunwoody.

Percentage of

equity owned Principal activities Holding principal operations
1B Opco Holding, S.L. (Iberia’) 1355 Airline operations Ordinary
shares
Avios Group (AGL) Limited {AGL) 8626 pirlne morketing  OTONaY

At 31 December 2019 there are no restrictions on the ability of associates or joint ventures to transfer funds to the parent and there are no related

contingent fiabilitias.

Country of incorporation and




17 Investments continued

The following summarised financial information of the Group's investment in material associates is shown below:

Group
£ miffion 2019 2018
therla AGL. theria AGL
Non-current assets 4,851 229 325614 36
Current assets 2,542 1,675 2532 1813
Current liabilities (2.529) (1,871) 2401 (1,962
Non-current liabilities {3,346) (5) £2.330) £
Net equity 1,518 28 1415 (115
Group's share of net equity 206 24 92 {99)
Goodwill attributable to investments in associates 8 1,598 8 1598
Total Investment in associates 214 1,622 200 1495
The Group's carrying amaunt af investments in other associates was £2 miliion (2018: £2 million).
Revenues 5,083 817 4,676 750
Operating costs {4.660) (641) (4.291) (604)
Other income and costs {including tax) (92) (32) 19 (27)
Net profit after tax 331 144 366 129
Other comprehensive income/{expense) 92 [{)] (200) )
Total comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) 423 143 166 127

The Group's share of total comprehensive income of other associates was £1 million {2018 fess than E1 million)
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17 Investments continued

b Company
A summary of the Company's investments in subsidiaries is set out below:
Company
£ million Cost Pravisions 2019 2018
Balance at 1 January 1,652 (374) 1,278 1278
As at 31 December 1,652 (374) 1,278 1278
The Group and Company's investments in subsidiaries, assaciates and other investments are listed on pages 94 and 95.
A summary of the Company’s investments in associates is set out below:
Company
Fotal Total
£ milkion 2019 2018
As at 31 December 1,563 1563
18 Equity investments
Group Company
E million 2019 2018 2019 2018
Listed securitles
Comair Limited 9 16 - -
Unlisted securities (see note 26b) 40 40 40 40
Equity investments 49 56 40 40

Equity investments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, with no recyding of gains and losses to the income statement.
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19 Trade receivables and other assets

Other non-current assets are set out below:

Group Company
£ million 2019 2018 2019 2078
Prepayments and accried income 84 22 84 22
Other receivables 12 10 " w0
L oans owed by parent 95 108 95 og
Loans owed by fellow group undertakings - 20 - 50
Other non-current assets 191 300 190 300

Trade receivables and other current assets are set out below:

Group Company
£ million 2018 2018 2019 2018
Trade receivables 1,232 22 1,216 207
Pravision for expected credit losses (30 21 (30) 2y
Met trade receivables 1,202 [0t 1,186 286
Prepayments and accrued income 538 419 51 402
Other receivables 136 125 13 124
Loans owed by ultimate parent 9 g 9 g
Loans owed by fellow group undertakings - 9t - g1
Amounts owed by subsidiaries - - 65 21
Trade recefvables and other current assets 1,885 1545 1,902 [533

The credit risk exposure on the Group and Company's trade recelvables is set out below. Trade receivables are generally non-interest bearing and on

30 day terms (2018: 30 days).

Group
2019 Current <30 days 30-60 days >60 days Total
Trade receivables 755 141 48 288 1232
Expected credir loss rate 0.01% 0.44% 0.02% 10.17% 2.43%
Net trade receivables 755 141 48 258 1,202
Group
2018 Current <30 days 30-60 days >60 days Tatal
Trade receivables 824 18 io 69 922
Expected cradit loss rate 0.01% a06% 19.69% 28.21% 233%
Net trade raceivables 824 18 8 50 01
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19  Trade receivables and other assets continued

The credit risk exposure on the Company's trade receivables is set out below:

Company
2019 Current <30 days 30-50 days »60 days Total
Trade receivables 741 140 47 288 1216
Expetcted credit loss rate 0.01% 0.44% 0.02% 10.18% 2.46%
Net trade receivables 74 139 47 259 1,186
Company
2018 Current <30 days 30-60 days >60 days Total
Trade receivables 810 19 9 69 807
Expected credit loss rate 00% 0.06% 19.78% 2833% 237%
Net trade receivables BI0 19 7 50 886
Trade receivables are generally non-interest-bearing and on 30 day terms (2018: 30 days).
20 Cash, cash equivalents and other current interest-bearing deposits
a Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company
E million 2018 2018 2018 2018
Cash at bank and in hand 1,243 119z 1,143 L4
Shert-term deposits falfing due within three months 15 135 15 135
Cash and cash equivalents 1,258 1327 1,158 1249
Other current interest-bearing deposits maturing after three months 1,330 LI75 1,330 1175

Short-term deposits are made for periods up to three months depending on the cash requirements of the Group and earn interest based on the money
market rates at the time the deposits are made. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is £1,258 miltion for the Group (2018: £4,327 million) and

£1,158 million for the Company (2018: £1,249 million).

At 31 December 2015, the Group and Company had no outstanding bank overdrafts (2018: Enil).

Other current interest-bearing deposits are made for periods in excess of three months with maturity typically within twelve months and earn interest
based on the market rates available at the time the deposits are made.

b Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

Group

Balance at 1 IFRS16 Opening

Exchange New leases and

Balance at 31

January 2019 adjustments Cash flows movements modifications Non-cash Decamber 2019
Bank, other loans and asset financed liabilittes {318) - (355) 42 - (32) (663)
Lease liabilities' (4.108) (1,891) 669 246 (556) (7) {5.647)
Liabiities from financing activities (4,426) {1,891 3i4 288 {556) (39 (6,310)
Cash and cash equivalents 1327 - 76) 7 - - 1,258
Other current-interest bearing deposits 1175 - 155 - - - 1,330
Net debt (1.924) (1,891) 393 295 {556) (29) (3.722)

IFinance leases in 2018, now right of use liabilities associated with right of use asets. See nate 36 for impact on transition.
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20 Cash, cash equivalents and other current interest-bearing deposits continued

b Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt continued
Group
Dispasai of
Balance at 1 subsidiary, net of Exchange Ralance at 31
January 2018 Cash flows  cash disposed movements Non-cash  December 2018
Bank and other borrowings (476) 167 - (el - {318)
Finance leases (3812) 78} - (179} 39 (4.108)
Interest-bearing borrowings (4,288) 89 - (168} (39} {4426)
Cash and cash equivalents 956 345 17 9 - 1327
Other current-interest bearing deposits 1840 (665) - - - 75
Net debt (1492) 231 7 {179) 33 (1924)
Company
Balance at 31
Balance at 1 IFRS16 Opening Exchange New leases and December
January 2019 adjustments Cash flows movements  modifications Non-cash 2048
Barik, ather loans and asset finaiiced fiabilities (314) - (355 42 - {32} {663}
Lease kabilities" (4,115) (1860} 661 244 {539) &) (5.615)
Liabilities from financing activities {4,429) {1,860} 302 286 (539) 38 (6,278)
Cash and cash equivalents 1,249 - ) 6 - - 1158
Other current-interest bearing deposits 1375 - 155 - - - 1330
Net debt {2,005) {1,860) 360 292 (539) (38) (3.790)
'Finance leases in 2018, now right of use labilities assaciated with right af use asets, See note 36 for impact on transition.
Company
Batance at 31
Balance at Exchange Deacember
January 2018 Cash flows mavements Nan-cash 2018
Bank and other borrowings {7.26) 413 (i o (314)
Finance leases 13847) (50 {i79) (38) (4.115)
Interest-bearing borrowings {4573 362 (190) (28) {4429
Cash and cash equivalents 886 354 k4 - 1249
Other current-interest bearing deposits 1840 (665) - - 1175
Net debt (847} 51 (181 {28} (2,005)

Net debt is calculated as total cash and cash equivalents and current interast bearing deposits less total interest bearing barrowings. Proceeds from
and repayment of bank, other loans and asset financed liabilities are shown net under cash flows.
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21 Trade and other payables and deferred revenue on ticket sales

a Trade and other payables

Group Company
£ million 2019 2018 2019 2018
Trade creditors 1,396 1180 1,332 L8
Amounts owed to subsidiary companies - - 423 375
Other creditors 580 538 579 539
Other taxation and sodal security 33 35 33 35
Accruals and deferred income 95 40 78 123
As at 31 December 2,104 1893 2,445 2190
b Deferred revenue on ticket sales
- Groug Campany
2019 2019
£ milfion Customer [oyalty Sales :‘:;E; Total Customer foyalty Sales :Fi::rai:;; Total
As at 1)anuary 61 2,746 2,607 57 2,767 2,824
Revenue recognised in income statement’? (49) {11,965) (12,014) (45) (11,008) (11,053)
Loyaity peints issued ta customers 3 - 3 3t - k||
Cash received from customers - 12,110 12,110 - 1,167 167
As at 31 December 43 2,891 2934 43 2,926 2,969
Group Company
2018 2018
£ millicn Customer loyalty Sales :‘f:;‘!;:; Total Customer loyalty Sales g‘ra;i.:: Total
As at | Jahuary 77 2588 2665 73 2488 25861
Revenue recognised in incame statement’ 29 (12,789) (12.828) 39 (11849) {1,888)
Layalty points issued to customers 23 - 23 23 - 23
Cash received from customers - 12947 12947 - 12128 12128
As at 31 December &l 2746 2807 57 2768 2824

'Where the Group acls as an agent in the provision of redemption products and services to customers through layalty programmes, or in the provision of interline flights to

passengers, revenue is recognised in the income statement net of the related costs.
Ancluded within revenue recognised in the income statement is an amount of £2,787 million previously held as deferred revenue at the end of the comparative reporting

period.

22 Other non-current liabilities

Group Company

£ million 2018 2019 2018
Accruals & 5 &
Deferred income 34 13 20
40 18 26

As at 3f December

64




23 Long-term borrowings

Group Company
£ million 2019 2018 ) 2019 2018
a  Current
Bank and other loans' 45 48 46 44
Asset financed liabilities 17 - 17 -
Lease lizbilities (201&: Finance lease obligation) 869 425 855 432
As at 31 December 932 473 918 476
b Non-current
Bank and other loans' 239 270 239 270
Asset financed Jiabilities 361 - 361 -
Lease liabilities (2018; Finance leases obligation) 4,778 3683 4,760 3683
As at 31 Decamber 5378 3953 5,360 3953

'Bank and other loans are repayable up to 2027. Bank and other loans of the Group amounting to £225 million (2018: £279 million) and bark and other loans of the Company
amounting to £225 million {2018: £275 million) are secured on secured on fleet assets with a net book value of £275 million (hote 12).

c Bank and other loans
Group Company
£ miflion 2019 2018 2019 2018
Floating rate pound sterling mortgage {oan secured on aircrafc (i} - <+ - -
Floating rate eura mortgage loans secured on aircraft (i} 191 277 19t 227
Fixed rate Chinese yuan tnortgage loans secured on aircraft (i} 34 48 34 43
Fixed rate unsecured US dollar loans (iv) [ 39 60 39
a8s 38 285 314
Less: current instalmants due on bank and other loans 46 48 46 44
Men-current bank and other loans as at 31 December 239 270 239 270

{)) Floating rate pound sterling mortgage loan was secured on specific aircraft assets of the Group and beared interest of 0.81 per cent. The loan was repaid in 2019,

(i) Floating rate euro mortgage loans are secured on specific aircraft assets of the Group and bear interest of between 0.13 per cent and 1.10 per cent. The loans are
repayable between 2024 and 2027.

(iii) Fixed rate Chinese yuan mortgage ioans are secured on specific aircraft assets of the Group and bear interest of 520 per cent. The loans are repayable in 2022,

(iv) Fixed rate unsecured US dollar loans baaring interest between 1.98 per cent and 2.86 per cent. The loans are repayabte in 2023 and 2025,
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23 Long-term borrowings continued

d Total loans, lease Habilities and asset financed liabilities
Group Cormpany
£ milion 2019 2018 2019 2018
Loans:
Bank:
us dottar 579 $49 $79 i49
Euro €225 £252 €225 £252
Chinese yuan Wal4 w422 ¥314 ¥422
Pound sterling - £4 - -
Pound sterling 285 318 285 314
Lease liabliities (2018: Finance leasas)
us dollar §4,528 12744 54,498 $2744
Eura €1,326 €472 €1,326 €1472
Japanese yen ¥75,093 ¥74,305 ¥75,093 ¥74.305
Pound sterling £593 £135 £584 El42
Pound sterfing 5,647 4708 5,615 i
Asset financed liabilities
Us doltar 5498 - 5498 -
Pound sterling a7s - a7s -
As at 31 December 6,310 4426 6,278 4,429

During 2019, British Airways successfully launched a $806 million EETC bond issue to fund aircraft deliveries. The bonds were combined with Japanese

Operating Leasas with Calt Options (JOLCO") of $314 million. The total sum raised was $1,120 million. The transaction includes Class AA and Class A

Certificates with an underlying collateral pool consisting of eight aircraft; six Airbus A350-1000s and two Airbus A320neos. The Class AA Certificates

{($543 million} have an annual coupon, payable quarterly, of 3.30 per cent and the Class A Certificates ($263 million) have an annual coupon, payable

quarterly, of 3.35 per cent.
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24 Provisions

Group
Restoration and
£ million handback Restructuring Legal claims Other Total
Balance at 1 Janvary 2019 389 14 34 43 560
Transition to IFRS 16 ° 47 - - - 47
Balance as at 1 january 2015 416 14 34 43 607
Provisions recorded during the year 74 3 23 50 150
Lltilised during the year (30 {52) {16) (34) (132)
Release of unused amaounts 8 (3) 4) 4] (22}
Exchange diffarences @ - - _ (8
Unwinding of discount 1 - - - 1
As at 31 December 2019 445 62 a7 52 596
Analysis:
Current 43 62 32 36 172
Non-current 402 - 5 i6 423
445 62 37 52 596
Company
Restaoration and
£ million handback Rastructuring Legal claims Other Total
Balance at 1 January 2019 227 ir4 33 40 5M4
Transition to IFRS 16! 47 - - - 47
Balance as at 1 January 2019 374 114 33 40 561
Provisions recorded during the year 75 3 23 41 142
Litilised during the year (26) (52) (16) (28) {i22)
Release of unused amounts (8) (3) (3) 7 (21}
Exchange differences 7 - - - &
Unwinding of discount 1 - - - 1
As at 31 Decembar 2019 409 62 37 46 554
Analysis:
Current 15 62 32 30 139
Non-current 394 - 5 16 415
409 62 37 46 554

! See note 36 for impact of IFRS 16 transition.

The provision for restoration and handback costs is maintained to meet the contractual maintenance and return conditions on aircraft, including
those of right of use. The provision also includes amounts relating to leased land and buildings where restaration costs are contractually required at
the end of the lease, Where such costs arise as a result of capital expenditure on the leased asset, the restoration costs are capitalised. The

provisions relate to leases up to 2031,

Restructuring provisians represents the estimated costs of settling employee obligations under the Group's restructuring plans. The costs associated
with this programme were incurred from 2016 to 2018 and the payments will be made over the next 12 months,

Legal claims provisions include amounts for multi-party claims from groups or employees on a number of matters related to the Group's operations,
including claims for additional holiday pay and the Cargo claims concluded in 2019 and referred to in note 31,

Other provisions include a provision for the EU Emissions Trading Scheme that represents the excess of BA's CO; emitted on a flight within the EU in

excess of the Etl Emission Allowances granted. The provision also consists of staff leaving indemnities that were set up based on Collective Labour
Agreements or local jurisdiction regulations.
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25 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including fuel price risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate risk), counterparty risk,
liquidity risk and capital risk. The IAG Board approves the key strategic principles and the risk appetite, defining the amount of risk that the Group is
prepared to retain. The AG Financial Risk Management programme focuses on the unpradictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise the risk
of incremental costs arising from adverse financial market movements.

IAG Treasury carries out financial risk management under governance approved by the 1AG Board, the |IAG Management Committee and the BA Chief
Financial Officer. BA quantifies the financial risks and IAG Treasury evaluates, manages and hedges those risks. The 1AG Board provides written
principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies, provided by IAG Treasury, covering specific areas such as foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and investment of excess liquidity.

a Fuel price risk
The Group is exposed to fuel price risk. The Group's fuel price risk management strategy aims to provide protection against sudden and significant
increases in fuel prices while ensuring that the airline is not competitively disadvantaged in the event of a substantial fall in the price, The current JAG

strategy, is to hedge a proportion of fuel consumption for the next twelve quarters, within certain defined limits.

Within the strategy, the Fuel Risk Management programme aliows for the use of a number of derivatives available on the over-the-counter {OTC')
markets with approved counterparties and within approved limits.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of financial instruments to a reasonable possible change in fuel prices, with all other variables held
constant, on profit before tax and equity:

Group and Company
2019 2018

Increase/(decrease) in Effact on profit befare : lncrease/fdecrease) in Effect on profit before
fual price tax Effect on equity fuel price tax Effect on equity
per cent £ million £ million pear cent £ million £ mithon
Increase/{decrease) Increase/(decrease) Increase/{decrease) Increase/(decrease)
30 - 918 30 - 992
(30) - {943) (30) 3) {1,065)

b Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk on revenue, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than sterling. The currencies in
which these transactions are primarily denominated are US dollar and euro. The Group generates a surplus in most currencies in which it does business,
The US dollar is an exception as capital expenditure, fuel purchases and debt repayments denominated in 1S dollars typically create a deficit.

The Group has a number of strategies to hedge foreign currency risks. The operational US doflar short position, US Dollar capital expenditure
commitment, US dollar denominated debt position and long position on certain other currencies are subject to the same governance structure as the
fuel hedging strategy set out above. The cuirent strategy, as approved by the IAG Management Committee, is to hedge a proportion of up to three
years of the operating exposures, a proportion of the committed US dollar capital expenditure and the translation risk on US dollar denominated debt,

within certain defined limits.

The Group utilises its euro and Japanese yen debt repayments as a hedge of future euro and yen revenues,
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25 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

b

Foreign currency risk continued

The Following table demonstrates the sensitivity of financial instruments to a reasonable, possible change in the exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant, on profit before tax and equity. These represent hoth the Group and the Company as the majority of the foreign currency risks are

borne by the Company.
Strengthening Effect on Effect on Strengthening/ Effect on Effecton | Strengthening/ Effect on Effect on
/ (weakening) profit equity (weaakening) profit equity (weakening) profit equity

in LS dollar bafore tax in euro rate hefore tax inyenrate  befare tax
Group rate » - - - - -

and per cent £ miilllon £ million per cent £ million £ million per cent £ million £ million
Comp Increase Increase Increase Increase increase (Decrease) Increase  {Decraase) (Decreaase)
any f{decrease) [{decrease)  /{decrease) H{decrease) /{decrease) /(increase) /{decrease) /increase fincrease
2010 10 - 274 0 15 {152} 10 @ (49)
(10) - (322) (10) (15) 152 (o) 3 49
10 191 10 35 (194) 10 a3 49
2018 1o @ {16 {10) 35 195 (9 3 49

¢ interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to ¢hanges in interest rates on floating rate debt, lease commitments and cash deposits. Interest rate risk on borrowings is
managed through determining the right balance of fixed and floating debt within the financing structure. Market conditions are considered when
determining the desired balance of fixed and floating rate debt.

The Group hedges the interest rate risk by entering into floating to fixed interest rate swaps, in which it agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the
difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed~upon notional principal amount.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of financial instruments to a reasonably possible change in interest rates with all other variables held
constant, on profit before tax and equity:

Strengthening/{weakening) in Strengthening/(weakening) in

Effect on profit before tax  Effect on equity Effect oh profit before tax  Effect on equity

UsD LIBOR EURIBOR
Basis points £ million £ million Basis paints £ millian £ million
Graoup and
ompany Increase/(decrease) Increase/(decrease) Increase/(decrease) Increase/(decrease) Increase/{decrease) lncrease/{decrease)
2019 50 - 7 50 (2) 12
{50) - m (50) 2 {1¢)
2018 50 - 3 50 - 2
(50) - 3 50) - 24)
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25 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

d Counterparty risk

The Group is expased to counterparty risk to the extent of non-performance by its counterparties in respect of financial assets receivable. The Group
has policies and procedures in place to minimise the risk by placing credit limits on each counterparty, These policies and procedures are coardinated
through the IAG Treasury department. The Group monitors counterparty credit limits and defauits of counterparties, incorporating this information
into credit risk controls. Treasury activities include placing money market deposits, fuel hedging and foreign currency transactions, which could lead o
a concentration of different credit risks with the same counterparty. This risk is managed by allocation of exposure limits to the counterparty for the
Group. Exposures at the activity leve! are monitored on a daily basis and the overall exposure limit for the counterparty is reviewed at least monthly
using available market information such as credit ratings. Sovereign risk is also monitored, country concentration and sovereign credit ratings are
reviewed at every IAG Treasury department meeting.

The financial assets recognised in the financial statements, net of impairment losses, represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk, without
taking account of any guarantees in place or other credit enhancements. There have been no significant changes in expected cradit losses within the
Group. No coliateral is held to mitigate this exposure.

Credit risks arising from the Company acting as guarantor are disclosed in note 31.

e Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and interest-bearing deposits, the availability of funding from an adequate amount of
credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions, The Group maintains flexibility in funding by holding committed credit lines.

The stability of the liquidity position is maintained through the Group having no finandial covenants or material adverse change clauses in its drawn and
undrawn debt facilities. In addition, fuel and currency hedging is carried out on an open credit basis with no collateralisation or margin call requirements.

At 31 December 2019 the Group and Company had unused overdraft facilities of £12 million (2018: £10 million).
The Group and Company held undrawn uncommitted money market lines of £nil as at 31 December 2019 (2018: £25 million).

The Group and Company had the following available undrawn general and committed aircraft financing facilities:
31 December 2018

million Currency £ aquivalent
US dollar Facility expiring December 2021 $652 496
US dollar facility expiring June 2020 $1,330 1013

31 Dacember 2018

million Currency £ equivalent
US dollar facility expiring Decembar 2021 - $ii54 - 921
US dollar facility expiring June 2022 X044 827
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25 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued
[ Liquidity risk continued
The following table categorises the Group's (outflows) and inflows in respect of financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments into relevant

maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 31 December to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows and include interest.

Group
€ million Within six B:::e::;s : Between one  Between two More than five Total 2018
months manths and two years  and five years years

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:

Asset financing liabilities (14 {14) (29} )] (323) (467}

Lease liabilities' (534 (437) (829) (2,302) (3,804) (7,906)

Fixed rate borrowings 13) (13) (26) (36) (14) (102)

Fioating rate borrowings (1§ (14} (25} (93) (57} (200)
Trade and other payables (2,057) - (5) - - (2,062)
Derivative financial instruments {assets).

Foreaign exchange contracts (asset) 3 23 35 19 - 108

Fuel derivatives (assat) 29 8 5 1 - 43

Interest rate swap (asset) - - - t - t
Derivative financial instruments (liabilities):

Forward currency contracts (ligbility) (18) (20} (32) (68) - (138)

Fuel derivatives (fiability) {22) (31 (39) 4 - (96)

Interest rate swap (liability) )] (i (6) {9) (U {31)
As at 31 Dacarbar (2,613} {509 {951} (2,578} (4,199} (10,850)

Group
£ million Within six B::geti';::: Hetween ohe  Between two More than five Total 2018
months and two years  and five years years
months

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings: .

Finance lease and hire purchase obligations' (288) {255) 641 (L620) (1895} (4,703)

Fixed rate borrowings (12 {12} 23) 49) - (96)

Floating rate borrowings (15 {15 {27) 24) (N2 (248}
Trade and other payables {1853) - {6) - - {1859
Derivative financial instruments (assets):

Foreign exchange contracts {asset) 26 33 &7 45 - 172

Fuel derivatives {asset) F:] & 5 - - 19

interest rate swap {asset) 8 i 7 3 4 174
Derivative financial instruments (liabilities):

Farward currency contractes (fiabifity} 7 3 /) 3 - (17

Fuel derivatives (liability) (154 150) (142} (58] - (534}

Interest rate swap (liability) (14) {5 (8) (7) - {34)
As at 3t December (2.331) (400} {778} (1,772) £2,002) (7,283)

Please refer to note 36 for further datails on the affect of the transition to IFRS 16,
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25 Financial risk management abjectives and policies continued

e Liquidity risk continued

The table below analyses the Company’s financial assets and lfabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance

sheet date to the contractual maturity date, The amounts discfosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and include interest.

Company
. Within six Between six Between one Between two More than five
£ million and twelve € @ Total 2019
months months and two years  and five years years
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:
Asset financing liabilities (14) {14) (29) (87) (323) (467)
Lease liabilities’ (525) {4386) (820) {2,346) (3,746) {7,873)
Fixed rate borrowings [{E)] (13} (26) (35) (14) (1o1)
Floating rate borrowings (n 4) 25) 94) (57 (200)
Trade and other payables {2,400} - {5) - - {2,405)
Derivative financial instruments {assets):
Foreign exchange contracts (asset) 34 25 a5 20 - 114
Fuel derivatives (asset} 29 8 5 1 - 43
Interest rate swap (asset} - - - 1 - 1
Derivative financial instruments {liabilities)
Forward currency contracts {liability) (18) (21) (33) (68) - ($40)
Fuel derivatives (fiabiliey) 22 (31 (39) 4 - (96)
Interest rate swap (fiability) 4 () &) {9 1) @an
As at 31 Dacembar (2,944) (507) (943) (2,621} (4.141) (11,158)
Company
£ million Within six B::gel:?e; : Between one  Between two More than five Total 2018
) months months and two years  and five years years
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations' {295) {255} 641) (1620} {1899} (4,710}
Fixed rate borrowings 12 12 £23) {49) - (96}
Floating rate borrowings (i (s) 27} 84) (107} 244)
Trade and other payables (2152) - (5) - - {2 158)
Derivative financial instruments (assets):
Foreign exchange cantracts (asset) 25 34 &8 45 - 172
Fuel derivatives (asset) £ 6 5 - - 9
interest rate swap (asset) 8 ! ! 3 4 17
Derivative financial instruments (liabilities):
Forward currency contracts {liability} It [&1) 86 5 ~ (27}
Fuel derivatives (liability) {184) (150) {142 {58) - (534)
Interest rate swap (liability) {14) 15 (8} 7} - {34)
As at 31 December (2.638) {401) 779) (L.775) (2.002) {7,585)

"Please rafer to note 36 for further detalls on the effect of the wrapsition to FRS 16,
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25 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued
f Offsetting financial assets and liabilities
The following financial assets and liabllities are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements,

The Group enters into derivative transactions under ISDA f{International Swaps and Derivatives Association) documentation, In general, under such
agreements the amounts owed by each counterparty on a single day in respect of all transactions outstanding are aggregated into a single net amount
that is payable by one party to the other.

The following table sets out the carrying amounts of derivatives recognised in the Group and Company balance sheets that are subject to the above,

Group and Company

Financial Net amounts af

instruments that financial
Gross value of  are offset under instruments in  Related financial
financial netting the balance instrumenits that

E million instruments agreements sheet are not offset Net amount
31 December 2019
Financial assets
Derivative financial assets 186 (36) 150 (U] 143
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities (297) 36 (261) 7 (254)

‘Within the Company the gross value of derivative financial assets was £152 mllfion and the net value was £156 million. The gross value of derivative financial liabiiities was £295 million and the net value
was €264 million, The value of related financial instruments that are not offset was £8 million,

Group and Company

Financial Net amounts of

instruments that financial
Gross vélue of  are offset under instruments in  Related financial
financial hatting tha balance  instruments that
£ million instruments _agreements sheet are not offset Net amount
31 December 2018
Financial assets .
Derivative financial assets 97 (12) 185 2 183

Financial Ifabilities
Derivative financial liabilities _(563) 2 551) 2 1549)

Within the Company the gross value of derfvative financial assets was £157 million and the net value was E183 million. The gross value of derivative financial liabilities was ES72 million and the net vajue
was ES60 million. The value of related financial instruments that are not offset was £2 million.

g Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managiisg capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern to maintain an optimat capital
structure, to reduce the cost of capital and to provide returns to shareholders.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the net debt/total capital ratio which was 39,1 per cent (2018: 25.2
per cent). Net debt is defined as the total barrowings, asset financing liabilities, net interest-bearing deposits and cash and cash equivalents less
overdrafts and total capital is defined as the total of share capital and share premium {see nota 27), reserves {see note 29a), non-controlling interest
(see note 293} and net debt (see note 20h).
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26 Financial instruments
a Financial assets and liabilities by category

The detail of the Group's financial instruments as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 by nature and classification for measurement purposes
was as follows:

At 31 December 2019 Financial assets Group
Amortised cast Fair value through Fair value through Nan-financial Total carrying
£ million ol income statement assets ameount

Non-current fihanclal assets

Equity investments - 49 - - 45
Derivative financial inswruments - - 59 - 59
Other non~current assets’ 95 - - 96 191

Current flnancial assets

Trade receivables 1,202 - - - 1,202
Derivative financial instruments - - 91 - 9t
Cther current assets! 201 - - 483 683
Qther current interest-bearing deposits 1330 - - - 1,330
Cash and cash equivalents 1,258 - - - 1,258

“Within the Company, total other nan-current assets are £130 million, of which lcans and receivables (amortised cost) are £94 million and han-financial assets are £96 million, Total other current assets
in the Company are E716 million, of which loans and receivables (amortised cast) are £254 million and non-financial assets are £462 millfon.

Financial fabilities Group
. Fair value through Fair value through Non-financial Total carrying
£ million Amortised cost ocl Income statement liabllities amaunt
Non-current financial llabilities
Interest-bearing long-term borrowings 600 - - - 600
Borrowings on right of use assets 4778 - - - 4,178
Derivative financial instruments - - 156 - 156
Other long-term liabilities’ 5 - - 24 29
Current financial liabilities
Current portion of long-term borrowings 63 - - - 63
Borrowings on right of Use jssats B6S - - - B69
Trade and other payables' 2057 - - 47 2,104
Derivative finandial instrumants - - 105 - 105

"Within the Company, total other long-term liabilities are £18 milion, of which ioans and payables (amortised cost) are E5 million and non-financial liabilities are £13 milion. Tatal trade and other payables
in the Company are £2,445 millian, of which lnans and payables (amortised cost) are £2,400 milfion and non-financiat lisbilities are £45 million.
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26 Financial instruments continued

a Financial assets and liabilities by category continued
At 31 December 2018 Financial assets Group
Fair value through Fair value through Non-financial Total carrying
£ million Amortised cost ad income statement assels amount
Non-current financial assets
Equity investments - 56 - - 56
Derivative finaticial instruments - - 120 - 20
Other non-current asseis' 198 - - 02 300
Current financial assets
Trade receivables g0t - - - S0t
Derivative financial instruments - - 65 - 65
Other current assets' 287 - - 357 644
Other current interest-bearing deposits 4375 - - - 175
Cash and cash equivalents 1327 - - - 1327,

VWithin the Company, total atker qon-current aisats are E300 millan, of which loans and raceivables {amortised cast) are E198 millisn and non-financial assels are £102 milon, Total other curvent assets
in the Campany are E647 million, of which loans aid recelvables {amortised cost) are E3C7 million and non-financial assets ara £340 milion.

Financial liabilities

Group

Amortised cost

Fair value through

Fair value through

Naon-financial

Total carrying

£ millicn od income statemant fFabifities amount
Nan-current financlal liabilities

Interast-bearing long-term borrowings 3953 B - - 3953
Derivative financial instruments - - 210 - 210
Other long-term liabilities' & - - 34 40
Current financlat liabltities

Current portion of long-term botrowings 473 - - - 473
Trade and other payables' 1853 - - 40 1893
Derivative financial instruments - - 341 - 341,

Within the Company, total other long-term Habulities are £26 milllon, of which Juans «nd payables {amortised cost) aro £6 million and ann-financial liabilities are £20 million. Total trade and other payebles
in the Company are £2,190 million, of which loans and payables {amortised cost) are £2,152 million and non-financial labilities are £38 million,
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26 Financial instruments continued
b Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

The fair values of the Group's finzndial instruments are disclosed in hierarchy levels depending on the nature of the inputs used in determining the Fair

values as follows;

Level 1: Quoted prices {unadjusted} in active markets for identical assets and iiabilities. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices present actual and
regularly accurring market transactions on an arm's length basis;

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. The fair value of
financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of abservable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates; and

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data,

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2019 are set out below;

Group
Fair value Carrying value
E million Level { Level 2 Level 3 Total Total
Financial assets:
Equity investments' g - 40 49 49
Amounts owed by associated group undertakings - 12 - 12 104
Forward currency contracts - 107 - 107 to7
fuel derivatives - 42 - 42 42
Interest rate swaps - i - 1 1
Financial labilitlas:
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings: !
Asset financed Fabillties - 402 - 402 378
Fixed rate borrowings - 98 - 98 94
Floating rate borrowings - 151 - 151 191
Forward currency contracts - 135 - 135 135
Fue! derivatives - as - 95 a5
Interast rate swaps - n - U 31

ithin the Company, equity Investments of E40 million are fair valued at £40 million {Level 3), asset financed liabilities of £378 million are fair valued at £402 million {Level 2), fixed rate borrowings of
£94 million are fair valued at £98 million {Level 2) and ngatrng rata borrowings af E191 million ara fair valued at £1%1 millian (Level 2).

Tha carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2018 are set out below:

Group
Fair value Carrying value
£ million Levei1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total
Financial assats:
Equity investment' 15 - 40 56 56
Amounts owed by associated group undertakings - 303 - 303 298
Forward currency contracts - 169 - 169 169
Fuel derivatives - 7 - 7 7
Interest rate swaps - 9 - 9 5
Financial liabilities:
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings: !
Finance leases - 4250 - 4250 4,108
Fixed rate barrowings - 90 - 90 87
floating rate horrowings - 231 - 2321 23!
Forward currency contracts - 7 - 7 17
Fuel derivatives - s509 - 509 509
Interest rate swaps - 25 - 25 25

nydithin the Company, aquity investments of £40C million are fair valued at £40 miflion {Level 3), finance leasa obligations of £4,115 million are Fair vakeed at £4,257 millien (Lavel 2), fixed rate barrowings
of E87 million are fair valved at £30 million (Level 2) and floating rata borrowings of £227 miilion are Fair valued at £227 million {Level 2).

There have been no transfer between levels of fair value hierarchy during the year.
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26 Financial instruments continued
b Falr values of financial assets and financial liabilities continued

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is Included at the amount at which the Group would expect to receive upon selfling an asset or pay to
transfer a liability in an ardary transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, other
current interest bearing deposits, trade recelvables, ather current assets and trade and other payables approximate their carrying amounts largely due
to the short-term maturities of these instruments,

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Group in estimating its fair value disclosutes for financial instruments:

Equity investments

The fair value of quoted investments is determined by reference to published bid prices at the close of business on the balance shest date, Where
there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation technigues. For unguoted investments, fair value has been determined based on the
most recent arm's length transaction for an identical instrument. The Group monitors transactions of these instrurnents on a regular basis to ensure the
fair value is based on the most recent arm's length price.

Amounts owed by parent and associated group undertakings
The fair value of the amounts owed by related parties are determined by discounting the remaining contractual cash-flows at the revelant market
interest rates as at 31 December 2018.

Forward currency transactions, interest rate swaps and over-the-counter (QOTC) fuel derivatives

These derivatives are entered into with various counter-parties, principally financial institutions with investment grade ratings. These are measured at
the market value of instruments with similar terms and conditions at the balance sheet date {Level 2) using forward pricing models. Changes in
counterparty and own credit risk are deemed to be insignificant,

Bank and other [oans and finance leases
The fair value of the Group's interest-bearing borrowings and foans including leases, are determined by discounting the remaining contractual cash-
flows at the relevant market interest rates as at 31 December 2019 (Level 2),

There have been no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the period. Out of the financial instruments listed in the table above,
only the interest-bearing loans and borrowings are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

[ Level 3 financial assets reconciliation

The following table surnmarises key movements in the carrying value in Level 3 financial assets:

Group Campany
£ miflion 209 2008 2019 201
Balance at 1 Jahuary ' 40 40 40 4
As at 31 Dacember 40 40 4D 4




26 Financial instruments continued

d Cash flow hedgas

At 31 December 2019 the Group’s principal risk management activities that were hedging future forecast transactions were:

« Future loan repayment instalments in foreign currency, hedging foreign exchange risk on revenue cash inflows;

» Forward jet fuef and jet fuel component derivative contracts, hedging price risk on fuel cash outflows; and

« Foreign exchange contracts; hedging forelgn exchange risk on revenue cash inflows and certain operational receipts and payments; and

 Interest rate contracts; hedging interest rate risk on ficating rate debt and certain operational payments.

To the extent that the hedges were assessed as highly effective, a summary of the amounts included in equity is shown below:

Group and Company

Total Total

£ million 2019 2018
Debt repayments to hedge future revenue 128 614
Foreign exchange contracts to hedge future revenue/receipts (33) 1
Foreign exchange contracts to hedge future payments &5 (115}
Hedges of future fuel purchases 46 487
Interest rate hedges 32 19
Instruments for which hedge accounting no longer applies 3n 19
549 1,025

Related deferred tax credit {84) (178)
465 847

Total amount included within equity

The notional amounts of significant financial instruments used as cash flow hedging instruments are set out below:

Group and Company

Notional principal amaunts Hedgerange  Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years More than 5 Total

E million years 2019
Foreign exchange contracts to hadge future revenue/receipts and payments

uso 11751 1528 946 1105 3,579

EUR 1.08-1.16 95 64 39 198

Group and Company

Notional principal amounts L More than 5 Total

¢ million Hedge range Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years years 2018
Foreign exchange contracts to hedge future revenue/receipts and payments

usp 122-150 1784 1672 1517 - 4973

EUR 108-125 165 136 75 - 376

Derivative contracts are used to hedge fuel purchases over a period of up to three years. Notional quantities associated with these contracts at 31
December 2019 amounted to 8 million tonnes {2018 8 million tonnes) with a hedge price range of USD 575-785 (2018: LISD 584-785),

The Group's loan repayment instalments used to hedge foreign currency risk on future revenue inflows were predominantly in US dollars, euros and
Japanese yen, The total notiocnal amounts at 31 Dacember 2019 were $nil million (2018: $2,795 million), €1,530mitlion (2018: €1,722 million) and ¥69,754

million (2018: ¥69,2%1 million).

The notional amount of the Group's interest rate contracts to hedge the floating interest rate on euro-denominated debt at 31 December 2019 was

€1,088 million {2018: €1,207 million).
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26 Financial instruments continued

d Cash flow hedges continued

The movements in other comprehensive income in relation to cash flow hedges are shown below:

As 2t 31 Decembar 2019

B (§ains)/loses recogfu:sed ) (G..at'nsj associared. wid'_l Total recognised Gainf:faasses} Gains reclassified (o the
£ million in other Fomprehenﬂve lneffectfveness recognised in the (gains)losses _redasslﬂed to the balance sheet
income income statement income statement

Debt repayments to hedge future reverine (93} - {93) {18)
Foreign exchange contracts to hedge future revenue/receipts (34) ~ (34) ()]
Foreign exchange contracts to hedge future payments 145 - 145 30
Hedges of future fuel purchases (366} 3 (369} (75}
Interest rate hedges n - 2 t)]
Instruments for which hedge accounting no longer applies (33) - (33) {48)

(359) 3 {362) 119
As at 31 December 2018

Gains)/losses recognised Gains) assaciated with . Gains/(losses . ;
£ million (in oth):r Fomprehei!ive ineffe(ct‘ivergess recognised in the T‘(};::;z’:gzid Fedassiﬁgd to t:le Gamsb:le::‘a:esrsﬁ::eio the
income income staternent income statement
Debt repayments to hedge future revenue 183 - 183 73
Foreign exchange contracts to hedge future revenue/receipts {8) - {8} 2
Foreign exchange contracts to hedge future payments (208) - (208) 7
Hedges of future fuel purchases 370 Iz} 363 375
Interest rate hedges 23 - 23 3
Instruments for which hedge accounting no Jonger applies 5 - 5 2
365 Iz 358 36

There is an economic relationship between the hedged items and the hedging instruments as the terms of the foreign exchange, interest rate and
commodity forward contracts match the terms of the expected highly probable forecast transactions. The Group has established a hedge ratio of 111
for the hedging relationships as the underlying risk of the foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity forward contracts are identical to the hedged

risk components.

The hedge ineffectivenass can arise from:

« Differences in the timing of the cash flows of the hedged items and the hedging instruments;

« Different indexes linked to the hedged risk of the hedged items and hedging instruments;

« The counterparties’ credit risk impacting the fair value movements of the hedging instruments; or
« Changes to the forecasted amounts of cash flows of hedged items and hedging instruments.

Company

The Company undertakes hedging activities on behalf of other companies within the Group and performs the treasury activities of the Group centrally.
As a result, the disclosures above apply to the Company as for the Group.
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27 Share capital and share premium

Group and Company
2019 2018
Number of Number of

sharas 000s E million shares 000s £ milllon

Share capital allotted, calted up and fully pald
Al Qrdinary shares of £289.70 each 897 260 897 260
A2 Ordinary shares of £289.70 each 99 29 99 29
B Ordinary shares of £1 each 1,000 1 1000 H
C Ordinary shares of £1 each 148 - 148 -
As at 31 December 2,144 290 2144 290
Group and Company
£ miliion 2019 2018
Share premium as at 31 December 1,512 L512

The Al and A2 class ordinary shareholders have full voting and economic rights in accordance with the percentage of shares held. The B class ordinary
shareholders have full voting rights in accordance with the percentage of shares held, however have minimal economic rights attached to them. The C
¢lass ordinary shareholders have full economic rights in accordance with the percentage of shares held, however are non-voting,

28 Share options

The Group operates share-based payment schemes as part of the total remuneration package provided to employees. The share-based payments
charge has been recorded as part of 'employee costs’ {note 8) in the income statement as follows;

£ million 2019 2018
PSP and IADP schemes recharged from IAG (a) 7 5
Total share-based payments charge recardad in amplayee coste 7 5
a IPSP and {ADP schemes recharged from |IAG

BA participates in two IAG share-based payment schemes, with awards to BA employees being made in pians operated by IAG that represent rights
over its ordinary shares. The costs of these awards are recharged from |AG based on its determination of award fair values. The amount outstanding at
the year end is included in the amounts owed to IAG and disclosed in note 32 (related party transactions). A brief description of the schemes is set out
below:

i) |AG Performance Share Plan

The IAG Performance Share Plan {PSP) is granted to senior executives and managers of the Group who are most directly involved in shaping and
delivering business success over the medium to long term, From 2015, the awards have been made as nil-cost options, and also have a two-year
additional holding pericd after the end of the performance period, before vesting takes place. The awards made since 2015 will vest based one-third on
achievement of IAG's TSR performance targets relative to the MSC| European Transportation Index, one-third based on achievement of earnings per
share targets, and one-third based on achievement of Return on Invested Capital targets,

i) IAG Incentive Award Deferral Plan

The AG Incentive Award Deferral Plan (IADP) is granted to qualifying employees based on performance and service tests. It will be awarded when an
incentive award is triggered subject to the employee remaining in employment with the Group for three years after the grant date. The relevant
population will receive 50 per cent of their incentive award up front in cash, and the remaining S0 per cent in shares after three years through the
1ADP.
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29 Other reserves and non-controlling interest

a Group
Group
£ million Retained U;:S::: r:—::i;(u?; Currency Total conzr:l?:g
eamings losses resarve translation interests’
Balance at | fanuary 2018 3791 234 2 59 3821 200
Profit for the year 2080 - - - 2080 I
Exchange gains/ (fosses) 43 - - 377 6 -
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger revenue - 73 - - 73 -
Fair value of cash flow hedges transfarred to fuel and oif costs - (393} i - (392} -
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to finance costs - 4 - - 4 -
Met change in falr value of cash flow hedges - {363} 174 - (348} -
Share of mavament in reserves of assaciates (2% - - - 29) -
Equity investrmaints - 4 - - ) -
Capex hedges redassified and reported in property, piant and equipment - ) - - U] -
Pensian remeasurements (740) - - - (740) -
incame tax 1ig 122 3 - 238 -
Dividends (575) - - - (575) -
Realised foreign exchange loss on redemption of perpatual securities {68) - - - (68 -
Distributions made to holders of perpetual securitias - - - - - 1y
Reademptlion of perpetual securities - - - - - 200
Total income and expense for the ygar 830 (564) 5 (37 244 (200)
Balance at { fanuary 2019 4621 (795) 7 22 3865 -
IFRS 16 transition adjustment (129 7 “* - (124) -
Balance at 1 January 2019 4,494 (728} 13 22 3,74 -
Profit for the year 1109 - - - 1,109 -
Exchange gains - - - (22) {22) -
Fair vaiue of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger revenue - 66 7 - 3 -
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and oil costs - 44 (19) - 5 -
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to finance costs - 8 - - :4 -
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges - 359 52 - 411 -
Share of movement in reserves of associates [ - - - 6 -
Equity investments - fair value movements in equity - {6) - - 6) -
Capex hedges radlassified and reported in property, plant and equipment - 7 4) - (1 -
Pension remeasurements {787) - - - 787 -
Incame tax 136 87 [63) - 42 -
Dividetds {585) - - - {585) -
Total income and expanse for the year (121) n ] (22) 264 -
As at 31 December 2019 4373 41 42 - 4,005 -

‘On 28 August 2018, British Airways axerclsed the optioh to redeem its €300 million 6.75 per cent fixed coupon praferred securities. The preferred securities were radeemed at their principal amount,
tagather with accumulated and unpaid interest to this date,

Retained earnings
The retained earnings reserve represents the accumulated retained profits of the Group.

Unrealised gains and losses
The unrealised gains and losses reserve records fair value changes on equity investments and the portion of the gaih or loss on a hedging instrument in
a cash flow hedge that is determined to be an effective hedge.

Currency transiation reserve

The currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries
ang associates.
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29 Other reserves and non-controlling interest continued

b Company

Company

] Retained Unrealised Cost of
£ miliion eamings gains and hedging Total
losses reserve

Balance at 1 Janvary 2018 4645 (253} 2 4394
Profit for the year 1835 - - 1835
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger revenue - 73 - 73
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and oil costs - (393} I (392}
Fair valug of cash flow hedges transferred to finance costs - 4 - 4
Net changa in fair value of cash flow hedges - (365) 174 (348)
Capex hedges reclassified and reported in property, plant and equipment - i - Il
Pension remeasurements (742) - - 742
Income tax na 122 3 238
Dividends {575} - - {575}
Todal income and expense for the year 637 [560) 15 92
Balance at | January 2019 5,282 {813) 17 4,486
IFRS 16 Iransition adjustment {128) 7 {4} (125)
Balance at 1 January 2019 5,154 (8086) 13 4,361
Profit for the year 870 - - 870
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger revenue - 66 7 3
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and oil costs - 44 (19 s
Fair value of cash flow hadges transferred to finance costs - 8 - 8
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges - 359 52 41
Capex hedges reclassified and reporied in praperty, plant and equipment - 6] 4) ()]
Pension remeasurements m - - 7
Income tax 134 (87 n 40
Dividends (585) - - (585)
Total income and expense for the year {358) 383 23 55
As at 31 December 2019 4,786 (423} 42 4,416

See note 29a for a description of the reserves.

30 Employee benefits

The Group operates a variety of post-employment benefit arrangements, including both defined contribution and defined benefit schemes. Most
employees engaged outside the UK are covered by appropriate local arrangements. The principal funded defined benefit pension schemes within the
Group are the Airways Pension Scheme ('APS') and the New Airways Pension Scheme (NAPS'). The Company provides certain additional post-
retirement healthcare benefits to eligible employees in the US through the US Post-Retirement Medical Benefit plan ('US PRMB').

NAPS was closed to future accrual from 31 March 2018. Members' deferred pensions are increased annually by inflation up to five per cent per annum
{measured using the Government's annual Pension Increase {Review) Orders, which since 2011 have been based on CPl). As part of the closure of NAPS
to future accrual in 2018, British Airways agreed to make certain additional transition payments to NAPS members if the deficit had reduced more than
expected at either the 2018 or 2021 valuations. No payment was triggered by the 2018 valuation and no allowance for such payments following the
2021 valuation has been made in the valuation of the defined benefit obligation.

APS has been closed to new members since 1984. The benefits provided under APS are based on final average pensicnable pay and, for the majority of
members, are subject to inflationary increases in payment.

As reported in previous years, the Trustee of APS had proposed an additional discretionary increase above CPl inflation for pensions in payment for
the year ended 31 March 2014. British Airways challenged the decision and initiated legal proceedings to determine the legitimacy of the discretionary
increase. The High Court issued a judgment in May 2017, which determined that the Trustee had the power to grant discretionary increases, whilst
reiterating the Trustee must take into consideration all relevant factors, and ignore irrelevant factors, British Airways appealed the judgment to the
Court of Appeal, In July 2018 the Court of Appeal released its judgment, upholding British Airways’ appeal, concluding the Trustee did not have the
power to introduce a discretionary increase rule,
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30 Employee benefits continued

Subsequently, in April 2019 the Trustee Directors of the Airways Pension Scheme unanimously agreed with British Airways terms for an cut-of-court
settiement and on 11 November 2019 the APS discretionary pension increase settlement agreement ("the Agreement”) was ratified by the High Court
This brought to an end the dispute that commenced in 2013, that would otherwise have proceeded to final appeal at the Supreme Court. Under the
Agreement, the Trustee of APS are permitted, subject to certain affordability tests, to award Discretionary Increases so that APS pensions are
increased up to the annual change in the Retail Prices Index (RPIj from 2021 with interim catch-up increases tending tc RPY prior to 2021, British
Airways ceased to pay further deficit recovery contributions from 1§ January 2019, including cash sweep payments. British Airways has provided a £40
miltion indemnity, payable in full or part as approgpriate following the triennial valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2027 if that valuation shows that
the scheme is not able to pay pension increases at RP| for the remaining life of the scheme. The APS actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2015 and 31
March 2018 was completed in November 2019, The APS actuarial valuation at 31 March 2018 resulted in a surplus of £599 miltion.

APS and NAPS are governed by separate Trustee Baards. As some of the business of the two schemes is common, some tnain Board and Committee
meetings are held in tandem, although each Trustee Board reaches its decisions independently. There are three sub Committees which are separately
rasponsibie for the governance, operation and investments of each scheme. British Airways Pension Trustees Limited holds the assets of both schemes
on behalf of their respective Trustees.

Deficit payment plans are agreed with the Trustee of each scheme every three years based on the actuarial valuation rather than the [AS 19 accounting
valuation, in October 2019, the latest deficit recovery plan was agreed as at 31 March 2018 with respect to NAPS {see note 30i below),

The actuarial valuations performed as at 31 March 2018 for APS and NAPS are different to the valuation performed as at 31 December 2019 under 1AS
19: Emplayee Benefits' mainly due to timing differences of the measurement dates and to the specific scheme assumptions in the actuarial valuation
compared with IAS 13 guidance used in the accounting valuation assumptions. For exartiple, IAS 19 requires the discount rate to be based on corporate
bond yields regardless of how the assets are actually invested, which may not result in the calculations in this report being a best estimate of the cost
to the Company of providing benefits under either Scheme. The investment strategy of each Scheme is likely to change aver its life, so the relationship
between the discount rate and the expected rate of return on each Scheme's assets may also change.

The defined benefit plans expose the Company to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, interest rate risk, inflation risk and market (investment) risk,
including currency risk.

The main defined contribution scheme is the British Airways Pension Plan (BAPP). It offers a choice of contribution rates and the ability to opt for cash
instead of a pension.

OCn 26 October 2018 the High Court's judgment in the Lloyd's Bank case canfirmed that pension schemes are required to equalise for the effects of
unequal GMPs accrued over the period since 17 May 1990 ("GMP equalisation®). The APS and NAPS estimated defined benefit liability as at 31
December 2013 included allowance for the estimated effect of GMP equalisation based on the assessments made by the respective APS and NAPS
Scheme Actuaries.

a Employee benefit schemes recognised on the balance sheet
As at 31 December 2019
£ million APS NAPS Other’ Total®
Scheme assets at fair value 7,475 18,982 361 26,818
Present value of scheme liabilities' (7112) (18,327) (617) {26,056)
Net pension asset/{liability) 363 655 (256) 762
Effect of the asset ceiling? (108) (478) - (536)
Qther employee benefit liabilities - - (9) (9
255 177 (265) 167

Represented by:

Employee benefit assers 443
Employee benefit liabilities? {276)
167

83



30 Employee benefits continued

a Employee benefit schemes recognised on the balance sheet continued
As at 3! December 2018
£ miliion APS NAPS Other’ Total
Scheme assets at fair value 7536 16,965 342 24843
Present vaiue of scheme fiabifities® (6400) (15,868) (578) (22,846)
Net pension asset/(liability) 1136 1087 (236) 1997
Effect of the asset celling? (422) {807} - (1229)
Other employee benefit liabilities - - (1a) 4]
714 290 {246} 758

Represented by

Employee benefit assets Los
Employee benefit liabilities? (258)
758

' The present value of schama abilities for the 115 PRMB was £13 million at 31 Decamber 2019 (E12 million as at 31 Dacember 2018).

2APS and NAPS are bt an 1AS 1% accounting surplus, which would be availabla to the Company s 2 refund upon wind up of the scheme. This refund I3 restricted dus to withholding taxes that would be
payable by the Trustee, During 2015 the |ASB published an draft of ar its to IFRIC 14 1AS 19 - The Limit on 2 Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding requirements and their
interaction. The purpase of this propased amendment s to provide additional clarity on the rois of the trustee's rights in an assessment of the recoverablfity of a surplus on an employee pansion fund.
BA I consldering tha impact of this exposure draft on the APS and NAPS surplus racogoised but has not recognised any adjustments as the amendment remains in axposure draft form only.

IDisclosures for post-retirement benefits are pi dona lidated basis and include a net pensian liabfity of £27 milion (2018: £26 million) relating to British Airways Halidays Limited, with the
remainder relating to the Company.

b Pension costs charged to the consolidated income statement

Pension costs charged to operating profit before exceptional items:

f. million 2019 2018
Defined benefit plans current service cost s 48
Past sarvice credit (BA Helidays Limited) (6) -
Defined contribution plans 163 136
Pension costs recorded as employee costs 162 184

Pension costs (charged)/credited as exceptional items:

£ million 2019 2018
Net past service gain resulting from closure of NAPS to future accrual! - 607
GMP = past service cost? - (83}
APS discretionary pension increase settlement agreement! {583) -
Net past service {charge)/gain In exceptional items (583) 578

'Please refer to hote 5 for aincunts recorded In exceptional items in 2019 and in 2018,
20n 26 October 2018 the High Court's judgment in the Lloyd's Bank case confirred that pansion schemes ara required to equalise for the affects of unequal GMPs accrued over the period sinca 17 May

1990. Tha astimated cost of equalising GMPs s £83 mifion. In d ining the cost of equalising for GMPs, the Group has assumead that the Trustees will adopt Method €2 which was identified in the
Uoyds judgment as the “minimum interference”

Pension costs credited/(charged) as finance costs:

£ milllon 2019 2008
Interest income on scheme assets 681 645
Interest expense on scherne liabifities (624) (608}
Interest expense on asset celling (34) (7]
Net financing credit relating to pensiens 23 24
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30 Employee benefits continued

< Remeasurements recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income

£ million 2019 2018
Return on plan assets exciuding interest income gains/{losses) 1,662 {1160)
Remeasurement of plan liabilities from changes in financial assumptions (losses)/gains (2,969) 881
Remeasurement of sxperience (losses)/gains (168) 262
Remeasurement of the APS and NAPS asset ceiling (note 30f) 677 (713}
Exchange differences gains/(losses) I {10
Pension remeasurements (787) 740)
d Fair value of scheme assets

A reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of the fair value of scheme assets is sat out below:

£ million 2019 2018
As at 1 january 24,843 25783
Intarest income 681 545
Return on plan assets excluding interest income 1,662 (1160)
Emplayer contributions’ 7154 631
Employee contributions 5 3
Benefits paid (1,115) (L183)
Exchange differences {12) 4
Fair value of schema assets 26,818 24843

iinciudes employer contributions to APS of £4 million (2014: £98 million) and to NAPS of €718 million (2018: £516 miliion), of which deficlt funding payments reprasanted Enil miliion for APS (2018: €35
mlllion) and £701 milllon for NAPS {2018; £450 million),

For both APS and NAPS, the Trustee has ultimate responsibility for decision making on investment matters, including the asset-liability matching
strategy. The latter is a form of investing designed to match the movement in pension plan assets with the movement in projected benefit obligations
over time. The Investment Committee adopts an apnual business plan which sets out investment objectives and work required to achieve these
objectives. The Investment Committee also deals with the monitoring of performance and activities, including work on developing the strategic
benchmark te improve the tisk return profile of the scheme where possible, as well as having a trigger-based dynamic governance process to be able to
take advantage of opportunities as they arise. The Investment Committee reviews the existing investment restrictions, performance benchmarks and
targets, as well as continuing to develop the de-risking and liability hedging portfolio.

Both schemes use derivative instruments for investment purposes and to manage exposures to financial risks, such as interest rate, foreigh exchange

and liquidity risks arising in the normal course of business. Expostire to interast-rate risk is managed through the use of Inflation-Linked Swap contracts,
Foreign exchange forward contracts are entered into to mitigate the risk of currency fluctuations.
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30 Employee benefits continued

d Fair value of schema assets continued

Total scheme assets as at 31 December comprise:

£ millicn 2019 2018
Return seeking investments — aquities
UK 1,955 1564
Qwersaas 4,041 4142
5,996 5706
Return seeking investments - other
Private equity 876 838
Property 1,807 1726
Alternative investments 916 1065
3,599 3629
Liability matching investments
UK Fixed bonds 5,380 4,398
Overseas Fixed bonds 79 &3
UK Index-Linked bonds 5,305 4518
Ovaerseas Index-Linked bonds 101 91
10,865 8070
Other
Cash and cash equivalents 583 377
Derivatives (291) 51
Insurance contract 1,413 L4587
Longevity swap 3,849 3889
Other 744 624
26,818 24843

Al equities and bonds have quoted prices in active markets

For APS and NAPS, the composition of the scheme assets is.

As at 31 Dacambar 2019 As at 31 Decernber 2018
£ million APS NAPS APS NAPS
Return seeking investments 294 9,180 632 8531
Liability matching investments 1,606 5,166 1384 7613

1,900 18,346 2016 16,144
Insurance contracts and related longevity swaps 5299 - 5362 -
Other 276 636 158 821
Fair value of scheme assets 7,475 18,982 2536 16965

The strategic benchmark for asset allocations differentiate between ‘return seeking assets' and 'liability matching assets’ depending on the maturity of
each scheme. At 31 Decembar 2019 the benchmark for NAPS was 46.0 per cent (2018: 49.0 per cent) in return seeking assets and 54.0 per cent (2018:
51.0 per cent) in liability matching investments. Bandwidths are set araund these strategic benchmarks that allow for tactical asset allocation decisions,
providing parameters for the Investment Committee and their investment managers to work within. APS no longer has a "strategic benchmark” as
instead, APS now runs off fts liquidation portfolio to a liability matching portfolio of bonds and cash. The actual asset allocation for APS at 31
December 2019 was 3.7 per cent (2018: 8.2 per cent) in return seeking assets and $6.3 per cent (2018: 91.8 per cent) in liability matching investments.

APS has an insurance contract with Rothesay Life which covers 24 per cent (2018: 24 per cent) of the pensioner liabilities for an agreed list of
members. The insurance contract is based on future increases to pensions in line with inflation and will match future obligations on that basis for that
part of the scheme. The insurance contract can only be used to pay or fund employee benefits under the scheme. With effect from June 2010 the
Trustee of APS also secured 2 longevity swap contract with Rothesay Life, which covers 20 per cent (2018: 20 per cent) of the pensioner liabilities for
the same members covered by the insurance contract above, The value of the contract is based on the difference between the value of the payments
expected to be received under this contract and the premiums (including fees) payable by the scheme under the contract. The fees are linked to
LIBOR, and an assumed future ({BOR rate has been derived based on swap prices as at 31 Dacember 2019,

During 2018 the Trustee of APS secured a buy-irn contract with Legal & General. The buy-in contract covers all members in receipt of pension from
APS at 31 March 2018, excluding dependent children receiving a pension at that date and members in receipt of equivalent pension {EPB) only benefits,
who are alive on 1 October 2018, Benefits coming into payment for retiremnaents after 31 March 2018 are not covered, The contract covers benefits
payabie from 1 October 2018 onwards.
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30 Employee benefits continued
d Fair value of scheme assets continued

The policy covers approximately 60 per cent of all benefits APS expects to pay out in future. Along with existing insurance products {the asset swap
and longevity swaps with Rothesay Life, APS is now 90 per cent protected against all longevity risk and fully protected in relation to all pensions that
were already being paid as at 31 March 2018, It is also more than 90 per cent praotected against interest rates and inflation (on a Retail Price Index (RPH
basis).

e Present value of scheme liabilities

A reconciliation of the apening and closing balances of the present value of the defined benefit obligations is set out below;

£ million 2019 2018
As at 1)anuary 22,846 25,065
Current service cost 5 48
Past service credit (8) (687)
Past service cost 583 -
Interest expense 624 609
Remeasurements ~ financial assumptions 2,969 (881}
Remeasurermnent of experience losses/(gains) 168 (262)
Benefits paid {1.115) (L183)
Employee caniributions 5 13
Exchange differences (23) 24
As at 3t December 26,056 22846

The defined benefit abligation comprises £24 mitlion (2018: £21 r;ilTun) arising from unfunded plans and £26,032 millicn {2018: £22,825 millian) from plans that are wholly or partly funded.

f Effect of the asset ceiling

A reconciliation of the effect of the asset ceiling representing the 1AS 19 irrecoverable surplus in APS and NAPS is set out below:

£ million 2019 2018
As at 1 January 1,229 504
Interest expense 34 i2
Remeasuremants' {677) 713
As at 31 December 586 1229
"The decrease in remeasurements follows the reduction in the APS surplus as 3 result of the discretionary pension i | t, and a decreasa in the NAPS surplus pnnapally due to

the reduction in tha discount rate. In 2018 tha increase in remeasurements is mainly due to the closure of NAPS to Future accrual in 2018 which resulted in an IAS 19 accounting surplus in the scheme,
which would be available to the Company as a refund upon wind up of tha scheme, This refund is restricted due to withholding taxes that would be payable by the Trustae,

g Actuarial assumptions
The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:
2019 2008

Per cant per annum Other Other

P APS NAPS schemnes APS NAPS schemes
Discount ratef 1.85 2,05 20-3.20 265 285 2544
Rate of increase in pensionable pay? 290 N/A 25 220 N/A 25-37
Rate of increase of pensions in payment? 290 215 2,0-35 210 205 20-35
RP] rate of inRation 290 N/A 25-28 320 25 25-32
CPl rate of infiation N/A 245 24-3.0 210 208 21-30
"The discount rate is detarmined by reference to the yield on high quality corporate bonds of currency and term consistent with the scheme labilities.
TRate of increase in pensionable pay is assumed to be In line with long term matkat inflation axp ions. Tha RP! rate ptions for APS, from April 2021 are based on the difference batwesn the

yields on indexinked and fixed-interest long-term government bonds. Historically market expectations far RP] could be derived by comparing the prices of UK government fixed-interest and index-
linked gilts, with CP{ assessed by considering the Bank of England's inflation target and comparison of the construction of the two inflation indices, As descriped in note 2(b), in Seprember 2019
con—asponden:a was published ralating to potanual futura changes to RPl auxhnlng a clear preferance by the UK Statistics Autharity (LIKSA) for alignment of RP] with CPIH {a varlant of CP1). To make

changes prior to 2030, however the UKSA requires the consent of the Ch lor, Following this ar market-implied break-even RP inflation forward rates ajter 2030 have reduced in
matket. In g RPl and CPl fram investment markaet data, allowanca has lhnre[um been made for a reduction in the gap between RPIl and CPl from 2030.
Slt has baen assumed that tha rate of increase of penslons In payment will b in line with CPl for NAPS and frarn Aprit 2021 with RP} for APS with interim catch up ir 1ending ds RPI b

2019 and 2021. As at 31 December 2018 pension increases for both schemes wers based on CPL.

For US PRMB the rate of increase in healthcare costs is based on medical trend rates of 6.50 per cent grading down to 5.0 per cent over five years
(2018: 6.25 per cent to 5.0 per cent over five years).

In the UK, mortality rates are calculated using the standard SAPS mortaiity tables produced by the CMI for APS and NAPS. The standard mortality

tables were selected based on the actual recent mortality experience of members and were adjusted to allow for future mortality changes. The current
longevities underlying the values of the scheme liabilities were as follows:
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30 Employee benefits continued

g Actuarial assumptions continued

UK
Mortality assumptions 2019 2018
Life expectancy at age 60 for a:
- male currently aged 60 28.2 285
- male currently aged 40 29.9 297
- female currently aged 60 29.0 303
- fernale currently aged 40 316 329

As at 31 December 2019, the weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 12 years for APS (2018: 11 years) and 19 years for NAPS
(2018: 19 years). In the US, mortality rates were based on the RP-2018 mortality tables.

h Sensitivity analysis

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, would have
affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown,

Increase in net pension lability/ (decrease in net

pansion assat}

£ million APS NAPS  Other schemes
Discount rate {decrease of 10 basis points) {20} {340) 12
Future salary growth (increase of 10 basis points} ’ n/a n/a 5
Future pension growth (increase of 10 basis points) (20) {300) 1
Future mortality rate = (one year increase in life expectancy) (20) (620) 2

Although the analysis does not take into account the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an approximation of the
sensitivity of the assumptions shown, The effect on the APS service cost of making the changes in assumptions described above is minimal.

i Funding

Pension contributions for NAPS were determined by actuarial valuations made as at 31 March 2018 using assumptions and methodologies agreed
between the Company and Trustee of each scheme. At the date af the actuarial valuation, the actuarial deficit of NAPS amounted to £2,399 million, in
order to address the deficitin the scheme, BA has committed to the following undiscounted deficit payments:

£ miltion NAPS
within twelve manths 413
Two to five years 1,012
Total expected deficit payments for NAPS 1,425

The Group has determined that the minimum funding requirements set out above for NAPS will not be restricted. The present value of the
contributions payable is expected to be available as a refund after they are paid into the scheme, subject to withholding taxes that would be payable by
the Trustee. As such, no additional liability is required,

Deficit payments in respect of local arrangements outside the UK have been determined in accordance with local practice.

In total, the Group expects to pay E416 million in employer contributions and deficit payments to the two significant post-retirement benefit plans in
2020, This is made up of £413 million of deficit payments for NAPS as agreed at the latest triennial valuation in October 2018 and angoing employer
contributions of £3 million for APS. British Airways has agreed that iF, in the period up to September 2022, it makes dividend payments to IAG of
higher than 50 per cant of pre-exceptional profit after tax it will either accelerate contributions to the scheme or provide a guarantee, in respect of the
amount by which the dividend exceeds 50 per cent of pre-exceptional profit.
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31 Contingent liabilities and guarantees
a Contingent Liabilities
Details of contingent liabilities are set out below.

Contingent liabilities associated with income and deferred taxes are now presented in Note 10. For information pertaining to previously reported
contingent liabllities associated the Alrways Pension Scheme, refer to Note 30,

Thaft of customer data at British Airways

On & September 2018 British Airways announced the theft of certain of its customers’ personal data. Following an investigation into the theft, British
Airways announced on 25 October 2018 that Further personal data had potentially been compromised, On 4 July 2019, British Airways received a
Natice of Intent from the Information Commissianer's Office (ICO} in which it informed the airline of its intention to fine it approximately £183 million
under the UK Data Protection Act.

British Airways made extensive rapresentations to the ICO regarding the proposed fine and has complied with various further information requests. As
part of its procedures, the ICO will seek the views of other EU data protection authorities. The ICO Initially had six months from issuing the Notice of
Intent to British Airways within which it could issue a penalty notice, which has been extended through to 18 May 2020, to allow the ICO to fully
consider the representations and information provided by British Airways. IF 2 penalty notice is issued, British Airways has 28 days within which to lodge
an appeal with the First-tier Tribunal in the General Regulatory Chamber. A decision by the First-tier Tribunal may, with permission, be appealed to the
Upper Tribunal. Any appeal of the Upper Tribunal decision would be to the Court of Appeal. It is British Airways' intention to vigorously defend itself in
this matter, including using all available appeal routes shouid they be required.

At 31 December 2019, and through to the date of these financial statements, no final penalty notice has been received from the ICO, although it
reserves the right to issue such a notice on completion of its investigation. It has not bean proven that British Alrways faited to comply with its
abligations under GDPR and the UK Data Protection Act. Should any final penalty notice be issued, and having regard to the representations made by
the Company, the Directors consider that it should be for a considerably lower amount than the initial Notice of Intent.

Calgo

The European Commission issued a decision in which it found that British Airways, and 10 other aitline groups, had engaged in cartel activity in the air
cargo sector (Qriginal Decision). British Airways recorded the financial effect of the resultant fine in the 2007 financial statements. Following an appeal
to the General Court (GC), the decision was subsequently partially annulled against British Airways (and annufled in full against the other appealing
airlines) (General Court jJudgment). British Airways appealed the partial annulment to the Court of Justice of the Eurapean Union, but that appeal was
rejected. in parailel, the European Commission chose not to appeal the General Court judgment, and instead adopted a new decision in March 2017
{New Decision). British Airways repaid the fine previcusly refunded and appealad the New Decision (as have other carriars), British Airways is axpacting
a decision on its appeal during 2020,

A large number of claimants brought proceedings in the English courts to recover damages from British Airways which, relying on the findings in the
Commission decisions, they claimed arose from the alleged carte! activity. British Airways joined the other airlines alleged to have participated in cartel
activity to those proceedings. These claims were fully concluded in 2019,

British Airways is party to litigation in other jurisdictions together with a number of other airlines. The Directors' estimate of the outcome of these
claims is included in the legal claims provisions in note 24,

b Guarantees

The Group has guarantees and indemnities entered into as part of the normai course of business, which at 31 December 2019 are not expected to
result in material losses for the Group.

Audit exemptions

The Company has issued guarantees in relation to statutory audit exemptions that certain subsidiary companies are taking. See note 34 in respect of
audit exemptions,
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32 Related party transactions

The Group and Company had transactions in the ordinary course of business during the year ended 31 December 2019 with related parties.

Group Company
£ million 2015 2018 2019 2018
Parent®:
Sales to/purchases on behalf of IAG 53 162 53 162
Purchases from lAG 43 43 43 43
Amounts owed by IAG 179 152 179 152
Amounts owed to {AG 44 I 44 Hi
Subsidiary undertakings of the parent:
Sales to subsidiary undertakings of the parent 233 143 233 143
Purchases on behalf of subsidiary undertakings of the parant 397 1244 397 171
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings of the parent 220 245 220 245
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings of the parent 153 40 153 40
Associates®:
Sales to associates 627 550 627 550
Purchases from associates 454 422 450 420
Amounts owed by assoclates 40 232 38 232
Amounts owed to associatas 927 877 927 877
Subsidiaries®:
Sales ta subsidiaries - - 449 398
Purchases from subsidiaries - - 148 165
Amounts owed by subsidiaries - - 65 25
Amounts owed to subsidiaries - - 423 382

' The transactions between the Group and IAG principally comprise of a management fee in respect of services provided by IAG and recharges between the entitias in raspect of invoices settled on

behalf of the other party, Transactions with IAG are carried out on an arm's length basis.

# Salas and purchases with associates are made at normal market prices and cutstanding balances are unsecured and interest free. Cash settlement is expected within the standard settfemant terms,
* Qutstanding trading balances are placed on inter-company accounts with ne specified credit period. Long-term loans owed to and from the Company by subsidiary undertakings bear market rates of

interest.

In addition, payments made by the Company on behalf of the Group's retirement benefit plans amounted to £8 million in relation to the Pension

Protection Fund levy (2018: £9 million).

Neither the Group nor the Company have benefited from any guarantees for any related party receivables or payables, During the year ended 31

December 2019 the Group has not made any provision for expected credit losses relating to amounts owed by related parties (2018: £nil).

Directors' and officers’ loans and transactions

There were no loans or credit transactions with Directors or officers of the Company at 31 December 2019 or that arose during the year that need to

be disclosed in accordance with the requirements of sections 412 and 413 to the Companies Act 2006.
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33 Post balance sheet event
No significant events have taken place post the balance sheet date that require disclosing in this report.
34 Subsidiary audit exemption

The fallowing companies are exempt from the requirements relating to the audit of Individual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019 by virtue
of Section 479A of the Companies Act 2006: British Airways Leasing Limited (04150220}, BA and AA Holdings Limited (03840072}, British Airways
777 Leasing Limited (04954270}, BritAir Holdings Limited (03537574), British Alrways (BA) Limited (07990613}, British Alrways Assaciated Companies
Limited (00590083), BA European Limited (06346489), BA Healthcare Trust Limited (09615950), British Airways Avionic Engineering Limited
(02775232), British Airways Interior Engineering Limited {03109109), British Alrways Maintenance Cardiff Limited (02204178), Gatwick Ground
Services Limited (10390742), Teleflight Limited (03918190) and BA Excepted Group Life Scheme Limited (11283644),

35 Uitimate parent undertaking

The Company's immediate and ultimate parent undertaking as at 31 December 2019 was international Consolidated Airfines Group S.A. {(IAG), which is
incorporated in Spain.

The Company is included within the consolidated financial statements of IAG which are publicly available on the website wwwiagshares.com,
36 Impact of new International Financial Reporting Standards
a Standards adopted in the year ended 31 December 2019

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ was adopted by the Group on 1january 2019, The new standard eliminates the dlassification of leases as either operating leases or finance
leases and introduces a single lessee accounting model.

The Group used the modified retrospective transition approach on application of IFRS 16. Lease liabilities were determined based on the value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted by the appropriate incramental borrowing rates and translated at the rates of exchange at the date of transition
{1 Jenuary 2019), Right of use (ROLI) assets in respect of aircraft were measured as if IFRS 16 had been applied at the commencement date of each
lease using the appropriate incremental borrowing rates at the date of transition and rates of exchange at the commencement of each lease and
depreciated to 1 January 2019, Other ROU assets were measured based on the related lease liability as at the date of transition, adjusted for prepaid or
accrued lease payments. Deferred gains on sale and operating leasebacks, previously recognised in current and non-current Yiabilities, were reclassified
to the related ROU asset. IFRS 16 does not permit comparative information to be restated if the modified retrospective transition approach is used.
The details of the changes in accounting policy are disclosed below:

1. Interest-bearing borrowings and non-current assets increased on implementation of the standard as obligations to make future payments under
leases previously classified as operating leases were recognised on the balance sheet, along with the related ROU asset. The Group has used the
practical expedients in respect of leases of less than 12 months duration and leases for low value items and excluded them from the scope of IFRS
16, Rental payments associated with these leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-fine basis over the life of the lease, No
adjustment has been made to the recognition and measurement of assets previously recognised as ‘finance leases' under IAS 17 which were
transferred to ROU assets on adoption of IFRS 16, with the related borrowings transferred to lease fiabifities.

2. Expenditure on operations has decreased and finance costs have increased, as operating lease costs have been replaced by depreciation and lease
interest expense.

3. The adoption of IFRS 16 required the Group to make a number of judgements, estimates and assumptions. These included:

e The estimated lesse term - The term of each lease was based on the original lease term unless management was 'reasonably certain’ to exercise
options to extend the lease. Further information used to determine the approptiate lease term included fieet plans which underpin approved
business plans, and historic experience regarding extension options.

. The discount rate used to determine the lease fability - The rates used on transition to discount future lease payments were the Group's
incramental borrowing rates. These rates have been calculated, reflecting the underlying fease terms and based con observable inputs. The risk-free
rate component was based on LJBCR rates available in the same currency and over the same term as the lease and was adjusted for credit risk. For
future aircraft lease obligations, the Group wili use the interest rate implicit in the lease.

«  Terminal arrangements - The Group has reviewed its arrangements at airport terminals to determine whether any agreements previously
considered to be sarvice agreementts should be classified as leases. No additional leases have been identified.
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36 Impact of new Internatianal Financial Reporting Standards continued

«  Resroration obfigations - The Group has certain obligations assaciated with the maintenance condition of its aircraft on redelivery to the lessor,
such as the requirement to complete a final airframe check, repaint the aircraft and reconfigure the cabin, Uinder IAS 17 these costs were
recognised as 2 maintenance expense over the lease term. On adopticn of IFRS 16, they were recognised as part of the ROU asset on transition,
resulting in an increase in restoration and handback provisions. Judgerent has been used to identify the appropriate obligations and estimation has
been used (based on observable data) to measure them. Other maintenance obligations associated with these assets, comprising obligations that
arise as the aircraft is utilised, such as engine overhauls and periodic airframe checks, are recognised as a maintenance expense over the lease term.

The above adjustments resulted in a post-tax charge to equity of £124 million.

Foreign currency balances on lease obligations, which are predominantly denominated in US Dollars, are remeasured at each balance sheet date, with
the ROU asset recognised at the historic exchange rate. The Group manages foreign exchange risk arising on these (IS Dollar obligations as part of its
risk management strategy as described further in note 25,

The Group recognised the following assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet at 1 January 2019 on adoption of IFRS 16;

Consolidated balance sheet (extract as at 1 January 2019)

IFRS16
£ million As reported adjustments Restated
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Fleet FA LN 1,194 8,305
Property and equipment 1,023 606 1629
Intangibles 1,067 - 1.067
Other non-cufrent assets 3,193 8 3,201
12,394 1,808 14,202
Current assets
Other current assets 4287 (23) 4,264
4,287 (23} 4,264
Total assets 16,681 1,785 18,466
Total equity 5,667 {124) 5,543
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing long-term borrowings 3953 1,558 5511
Deferred tax liability 335 (26) 309
Provisions 380 47 427
Other non-current liabilities 508 2 506
5176 1,577 6,753
Currant lfabilities
Current portion of interest bearing long-term borrowings 473 333 BOG
Other current fiabilities 5365 - 5,365
5,838 333 6,171
Totzl liabilities 1,014 1,910 12,924
Totzl equity and liabilities 16,681 1,786 18,467
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36 Impact of new International Financial Reporting Standards continued

Consolidated balance sheet (extract as at 1 fanuary 2019) continued

The following table reconciles the amount disclosed as operating lease commitments 2t 31 December 2018 disclosed in the Group's 2018 consolidated
financlal statements to the amount recognised on the balance sheet in respect of Borrowings on right of use assets on adoption of IFRS 16.

£ million 2019
Operating fease commitments at 31 December 2018 3339
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019 S5.1%
Operating lease commitments discounted using the weighted average incremental borrawing rete 1722
Less: Leases considered to be short-term (less than 12 months duration) (20)
Leases for assets considered to be substitutable 9)
Future variable jease payments based on index or rate 4)
Prepayments {10)
Add: Rentals associated with extension options reasonably certain to be exercised &
Service contracts 206
Lease liabllities on right of use assets recognised at 1 January 2019 1,891
Add: Reclassification from Rnance lease obligations 4108
Leasae liabilities at 1 January 2019 5,995

b Change in accounting policy

In September 2019, the IFRS Interpretations Committee clarified that under IFRS 15 compensation payments for flight delays and canceliations form
compensation for passenger losses and accordingly shouid be recognised as variable compensation and deducted from revenue, This clarification had
led the Group to change its accounting palicy, which previously classified this compensation as an operating expense. Accordingly, the Group has
restated the comparative period for 2018 to reflect £56 mitlion of compensation costs as a deduction from Passenger revenue and a corresponding
reduction within Handling, catering and other operating costs. The following table summarises the impact of the change in accounting policy on the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2018:

Consolidated income statement (extract for the year ended 31 December 2018)

& million Previously reported Adjustment Restated
Cost

Passenger revenue 1,620 {56} 1,564
Cargo revenue 769 - 769
Cther revenue 6§32 - 632
Total revenue 13,021 [56) 12,965
Handling, catering and other operating costs 1,790 =8) 1,734
Other expenditure on operations 9,379 - 9279
Total expenditure on operations 11,059 {56) 11,013
Operating profit bafore axceptional 1,852 - 1,952
Excaptional itams 394 - 394
Oparating profit after excaptional 2,346 - 2,346
Non-operating expenses 110 - 110
Profit before tax 2,456 - 2,456
Tax (365} - (365)
Profit after tax 2,091 - 2,091

There was no impact an profit after tax in the consolidated income statement for 2018, the consolidated balance sheet as at 1 January 2018 or 31
December 2018 or the consolidated statement of changes in equity as at 1anuary 2018 or 31 December 2018,



Subsidiary undertakings at 31 December 2019

The holdings disclosed concern ordinary shares and are wholly owned unless otherwise stated.

Country of

incorporation and

principal
Name of company operations Principal activities  Registered address
BA and AA Holdings Limited England Holding company Woaterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UIB7 DGB
BA Call Centre India Private Limited (callBA) India Call centre F-42, East of Kailash, New Delhi, 110065
BA Cityftyer Limited England Airine Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
BA European Limited England Holding company Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmandsworth, LIB7 OGB
BA Healthcare Trust Limited England Trustee company Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
BA Number One Limited England Holding company Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 OGB
BA Number Two Limited! Jersey Holding company IFC 5, 5t Helier, Jersey, JE11ST
Bealine plc England Holding company ~ Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, LIB7 0GB
BritAir Holdings Limited England Holding company Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
British Airways {(BA) Limited! Engfand Farmer airlina Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
British Airways 777 Leasing Limited England Aircraft leasing Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondswerth, LIB7 0GB
British Airways Associated Companies Limited England Holding company  Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
British Alrways Avionic Engineering Limited England Engineering Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UIB7 0GB
British Airways Capital Limited Jersey Aircraft financing Queensway House, Hilgrove Street, St Helier, JET 1£S
British Airways Ejets Leasing Limited! Bermuda Aircraft teasing Canon's Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton, HM 12
British Airways Holdings BV Netherlands Holding company Strawinskylaan 3105, Atrium 1077ZX Amsterdam
British Airways MHolidays Limited England Tour operator Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UR7 0GB
British Airways Interior Engineering Limited England Engineering Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
British Airways Leasing Limited England Aircraft leasing Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
British Airways Maintenance Cardiff Limited England Engineering Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, LIB7 0GB
British Airways Pension Trustees (No 2) Limited England Trustee company Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 OGB
.?.:lutl:th Alrways Plc Employee Share Ownership Jersey Trust Queensway House, Hilgrove Street, St Helier, JE1 1ES
British Mediterranean Alrways Limited!2 England Former airline Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmoendsworth, UB7 0GB
British Midland Airways Limited' England Former airline Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, LIB7 0GB
British Midland Limitad England Holding company Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 OGB
Diamond Insurance Company Limited! Isle of Man insurance 15t Floor, Rose House, 51-59 Circular Road, Douglas
Flyline Tele Sales & Services GmbH Garmany Call centre Hermann Koehl-Strasse 3, 28199 Bremen
Gatwick Ground Services Limited England Ground services Watersida, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
Overseas Ajr Travel Limited! England Transport Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
Speedbird Insurance Company Limited Bermuda Insurance Canon's Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton, HM 12
Teleflight Limited England Call centre Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmendsworth, LIB7 0GB
BA Excepted Group Life Scheme Limited England Trustee company Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
BA Holdco Limited England Holding company Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, LIB7 0GB

Not directly owned by British Airways Plc
299.0% holding
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Associated undertakings at 31 December 2019

The holdings disciosed concern ordinary shares unless otherwise stated.
Country of
incorporation

Percentage and principal

Name of company ownership aperations Principal activities Reg@ered address

1B Opco Holding S.L.! 1355 Spain Airline operations Calle Velazquez 130, 28006 Madrid
. ) . - . Building 552, Shoreham Road East,

Dunwaoody Airline Services Limited 40,00 England Airline operations Heathrow Airport, TW6 3UA

Avios Group (AGL) Limited 86.26 England Airfine marketing Astral Towers, Betts Way, London

Road, Crawley, West Sussex, RH10
Xy

INat directly owned by British Airways Plc

Equity investments at 31 December 2019

The holdings disclosed concern ordinary shares unless otherwise stated.

Country of
incorporation
Percentage and principal
MName of company ownership operations Principle activities Registered address
Comair Limited' 11,49 South Africa Airline operations 1 Marignane Dirve, Bonaero Park, 1619
. - - El Caserlo, Iberla Zona Industrial n* 2
Isnrrnanonal Consolidated Airlines Group 0.002 Spain Airline operations (La Mufioza), Camino de La Mufioza,
- s/n, 28042 Madrid,
The Alrline Group Limited 16.68 England Air traffic control Brettenham House South, Sth Floer,

holding company

Lancaster Place, London, WC2N 7EN

Not directly owned by British Airways Plc
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Operating and financial statistics

Not forming part of the audited financial statements

Yaar ended 31 Dacember

Tatal Group continuing aperatlons 2019 2018 restated’ 20172

Traffic and capacity

Revenue passenger km (RPK) m 155,580 152177 146,561

Available seat km (ASK) m 186,170 184547 179077
Passengar load factor % 836 825 818

Carga tonne km {CTK) m 421 4,395 4500 i
Passengers carried '000 47,710 46,952 45163 i
Tonnas of cargo carried ‘000 480 505 513 )
Oparations

Avarage manpower equivalent (MPE) 38,230 38202 35,347

ASKs per MPE 4,870 4831 4,670 .
Alreraft in service at year end 305 294 293 !
Ailreraft utilisation taverags hours per aircraft per day)} 10.81 1052 lo88 I
Punctuality - within 15 minutes % 76 76 79 i
Regularity % 98.4 990 986 :
Financial

Passenger revenue par RPK' p 7.65 760 7.51 i
Passenger revenue per Ask' P 6.39 827 &4 \
Carga revenue per CTK P 16.88 1750 1640 :
Average fual price (US cents/US gallon) 207.65 22472 17095 :
Operating margin' % 10.1% nry 137% :
Operating margin before exceptional items' % 14.5% I51% 144% 1‘
Eamings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and rentals (EBITDAR) m 3,030 2971 24743 |
Net debt/total capital ratio % 39.1 252 210

Tolal raffic revenua per ASK' P 7.4 70 a6

Total expenditure befare exceptional items on operations per ASK' p an 597 586

Total expenditure bafore exceptional items on aperations excluding fuel per ASK' p 4,37 438 445

! Please rafar to note 36 for further details on transition adjustments relating to the revenue restatement
*Tha 2017 operating and financial statistics have not been restated for the revenue restatement

m = millions
Operating statistics do not include those of associate undertakings and franchisees.
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Fleet table

Number in service with Group companies at 31 December 2019

Owned Asset Right of Off Total Total Changes since Future Options
financed Use Balance December December December 2018  deliveries  (Note 3)
sheet 2019 2018 (Note 2)
AIRLINE OPERATIONS (NOTE 1)
Alrbus A318 1 1 !
Airbus A319 17 22 39 42 3
Airbus A320 23 54 7 74 3 2 0
Alrbus A321 14 12 t 7 1 8 5
Airbus A330 1 1 1
Airbus A350 3 3 3 14 36
Airbus A380 2 10 12 iz
Boeing 747-400 32 32 35 3
Boeing 777-200 36 10 46 46
Boeing 777-300 2 10 12 174 4
Boeing 777-800 13 24
Boeing 787-8 12 12 2
Boeing 787-9 1 17 18 8
Boeing 787-10 12
SAAB 2000 § t
Embraer E170 6 6 &
Embraer E190 2 g 18 16 2
TOTAL OPERATIONS 143 3 156 3 305 294 1 65 70

Notes:
1. Includes aircraft aperated by British Alrways Plc and BA Cityflyer Limited,

2. One Boeing 747-400 was stood down and the SAAB 2000 is a wet lease by BA CityFlyer Limited.

3. Decrease due to expiry of options on Boeing 787-9.
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Airline operaticns

Auvailable seat kilometres (ASK)
Cargo revenue per CTK
Cargo tonne kilometres (CTK)

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations
EBITDAR
Exceptional items

Load factor

Manpower equivalent
Merger

Net debt

Net debt/total capital ratio

nm
n/a

Operating margin
Owerell load factor
Passenger load factor

EETC

Punctuality
Ready-to-go

Regularity

Revenue passenger kilametres (RPK)
Passenger revenue per ASK

Passenger revenue per RPK

Total capital

Total group revenue par ASK

Total operating expenditure excluding fuel per
ASK

Total operating expenditure per ASK

Total traffic revenue per ASK

This includes British Airways Pic, BA Cityflyer Limited, Flyline Tele Sales & Services GmbH,
OpenSkies SASU (up until 31 December 2017) and British Midland Airways Limited (aircraft
feasing).

The number of seats available for sale multiplied by the distance flown.

Cargo revenue divided by CTIKC
The number of revenue tonnes of cargo (freight and mail) carried multiplied by the distance flown,

The segments of the business that are considered to be normal, and expected to operate in the
foreseeable future.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity or Group that has been disposed of or is
classified as heid for sale.

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and aircraft rentals.

Those items that in management's view need to be separately disclosed by virtue of their size or
incidence.

The percentage relationship of revenue load carried to capacity available.

Number of employees adjusted for part-time woarkers, avertime and contractars,

‘The combining of two or more entities through a purchase acquisition.

Current and long-term interest bearing borrowings less other current interest-bearing deposits
and cash and cash equivalents, The Definition of Net Debt remains unchanged from 2018, but

with the adoption of IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019, long term borrowings have significantly
increased due to the recognition of the Right of use asset liabilities,

Net debt as a ratio of total capital,

Not meaningful.
Not applicable.

Operating profit/{loss) as 2 percentage of total revenue.
RTK expressed as a percentage of ATK
RPK expressed as a percentage of ASK,

This is the enhanced equipment trust certificate borrowing facility obtained in 2013 and secured
on related aircraft upon drawdown.

The industry's standard, measured as the percentage of flights departing within 15 minutes of
schedule.

The percentage of fiights that have the aircraft doar being clased five minutes prior to the
advertised scheduled departure time.

The percentage of flights completed to flights scheduled, excluding flights cancelled for
commercial reasons,
The number of revenue passengers carried multiplied by the distance flown.

Passenger revenue divided by ASK
Passenger revenue divided by RPK.

Total equity plus net debt.
Total Group revenue divided by ASK.
Total operating expenditure excluding fuel divided by ASK

Total operating expenditure divided by ASK,
Revenue from total traffic divided by ASK
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